

N.V. Bank Nederlandse Gemeenten

(Incorporated in the Netherlands with limited liability and having its statutory domicile in The Hague)

Euro 80,000,000,000

Debt issuance programme

N.V. Bank Nederlandse Gemeenten (the "**Issuer**" or "**BNG**") may from time to time offer debt instruments (the "**Notes**") pursuant to a programme of issuance established on 7 December 1993 (as amended) (the "**Programme**"). The sum of the aggregate principal amount of Notes outstanding at any time under the Programme will not exceed Euro 80,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies). The Programme amount may be increased from time to time subject to the preparation of a supplemental Base Prospectus which shall be subject to the prior approval of the Netherlands Authority for the Financial Markets (*Stichting Autoriteit Financiële Markten*) (the "**AFM**").

The Programme has been rated AAA by Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, a division of the McGraw-Hill Companies Inc., AAA by Fitch Ratings Limited and Aaa by Moody's Investors Service Limited. Tranches of Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated. Where a tranche of Notes is rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the ratings assigned to the Programme. A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

This base prospectus (the "Base Prospectus") has been approved by the AFM, which is the Netherlands competent authority for the purpose of Directive 2003/71/EC (the "Prospectus Directive") and relevant implementing measures in the Netherlands, as a base prospectus issued in compliance with the Prospectus Directive, Commission Regulation EC No. 809/2004 (the "Prospectus Regulation") and relevant implementing measures in the Netherlands for the purpose of giving information with regard to the issue of Notes under the Programme during the period of twelve months after the date hereof. Application may be made for Notes issued under the Programme to be listed on Euronext Amsterdam by NYSE Euronext, the regulated market of Euronext Amsterdam N.V. ("Euronext Amsterdam").

The AFM has been requested by the Issuer to provide the Luxembourg *Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier* (the "CSSF") with a certificate of approval attesting that the Base Prospectus has been drawn up in accordance with the Prospectus Directive and the Prospectus Regulation so that the Notes issued under the Programme may be listed on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. Application may be made for Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

The AFM may be further requested by the Issuer to provide other competent authorities in the European Economic Area with a certificate of approval attesting that the Base Prospectus has been drawn up in accordance with the Prospectus Directive and the Prospectus Regulation so that application may be made for Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to trading on other regulated markets. The Programme also permits Notes to be issued on the basis that they will not be admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system or to be admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by such other or further listing authorities, stock exchanges (including the SIX Swiss Exchange) and/or quotation systems as may be agreed with the Issuer.

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act") or any U.S. state securities laws and the Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States, or to or for the account or benefit of U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S ("Regulation S") under the Securities Act), except pursuant to an exemption from, or a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act and applicable United States state securities laws, or pursuant to an effective registration statement. The Notes may be offered and sold

(a) in bearer form or registered form outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act and (b) in registered form within the United States to persons who are "qualified institutional buyers" ("QIBs") in reliance on Rule 144A ("Rule 144A") under the Securities Act. Prospective purchasers who are QIBs are hereby notified that sellers of the Notes may be relying on the exemption from the provisions of Section 5 of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A. For a description of these and certain further restrictions on offers, sales and transfers of Notes and distribution of this Base Prospectus, see "Plan of Distribution" and "Transfer Restrictions". The Notes in bearer form are subject to United States tax law requirements.

PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS SHOULD HAVE REGARD TO THE FACTORS DESCRIBED UNDER THE SECTION HEADED "RISK FACTORS" IN THIS BASE PROSPECTUS.

This Base Prospectus must be read and construed together with any amendments or supplements hereto and with any documents incorporated by reference herein (which can be found on the website of the Issuer, http://www.bng.nl/smartsite.shtml?id=51607), and in relation to any Tranche (as defined herein) of Notes, this Base Prospectus should be read and construed together with the relevant Final Terms.

Arranger

UBS Investment Bank

Principal Dealers

Bank Nederlandse GemeentenBarclays CapitalBNP PARIBASBofA Merrill LynchCitiCommerzbankCredit SuisseDeutsche Bank

Goldman Sachs International ING Commercial Banking
J.P. Morgan Mizuho International plc
Nomura Rabobank International
RBC Capital Markets The Royal Bank of Scotland
TD Securities UBS Investment Bank

The date of this Base Prospectus is 12 August 2010 and it replaces the Base Prospectus dated 29 July 2009.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SUMMARY OF THE BASE PROSPECTUS	4
RISK FACTORS	9
IMPORTANT NOTICES	19
ENFORCEMENT OF FOREIGN JUDGMENTS	22
FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS	23
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE	24
KEY FEATURES OF THE PROGRAMME	25
FORMS OF NOTES	32
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES	38
USE OF PROCEEDS	62
FORM OF FINAL TERMS	63
N.V. BANK NEDERLANDSE GEMEENTEN	81
OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW	96
EXTRACT OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION	126
TAXATION	130
CERTAIN ERISA AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS	138
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION	139
TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS	145
GENERAL INFORMATION	149

SUMMARY OF THE BASE PROSPECTUS

This summary must be read as an introduction to this Base Prospectus and any decision to invest in the Notes should be based on a consideration of the Base Prospectus as a whole, including any amendment and supplement thereto and the documents incorporated by reference. Following the implementation of the relevant provisions of the Prospectus Directive in each relevant Member State of the European Economic Area, civil liability attaches to the Issuer, being the person who has tabled the summary, and applied for its notification, but only if the summary is misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent when read together with the other parts of the Base Prospectus. Where a claim relating to the information contained in this Base Prospectus is brought before a court, the plaintiff investor might, under the national legislation of the relevant Member States, have to bear the costs of translating the Base Prospectus before the legal proceedings are initiated.

The Issuer

BNG is the fifth largest bank in the Netherlands based on total assets as at 31 December 2009. BNG is a specialised lender to local and regional authorities as well as to public-sector institutions such as utilities, housing, healthcare, welfare and educational institutions, and is the largest public-sector lender in the Netherlands and the principal bank for the Dutch public sector in terms of loans, advances and intergovernmental money transfers. Recently, BNG has also begun limited lending to public-private partnerships.

In addition to its financing activities, BNG offers advisory and consultancy services, such as assisting public authorities in the design of their treasury, portfolio and asset and liability management functions. BNG also offers investment funds, which are managed through a wholly-owned subsidiary, BNG Vermogensbeheer B.V. Investment in the funds are mainly marketed to municipalities with budgetary surpluses. Furthermore, BNG provides electronic fund transfer and payment services to its public sector customers.

As of and for the year ended 31 December 2009, BNG had total assets of €104.5 billion, total equity of €2.3 billion and net profit of €278 million.

BNG was incorporated in 1914 as a 'naamloze vennootschap' (a public company with limited liability) under the laws of the Netherlands and is a statutory limited company under Dutch law ('structuurvennootschap'). The duration of BNG is unlimited. It is registered in the Commercial Register of the Delft – The Hague Chamber of Commerce and Industry ('Kamer van Koophandel') under No. 27008387. BNG's ownership is restricted to the Dutch public sector and its shareholders are exclusively Dutch public authorities. The Dutch state's shareholding is 50%, and has been unchanged since 1921, with the remainder held by more than 95% of Dutch municipalities, 11 of the 12 Dutch provinces, and one water board. BNG is established in The Hague and has no branches. BNG's registered office is at Koninginnegracht 2, 2514 AA The Hague, the Netherlands. Its telephone number is +31 70 - 3750750.

The Issuer is authorised by the Dutch Central Bank ('De Nederlandsche Bank N.V.' or "**DNB**") to pursue the business of a bank in the Netherlands and is consequently supervised by DNB. In addition the Issuer is supervised by the Netherlands Authority for the Financial Markets ('Stichting Autoriteit Financiële Markten') for the purpose of market conduct supervision.

The executive board

The executive board of the Issuer consists of the president C. van Eykelenburg and the members J.J.A. Leenaars and J.C. Reichardt. The supervisory board of the Issuer currently consists of ten members, who are listed in the section "N.V. Bank Nederlandse Gemeenten".

Funding of the Issuer

The Issuer's need for funding generally varies between \in 13 billion to \in 15 billion equivalent per annum. In order to raise funds on the international capital markets the Issuer established this Programme of \in 80 billion as well as several other funding programmes allowing it to raise funds in various markets. The Issuer can raise funds under the above mentioned programmes as well as on a stand-alone basis. The notes issued under these programmes are mainly issued in Euros, US Dollars, Swiss Francs, Canadian Dollars and British Pounds.

Financial information relating to the Issuer

The Issuer's balance sheet and profit and loss account as of and for the year ended 31 December 2009 are set out in this Base Prospectus. The financial information included herein is compared with the financial information included in the balance sheet and profit and loss account both as of 31 December 2008. The financial statements of the Issuer set out, or incorporated by reference, in this Base Prospectus have been audited for the three financial years preceding the date of this Base Prospectus by Ernst & Young Accountants. The Issuer's capitalisation was 689,432,000,000 as at 31 December 2009. The indebtedness of the Issuer as at 31 December 2009 was 692,794,000,000.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 2009-2005

	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005
(€millions, except percentages, per share and employee data					
Total Assets	104,496	101,365	92,602	90,098	91,671
Loans and Advances	79,305	75,699	66,037	64,994	64,166
of which Granted to or guaranteed by Public Authorities	67,164	64,782	60,219	60,059	58,287
of which reclassified out of the financial assets available for sale item	4,226	4,569	-	-	-
Equity ^{1, 2}	2,253	1,979	2,053	2,576	3,145
of which Unrealized Revaluation	49	(29)	104	220	354
Equity per share (in Euros) ^{1, 2}	39.58	36.06	35.00	42.31	50.09
Equity as a % of Total Assets ^{1, 2}	2.1%	2.0%	2.1%	2.6%	3.0%
BIS-Ratio core capital (tier 1) ^{1, 3}	19%	18%	18%	24%	32%
BIS-Ratio total capital 1,4	20%	20%	20%	26%	33%
Profit before tax	350	182	238	255	276
Net Profit	278	158	195	199	311
Profit per Share (in Euros)	4.98	2.84	3.50	3.57	5.58
Dividend (in Cash)	139	79	97	99	134
Dividend as a % of Consolidated Net Profit	50%	50%	50%	50%	43%
Dividend per Share (in Euros)	2.49	1.42	1.75	1.78	2.40
Additional Payment			500	500	
Additional Payment per Share (in Euros)			8.98	8.98	
Employees (in FTEs) at Year-End	287	280	278	381	409
- of which Subsidiaries	58	51	52	42	38

¹ In December 2007 and December 2006, an additional payment of €500 million was made to shareholders (€8.98 per share). The payment was charged to the reserves.

 $^{^{2}}$ Excluding the revaluation reserve.

 $^{^3}$ Core (Tier 1) capital as a percentage of risk-weighted amounts.

⁴ Total capital as a percentage of risk-weighted amounts

Essential characteristics of the Notes and the Programme

The Issuer may, subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, from time to time issue Notes under the Programme denominated in any currency (including Euro) agreed between the Issuer and the relevant dealer. The aggregate principal amount of the Notes outstanding will not at any time exceed €80 billion, subject to any duly authorised increase. Notes may be denominated in any currency or currencies, subject to compliance with all applicable legal and/or regulatory and/or central bank requirements. The aggregate principal amount, any interest rate or interest calculation, the issue price and any other terms and conditions not contained herein with respect to each Series (as defined below) of Notes will be determined at the time of issuance and set forth in the applicable final terms. The Notes may be offered for sale (a) in bearer form or registered form outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in reliance on and in accordance with Regulation S and (b) in registered form within the United States to QIBs in reliance on and in accordance with Rule 144A and, in each case, in accordance with all other applicable laws and regulations. The Notes in bearer form are subject to United States tax law requirements.

Application may be made for the Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and Euronext Amsterdam, as the case may be. However, Notes may also be issued under the Programme on an unlisted basis, or admitted to listing, trading and/or quotations as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant dealer. The final terms applicable to a Series of Notes will specify whether or not such Series of Notes have been admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and/or Euronext Amsterdam, as the case may be.

Notes will be issued in series (each a "Series") each of which will comprise of one or more tranches (each a "Tranche"). The Notes of each Series will all be subject to identical terms, except that the issue date, issue price and the date of the first payment of interest may be different in respect of different Tranches. The Notes of each Tranche will all be subject to identical terms in all respects save that a Tranche may comprise Notes of different denominations.

Notes may be issued in bearer form ("**Bearer Notes**") or in registered form ("**Registered Notes**"). The Notes are expected to be available for delivery through the facilities of The Depository Trust Company ("**DTC**") and its direct and indirect participants, Euroclear Bank SA/NV ("**Euroclear**") and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme ("**Clearstream, Luxembourg**") and/or any other agreed clearing system.

Bearer Notes will be sold outside the United States in "offshore transactions" within the meaning of Regulation S. Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, Bearer Notes will be represented on issue by a temporary global note in bearer form, without interest coupons (each, a "Temporary Global Note"), and interests in Temporary Global Notes will be exchangeable for interests in permanent global notes in bearer form (each, a "Permanent Global Note", and together with the Temporary Global Notes, the "Global Notes") or, if so stated in the applicable Final Terms, definitive notes in bearer form (each, a "Definitive Note"), after the date falling 40 days after the date of issue of the Temporary Global Note upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. Interests in Permanent Global Notes will be exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes in whole but not in part upon the occurrence of certain events described in paragraph "Forms of Notes". Each Global Note will be deposited with a common depositary or, as the case may be, a common safekeeper on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream Luxembourg and/or any other agreed clearing system. See "Forms of Notes".

Registered Notes may be sold (i) outside the United States in "offshore transactions" within the meaning of Regulation S ("Regulation S Notes") and/or (ii) in the United States to QIBs within the meaning of Rule 144A ("Rule 144A Notes"). In general, (i) Regulation S Notes will be represented on issue by a permanent global note certificate in registered form, without interest coupons (each, an "Unrestricted Global Note Certificate"), and (ii) Rule 144A Notes will be represented on issue by a permanent global note certificate in registered form, without interest coupons (each, a Restricted Global Note Certificate" and, together with each Unrestricted Global Note Certificate, the "Global Note Certificates"). The provisions governing the exchange of interests in the Global Note Certificates for individual note certificates in registered form (each, an "Individual Note Certificate" and together with the Global Note Certificates, the "Note Certificates") in certain limited circumstances are described in "Forms of Notes - Registered Notes". On the relevant issue date, Global Note Certificates of each Series will be (i)

registered in the name of, and deposited with, a common depositary or, as the case may be, a common safekeeper on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg; and/or (ii) registered in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee for, and deposited with a custodian for, DTC; and/or (iii) registered and deposited with any other agreed clearing system, as specified in the applicable Final Terms. Registered Notes are subject to certain restrictions on transfer. See "Plan of Distribution" and "Transfer Restrictions".

The Notes will constitute direct and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and rank *pari passu* without any preference among themselves and with all other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and will have the benefit of a negative pledge and the events of default set out in the section entitled "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" (the "**Conditions**"). Notes may be redeemable at their Final Redemption Amount as may be specified in the Final Terms. Early redemption will be permitted for taxations reasons as set out in the Conditions but will otherwise be permitted only to the extent set out in the Final Terms.

Risk Factors

Investing in Notes issued under the Programme involves certain risks. The risk factors that may affect the ability of the Issuer to fulfil its obligations under the Notes are set out under "**Risk Factors**" on page 9-12 below and include:

- factors which may affect the Issuer's ability to fulfil its obligations under the Notes such as general economic and financial market conditions, liquidity risk, interest rate volatility, market risk, credit risk, operational risk, regulatory risk, ICT risk, reputational risk and outsourcing risk;
- general risks related to the market generally for the Notes such as liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and credit rating risks;
- risks affecting an investor's ability to make an informed assessment of the risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme such as lack of sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes and the merits of investing in them;
- risks related to the structure of certain Notes issued under the Programme (including but not limited to Index Linked Notes, Inflation Linked Notes, Fund Linked Notes and Dual Currency Notes) which can only be meaningfully evaluated by an investor having sufficient expertise; and
- certain risks related to the Notes generally.

Supplemental information

For so long as any Notes are outstanding, copies and, where appropriate, English translations of the following documents may be inspected to the extent available at the website of the Issuer (http://www.bng.com) or alternatively during normal business hours at the specified office of the Paying Agent in Breda, London and Luxembourg, and be obtained free of charge: (a) the deed of incorporation and the Articles of Association ('statuten') of the Issuer; (b) the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement; (c) the audited financial statements for the preceding financial year and the latest audited financial statements and unaudited semi-annual financial statements of the Issuer; (d) a copy of this Base Prospectus and any further prospectus or prospectus supplement prepared by the Issuer for the purpose of updating or amending any information contained herein or therein; and (e) each final terms in relation to listed issues of Notes.

RISK FACTORS

Prospective investors should read the entire Base Prospectus.

The Issuer believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing in Notes issued under the Programme, but the inability of the Issuer to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with any Notes may occur for other reasons. The risks described below are not the only risks the Issuer faces. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to the Issuer or that it currently believes to be immaterial could also have a material impact on its business operations. Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Base Prospectus and reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.

Words and expressions defined in the Conditions or elsewhere in this Base Prospectus have the same meanings in this section, unless otherwise stated. Prospective investors should consider, among other things, the following.

Factors that may affect the Issuer's ability to fulfil its obligations under the Notes

BNG's business and results of operations are affected by conditions in the global financial markets and by global economic conditions, particularly in the Netherlands. The recent turbulence and volatility in these markets has adversely affected, and could continue to adversely affect, BNG's business and results of operations.

There was extreme volatility and disruption in global capital and credit markets beginning in late 2007, reaching unprecedented levels in the second half of 2008 and early 2009, particularly following the bankruptcy filing by Lehman Brothers in September 2008. This extreme volatility and disruption led to severe dislocation of financial markets around the world, unprecedented reduced liquidity and increased credit risk premiums for many market participants. These conditions also resulted in a material reduction in the availability of financing, both for financial institutions and their customers, compelling many financial institutions to rely on central banks and governments to provide liquidity and, in some cases, additional capital during this period. Governments around the world, including in the Netherlands, took actions to stabilize financial markets and prevent the failure of financial institutions. BNG's results of operations were adversely impacted by these conditions during 2008 and through the first half of 2009.

BNG's business is impacted generally by the business and economic environment in which it operates, which itself is impacted by factors such as changes in interest rates, securities prices, credit (including liquidity) spreads, exchange rates, consumer spending, business investment, real estate valuations, government spending, inflation, the volatility and strength of the capital markets, and terrorism. Recent market disruption and volatility in these factors created a less favorable environment for BNG's public sector clientele. For example, during financial years 2008 and 2009, BNG experienced a decrease in its lending activities, as its primary clients, the public municipalities, provinces and housing corporations in the Netherlands, reduced investment in their programs and projects in response to economic uncertainty. If these levels of market disruption and volatility continue or recur, BNG may experience further reductions in business activity, increased funding costs and funding pressures, decreased asset values and lower profitability. As a result of changing market conditions and the influence of financial and industry cycles, BNG's results of operations are subject to volatility that may be outside the control of BNG. BNG's results of operations may, therefore, vary significantly from year to year depending on market conditions.

BNG is subject to liquidity risks and adverse capital and credit market conditions may impact BNG's ability to access liquidity as well as the cost of credit.

Liquidity risk is the risk that BNG, although solvent, is at any given moment unable to meet its payment obligations due to insufficient financial resources or can only secure such financial resources at excessive cost. BNG requires liquidity in its day-to-day business activities primarily to pay its operating expenses and interest on its debt and replace certain of its maturing liabilities. The principal source of liquidity for BNG is the wholesale lending markets, although further liquidity is available through deposits and entrusted funds and cash flow from its investment portfolio and assets, consisting mainly of cash or assets that are readily convertible into cash, including through lending from the European Central Bank against collateral.

Credit markets worldwide experienced a severe reduction in liquidity and term-funding during the credit crisis. Continuing disruption, particularly in Europe, has resulted in liquidity and term funding remaining difficult to obtain and terms for certain borrowers have become less favorable. Perception of counterparty risk between banks also increased significantly during the credit crisis, and has continued, leading to further reductions in access to traditional sources of liquidity, such as the debt capital markets. BNG's access to the debt capital markets, its principal source of liquidity has been, and could in the future be, restricted or available only at a higher cost.

The availability and cost of financing depends on a variety of factors such as the market conditions referred to above, as well as the general availability of credit, the volume of trading activities, the overall availability of credit to the financial services industry, an issuer's credit ratings and credit capacity, as well as the possibility that customers or lenders could develop a negative perception of an issuer's long-or short-term financial prospects. BNG's access to funds and the cost of such funds is significantly influenced by views of rating agencies. If BNG's access to the capital markets or the cost of accessing such markets should increase significantly or if BNG is unable to attract other sources of financing, it could have an adverse effect on BNG's financial condition and results of operations and could, in turn, impair BNG's access to liquidity.

Volatility in interest rates and credit spreads may adversely affect BNG's business.

Changes in prevailing interest rates and/or widening of credit spreads may negatively affect BNG's business by decreasing its interest result or decreasing demand for loans. In a period of changing interest rates (and volatile credit spreads), interest expense may increase at different rates than the interest earned on assets. Accordingly, changes in interest rates could decrease interest result, BNG's primary source of revenue. Changes in interest rates may negatively affect the value of BNG's assets and its ability to realise gains or avoid losses from the sale of those assets, all of which also ultimately affect profit. Changes in interest rates may also result in unrealised losses which may be required to be recognized in the income statement or in equity on the balance sheet. In addition, an increase in interest rates (or credit spreads) may decrease the demand for loans.

Ratings are important to BNG's business for a number of reasons. Among these reasons are the issuance of debt instruments and the risk weighting of bank assets. Downgrades could have an adverse impact on BNG's operations and financial condition.

BNG has credit ratings from Standard & Poor's Ratings Services ("Standard & Poor's"), a division of the McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., Moody's Investors Service Limited ("Moody's") and Fitch Ratings Ltd. ("Fitch"). Each of the rating agencies reviews its ratings and rating methodologies on a recurring basis and may decide on a downgrade at any time. In the event of a downgrade, BNG's cost of issuing debt instruments will increase, having an adverse effect on net profit and potentially impacting BNG's competitive position with its clients in the public sector.

BNG may be unable to manage its risks successfully through derivatives.

BNG employs various economic hedging strategies with the objective of mitigating the market risks that are inherent in its business and operations. These risks include currency fluctuations, changes in the fair value of its investments and the impact of interest rate and credit spread changes. BNG seeks to control these risks by, among other things, entering into a number of derivative instruments, such as swaps, options, futures and forward contracts including, from time to time, portfolio hedges for parts of its business.

Developing an effective strategy for dealing with these risks is complex, and no strategy can completely insulate BNG from risks associated with those fluctuations. BNG's hedging strategies also rely on assumptions and projections regarding its assets, general market factors and the credit worthiness of its counterparties that may prove to be incorrect or prove to be inadequate. Accordingly, BNG's hedging activities may not have the desired beneficial impact on its financial condition or results of operations. Poorly designed strategies or improperly executed transactions could actually increase BNG's risks and losses. If BNG terminates a hedging arrangement, it may also be required to pay additional costs, such as transaction fees or breakage costs. BNG's hedging strategies and the derivatives that it uses and may use may not adequately mitigate or offset the risk of interest rate and currency volatility, and BNG's hedging transactions may result in losses.

BNG's risk management methods may leave it exposed to unidentified, unanticipated, or incorrectly quantified risks, which could lead to material losses or material increases in liabilities.

In the course of its business activities, BNG is exposed to a variety of risks, the most significant of which are credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and operational risk. While BNG believes it has implemented the appropriate policies, systems and processes to control and mitigate these risks, investors should note that any failure to adequately control these risks could result in adverse effects on BNG's financial condition, results of operations and reputation.

BNG devotes significant resources to developing risk management policies, procedures and assessment methods for its banking business. BNG uses value-at-risk (VaR) models, duration analysis and sensitivity analysis as well as other risk assessment methods. Nonetheless, such risk management techniques and strategies may not be fully effective in mitigating risk exposure in all economic market environments or against all types of risk, including risks that BNG fails to identify or anticipate. Some of BNG's qualitative tools and metrics for managing risk are based upon use of observed historical market behaviour. BNG applies statistical and other tools to these observations to arrive at quantifications of risk exposures. These tools and metrics may fail to predict or predict incorrectly future risk exposures. Moreover, these observations or information may not be accurate, complete, up-to-date or properly evaluated in all cases. BNG's losses thus could be significantly greater than such measures would indicate. In addition, BNG's quantified modelling does not take all risks into account. BNG's more qualitative approach to managing risks takes into account a broader set of risks, but is less precise than quantified modelling and could prove insufficient. There can, therefore, be no assurance that BNG's risk management and internal control policies and procedures will adequately control, or protect BNG against, all credit and other risks. In addition, certain risks could be greater than BNG's empirical data would otherwise indicate. Unanticipated or incorrectly quantified risk exposures could result in material losses for BNG.

While BNG manages its operational risks, these risks remain an inherent part of BNG's businesses and failure to manage these risks could harm BNG's business and reputation.

BNG's business inherently generates operational risks. Its business is dependent on processing a large number of complex transactions across numerous and diverse products, and is subject to a number of different legal and regulatory regimes.

The operational risks that BNG faces include the possibility of inadequate or failed internal or external processes or systems, human error, regulatory breaches, including inadequate compliance with internal and external laws, errors resulting from faulty computer or telecommunications systems, employee misconduct or external events such as fraud. These events could result in financial loss as well as harm to BNG's reputation. Additionally, the loss of key personnel could adversely affect BNG's operations and results

BNG has also devoted substantial resources to developing its operational risk management policies and procedures, and expects to continue to do so in the future. Nonetheless, any material deficiency in BNG's operational risk management or other internal control policies or procedures may expose BNG to significant credit, liquidity, or market risks, which may in turn have a material adverse effect on BNG's business, results of operations and financial condition.

BNG has significant counterparty risk exposure.

BNG is subject to general credit risks, including credit risks of borrowers. Third parties that owe BNG money, securities or other assets may not pay or perform under their obligations. These parties include borrowers under loans made by BNG, the issuers whose securities BNG holds, customers, trading counterparties, counterparties under swap and credit and other derivative contracts, clearing agents, exchanges, clearing houses and other financial intermediaries. These parties may default on their obligations to BNG due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, downturns in the economy, operational failure or for other reasons. Any such defaults could lead to losses for BNG which could have a material adverse effect on BNG's business, results of operations and financial condition.

BNG operates in a highly regulated industry. There could be an adverse change or increase in the financial services laws and/or regulations governing BNG's business.

BNG is subject to detailed banking and other financial services laws and government regulation in the Netherlands. DNB has broad administrative power over many aspects of the financial services business, including liquidity, capital adequacy and permitted investments, ethical issues, anti-money laundering,

privacy, record keeping, and marketing and selling practices. Banking and other financial services laws, regulations and policies currently governing BNG may also change at any time in ways which have an adverse effect on BNG's business, and it is difficult to predict the timing or form of any future regulatory or enforcement initiatives in respect thereof. As a relatively small organization, BNG is heavily burdened financially and operationally by the pressure of increasing regulations and the heightened duty to provide reports to its regulators. In light of the responses to the recent global economic crisis there will be an increased emphasis on new regulations, including in particular rules and regulations regarding capital, liquidity, leverage and other factors affecting banks. BNG cannot predict what impact such new rules and regulations will have on its business as these rules and regulations are not yet adopted.

The IT and other systems on which BNG depends for its day-to-day operations may fail for a variety of reasons that may be outside its control.

BNG's operations are highly dependent on its ability to process and monitor, on a daily basis, a large number of transactions, some of which are complex. BNG's financial, accounting, data processing or other operating systems and facilities may fail to operate properly or may become disabled, which may have an adverse effect on BNG's ability to process transactions or provide services. In addition, other factors which could cause BNG's operating systems to fail or not operate properly include a deterioration in the quality of IT development, support and operations processes and, in particular, high turnover of employees, resulting in an inadequate number of personnel to handle the growth and increasing complexity of operations. Despite BNG's significant expenditures on its IT systems, there can be no assurance that these expenditures will be sufficient or that its IT systems will function as planned. Any disruption in BNG's IT or other systems may have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition or results of operations.

BNG is reliant on third parties to which it has outsourced certain functions

BNG relies on a third party provider for substantial parts of its IT services. Any interruption in the services of this third party or deterioration in its performance of the outsourced services could impair the timing and quality of BNG's services to its clients. Furthermore, if the contract with this third party provider is terminated or any third party provider of critical services in the future, BNG may not find alternative service providers on a timely basis or on as favourable terms or may suffer disruption as a result of the transition of functions to the new services provider. The occurrence of any of these events could adversely affect BNG's business, reputation, results of operation or financial condition.

Risks related to the market for the Notes

Set out below is a description of the principal market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and credit risk:

Liquidity risks

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does develop, it may not be very liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, are designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the investment requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes will generally have a more limited secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities. Illiquidity may have a severely adverse effect on the market value of Notes.

Exchange rate risks and exchange controls

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the currency specified in the applicable Final Terms (the "Specified Currency"). This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the "Investor's Currency") other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that exchange rates may change significantly (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency relative to the Specified Currency would decrease (i) the Investor's Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (ii) the

Investor's Currency-equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (iii) the Investor's Currency-equivalent market value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal.

Interest rate risks

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may adversely affect the value of the Fixed Rate Notes.

Credit Rating Risks

Credit or corporate ratings may not reflect all risks. One or more independent rating agencies may assign ratings to the Notes and/or the Issuer. The ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed in this paragraph, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes or the standing of the Issuer. A credit rating and/or a corporate rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating agency at any time.

Factors which might affect an investor's ability to make an informed assessment of the risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme

Each potential investor in the Notes must be able to make an informed assessment of the Notes, based upon full knowledge and understanding of the facts and risks. Each potential investor must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. The following factors might affect a potential investor's ability to appreciate the risk factors outlined below, placing such potential investor at a greater risk of receiving a lesser return on his investment:

- (i) if such an investor does not have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes and the merits of investing in the Notes in light of the risk factors outlined below;
- (ii) if such an investor does not have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of his particular financial situation, the significance of these risk factors and the impact the Notes will have on his overall investment portfolio;
- (iii) if such an investor does not have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes, including where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential Investor's Currency;
- (iv) if such an investor does not understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and is not familiar with the behaviour of any relevant indices in the financial markets (including the risks associated thereof) as such investor is more vulnerable from any fluctuations in the financial markets generally; and
- (v) if such an investor is not able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect his investment and his ability to bear the applicable risks.

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have features which contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of the most common of such features.

Some Notes are complex financial instruments. Sophisticated institutional investors generally do not purchase complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments but as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured and appropriate addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A potential investor should not invest in Notes which are complex financial instruments unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the Notes and the impact this investment will have on the potential investor's overall investment portfolio.

Notes subject to optional redemption by the Issuer

An optional redemption feature of Notes is likely to limit their market value. During any period when the Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption period.

The Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate on the Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.

Index Linked Notes, Inflation Linked Notes, Fund Linked Notes and Dual Currency Notes

The Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest determined by reference to an index or formula, to changes in the prices of securities or commodities, to movements in currency exchange rates or other factors (each, a "**Relevant Factor**"). In addition, the Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies which may be different from the currency in which the Notes are denominated. Prospective investors should be aware that:

- (i) the market price of such Notes may be very volatile;
- (ii) they may receive no interest;
- (iii) payment of principal or interest may occur at a different time or in a different currency than expected;
- (iv) depending on their original principal and on the type of Notes, they may lose all or a substantial portion of their principal;
- (v) a Relevant Factor may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in interest rates, currencies or other indices;
- (vi) if a Relevant Factor is applied to Notes in conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or contains some other leverage factor, the effect of changes in the Relevant Factor on principal or interest payable is likely to be magnified; and
- (vii) the timing of changes in a Relevant Factor may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the average level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the Relevant Factor, the greater the effect on yield.

Fund Linked Notes

The Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest determined by reference to the performance of an underlying investment fund. Potential investors in Fund Linked Notes should understand that:

- (i) there are market risks associated with an actual investment in the underlying investment fund, and though the Notes do not create an actual interest in the underlying investment fund, the return on the Notes generally involves the same associated risks as an actual investment in the underlying investment fund. Potential investors in Fund Linked Notes should understand that the Issuer has not purported and does not purport to be a source of information concerning the market risks associated with the underlying fund or fund interests;
- (ii) third parties, not related to the Issuer, may subscribe for and redeem underlying fund interests. These investments may affect the performance and volatility of the fund's net asset value. In turn, this could affect, from time to time, the return on the Notes;
- (iii) the Issuer may invest in the underlying investment fund for its own account, and the Issuer may exercise its discretion in respect of matters concerning its holding of fund interests as it sees fit, without regard to the interests of any investor in the Notes;

- (iv) any performance of the underlying investment fund necessary for the Notes to yield a specific return is not assured. Potential investors in the Notes should understand that the performance of the underlying investment fund may, depending on the terms of the Notes, strongly affect the value of payments on the Notes and the Issuer has no control over the underlying investment fund or the performance of such fund;
- (v) the value of units in the underlying investment fund and the income from it may fluctuate significantly. The Issuer has not provided (save as provided herein) and will not provide during the term of the Notes prospective purchasers of the Notes with any information or advice with respect to the performance of an underlying investment fund. The Issuer may have acquired, or during the term of the Notes may acquire, non-public information with respect to an underlying investment fund, which will not be provided to the Noteholders. The Issuer makes no representation or warranty about, or guarantee of, the performance of an underlying investment fund. Past performance of an underlying fund cannot be considered a guide to future performance;
- (vi) the investment funds may follow a wide range of investment strategies, and invest in assets in a number of different countries and denominated in a number of different currencies. The returns to the Noteholders may, therefore, be materially affected by, among other things, market trends, exchange rate fluctuations and political and economic developments in the relevant countries. This may lead to substantial volatility in the net asset value of the funds;
- (vii) the investment funds may have investment strategies and guidelines that are very broad. They may also be free to engage in additional or alternative strategies without reference to any other person;
- (viii) the investment funds may often rely on a few individuals to determine their investment strategies and to make investment decisions. The loss of such individuals could jeopardise the performance of the funds:
- (ix) the investment funds may be engaged in a high level of trading with commensurately high brokerage and transaction costs, as well as costs associated with leverage, such as interest payments and margin maintenance. Such costs will adversely affect the net asset value of the funds;
- (x) the investment funds will be exposed to credit risks against brokers and other counterparties with which they deal in implementing their investment strategies;
- (xi) where underlying investment funds invest in unlisted shares and certain other assets, risks associated with reduced liquidity and lack of objective valuations will arise. Moreover, the underlying investment funds may invest in emerging markets. This involves risks attributable to nationalisations, expropriation or taxation, currency devaluation, foreign exchange control, political, social or diplomatic instability or governmental restrictions. The capital markets in such countries have substantially less volume, and are generally less liquid and more volatile, than those in more developed markets. Disclosure and regulatory requirements could be less stringent than in other markets, with a low level of monitoring and limited and uneven enforcement of existing regulations;
- (xii) certain of the underlying funds may have no or a limited operating history, with no proven track record in achieving their stated investment objectives; and
- (xiii) the underlying investment funds, or some of them, may be wholly unregulated investment vehicles and may trade in futures, options, forward exchange contracts and other derivative instruments, which may represent significant investment risks. In addition, underlying investment funds may acquire leveraged trading positions, including through the use of borrowing, and may engage in short selling. As a result of leverage, relatively small price movements may result in substantial losses or gains and an underlying investment fund itself may be subject to fees and charges on its investments which shall be borne by such fund and incorporated in the value of interests in it.

Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount or premium from their principal amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the securities, the greater the price volatility as compared to conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities.

Risks related to Notes generally

Modification and waiver

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

Tax consequences of holding the Notes

Any potential investor should consult its own independent tax adviser for more information about the tax consequences of acquiring, owning and disposing of Notes in its particular circumstances, which could follow from, amongst others, the EU Savings Directive. See "Taxation".

Bearer Notes generally may not be offered or sold in the United States or to U.S. persons. Unless an exemption applies, a U.S. person holding a Bearer Note or Coupon will not be entitled to deduct any loss on the Bearer Note or Coupon and must treat as ordinary income any gain realized on the sale or other disposition (including the receipt of principal) of the Bearer Note or Coupon.

Notes held in global form

The Notes will initially be held by a common depositary or, as the case may be, a common safekeeper on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or by a custodian on behalf of DTC in the form of either a Global Note or a Global Note Certificate which will be exchangeable for Definitive Notes or, as the case may be, Individual Note Certificates only in limited circumstances as more fully described in the section headed "Form of the Notes" below. For as long as any Notes are represented by a Global Note or a Global Note Certificate held by a common depositary or a common safekeeper on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or by a custodian on behalf of DTC, payments of principal, interest (if any) and any other amounts due in respect of the Notes will be made through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC (as the case may be) against presentation or surrender (as the case may be) of the relevant Global Note or, as applicable, Global Note Certificate and, in the case of a Temporary Global Note, certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. In the case of Bearer Notes, the bearer of the relevant Global Note, being the common depositary or, as the case may be, common safekeeper for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, shall be treated by the Issuer and any Paying Agent as the sole holder of the relevant Notes represented by such Global Note with respect to the payment of principal, interest (if any) and any other amounts payable in respect of the Notes. In the case of Registered Notes, each Note represented by a Global Note Certificate will be registered in the name of a nominee for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC and such nominee shall be treated by the Issuer and any Paying Agent as the sole holder of the relevant Notes represented by such Global Note Certificate with respect to the payment of principal, interest (if any) and any other amounts payable in respect of such Notes. A holder of a beneficial interest in a Global Note or a Global Note Certificate must rely on the procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC to receive payments under the relevant Notes.

In relation to any issue of Bearer Notes which have denominations consisting of a minimum Specified Denomination plus a higher integral multiple of another smaller amount, it is possible that the Notes may be traded in amounts in excess of the minimum Specified Denomination that are not integral multiples of the minimum Specified Denomination. In such a case a Noteholder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds a principal amount of less than the minimum Specified Denomination (a "Stub Amount") may not receive a definitive Note in respect of such holding (should definitive Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that its holding amounts to a Specified Denomination. As long as the Stub Amount is held in the relevant clearing system, the Noteholder will be unable to transfer this Stub Amount.

Notes which are represented by a global Note or a Global Note Certificate will be transferable only in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC, as the case may be.

Restrictions on transfer

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or any U.S. state securities laws and the Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States, or to or for the account or benefit of U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S), except pursuant to an exemption from, or a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act and applicable United States state securities laws, or pursuant to an effective registration statement. The Notes and the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement (as defined in the Conditions) will contain provisions that will restrict the Notes from being offered, sold or otherwise transferred except pursuant to the exemptions available pursuant to Rule 144A and Regulation S, or other exemptions under the Securities Act. In addition, any offer, sale or transfer of Notes into the United States may be made only to QIBs. Investors must ensure that their offers and sales of the Notes within the United States and other countries comply with all applicable laws, including securities laws. Notes issued in bearer form are subject to United States tax law requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, Bearer Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to United States persons, as those terms are defined in the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), and by the U.S. Treasury Regulations thereunder. See "Plan of Distribution" and "Transfer Restrictions".

Nominee Arrangements

Where, in the case of an issue of Notes a nominee service provider is used by an investor to hold the relevant Notes or such investor holds interests in any Series of Notes through accounts with a clearing system (such as Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC), such investor will receive payments in respect of principal, interest, (if any) or any other amounts due, as applicable, solely on the basis of the arrangements entered into by the investor with the relevant nominee service provider or clearing system, as the case may be. Furthermore, such investor must rely on the relevant nominee service provider or clearing system to distribute all payments attributable to the relevant Notes which are received from the Issuer. Accordingly, such an investor will be exposed to the credit risk of, and default risk in respect of, the relevant nominee service provider or clearing system, as well as the Issuer.

For the purposes of (a) distributing any notices to Noteholders, and (b) recognising Noteholders for the purposes of attending and/or voting at any meetings of Noteholders, the Issuer will recognise as Noteholders only those persons who are at any time shown as accountholders in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC as persons holding a principal amount of the relevant Series of Notes. Accordingly, an investor must rely upon the nominee service provider which is the accountholder with the relevant clearing system through which the investor made arrangements to invest in the Notes (and, if applicable, the domestic clearing system through which the Notes are held), to forward notices received by it from Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC and to return the investor's voting instructions or voting certificate application to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC. Accordingly, such an investor will be exposed to the risk that the relevant nominee service provider or clearing system may fail to pass on the relevant notice to, or fail to take relevant instructions from, the investor.

In addition, such a Noteholder will only be able to sell any Note held by it prior to its stated maturity date with the assistance of the relevant nominee service provider.

None of the Issuer, the Arranger, any Dealer to be appointed under the Programme or the Agent shall be responsible for the acts or omissions of any relevant nominee service provider or clearing system nor makes any representation or warranty, express or implied, as to the services provided by any relevant nominee service provider or clearing system.

Change of law and jurisdiction

The conditions of the Notes are governed by Dutch law in effect as at the date of this Base Prospectus. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible change to Dutch law or administrative practice after the date of this Base Prospectus.

Prospective investors should note that the courts of the Netherlands shall have jurisdiction in respect of any disputes involving any Series of Notes. Noteholders may take any suit, action or proceedings arising out of or in connection with the Notes against the Issuer in any court of competent jurisdiction. The laws of the Netherlands may be materially different from the equivalent law in the home jurisdiction of prospective investors in its application to the Notes.

EU Savings Directive

Under EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income, each Member State is required to provide to the tax authorities of another Member State details of payments of interest or other similar income paid by a person within its jurisdiction to, or collected by such a person for, an individual resident or certain limited types of entity established in that other Member State; however, for a transitional period, Austria and Luxembourg may instead apply a withholding system in relation to such payments, deducting tax at rates rising over time to 35% which may decrease the net proceeds on the Notes received by an investor. The transitional period is to terminate at the end of the first full fiscal year following agreement by certain non-EU countries to the exchange of information relating to such payments.

A number of non-EU countries and certain dependent or associated territories of certain Member States, have adopted similar measures (either provision of information or transitional withholding) in relation to payments made by a person within its jurisdiction to, or collected by such a person for, an individual resident or certain limited types of entity established in a Member State. In addition, the Member States have entered into provision of information or transitional withholding arrangements with certain of those dependent or associated territories in relation to payments made by a person in a Member State to, or collected by such a person for, an individual resident or certain limited types of entity established in one of those territories.

On 13 November 2008 the European Commission published a proposal for amendments to the Directive, which included a number of suggested changes, which, if implemented, would broaden the scope of the requirements described above. Investors who are in any doubt as to their position should consult their professional advisers.

The Issuer has undertaken to maintain at all times a Paying Agent in a EU member state that will not be obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC. If any payment is made by a Paying Agent that is obliged to withhold tax pursuant to such Directive, the Issuer will not be required to pay any additional amounts in respect of such withholding pursuant to Condition 8 (*Taxation*).

IMPORTANT NOTICES

The Issuer has confirmed that this Base Prospectus contains all information regarding the Issuer and (subject to being supplemented by any final terms (each the "**Final Terms**") as referred to on page 63-80 hereof) the Notes issued under the Programme which is (in the context of the Programme and the issue of the Notes) material and such information is true and accurate in all respects and is not misleading. The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Base Prospectus. To the best of the knowledge of the Issuer (which has taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in this Base Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.

The Issuer has not authorised the making or provision of any representation or information regarding the Issuer or the Notes other than as contained or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms or as approved in writing for such purpose by the Issuer. Any such representation or information should not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer or the Dealers.

Neither the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates have authorised the whole or any part of this Base Prospectus and none of them makes any representation or warranty or accepts any responsibility as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this Base Prospectus. The delivery of this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms and the offering, sale or delivery of any Notes shall not in any circumstances create any implication that there has been no adverse change in the financial situation of the Issuer since the date hereof or, as the case may be, the date upon which the Base Prospectus has been most recently amended or supplemented or that there has been no adverse change, or any event reasonably likely to involve any adverse change, in the prospects or financial or trading position of the Issuer since the date hereof or, if later, the date upon which this Base Prospectus has been most recently amended or supplemented or that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct at any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same.

The distribution of this Base Prospectus and any Final Terms and the offering, sale and delivery of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Base Prospectus comes are required by the Issuer and the Dealers to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions. For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and deliveries of Notes and on distribution of this Base Prospectus and other offering material relating to the Notes see "Plan of Distribution" below.

In particular, the Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or any U.S. state securities laws and the Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States, or to or for the account or benefit of U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act), except pursuant to an exemption from, or a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act and applicable United States state securities laws, or pursuant to an effective registration statement. Notes in bearer form are subject to United States tax law requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, Bearer Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to United States persons, as those terms are defined in the Code, and by the U.S. Treasury Regulations thereunder.

The Notes may be offered and sold (A) in bearer form or registered form outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S and (B) in registered form within the United States to QIBs in reliance on Rule 144A. Prospective purchasers are hereby notified that sellers of the Notes may be relying on the exemption from the provisions of Section 5 of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A. For a description of these and certain further restrictions on offers, sales and transfers of Notes, see "Plan of Distribution" and "Transfer Restrictions".

The Programme and the Notes have not been approved or disapproved by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), any state securities commission in the United States or any other U.S. regulatory authority, nor have any of the foregoing authorities passed upon or endorsed the merits of the offering of the Notes or the accuracy of this Base Prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offence in the United States.

This Base Prospectus does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation to subscribe for or purchase, any Notes and should not be considered as a recommendation by the Issuer or the Dealers that any recipient of

this Base Prospectus should subscribe for or purchase any Notes. Each recipient shall be taken to have made its own investigation and appraisal of the financial condition of the Issuer.

The Issuer has given undertakings in connection with the listing of the Notes on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and Euronext Amsterdam and/or any other stock exchange to the effect that, so long as any Note remains outstanding and listed on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or Euronext Amsterdam and/or any other stock exchange (as the case may be), in the event of any material adverse change in the financial condition of the Issuer which is not reflected in this Base Prospectus or if a significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to information included in this Base Prospectus arises or is noticed, the Issuer will prepare a supplement to the Base Prospectus or publish a new Base Prospectus for use in connection with any subsequent issue of Notes to be listed on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or Euronext Amsterdam and/or any other stock exchange (as the case may be). If the terms of the Programme are modified or amended in a manner which would make the Base Prospectus, as supplemented, inaccurate or misleading, a new Base Prospectus or a supplement to the Base Prospectus will be prepared.

This Base Prospectus has been prepared on the basis that, except to the extent sub-paragraph (ii) below may apply, any offer of Notes in any Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a "Relevant Member State") will be made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Directive, as implemented in that Relevant Member State, from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of Notes. Accordingly any person making or intending to make an offer in that Relevant Member State of Notes which are the subject of an offering contemplated in this Base Prospectus as completed by Final Terms in relation to the offer of those Notes may only do so (i) in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive, in each case, in relation to such offer, or (ii) if a prospectus for such offer has been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant Member State or, where appropriate, approved in another Relevant Member State and notified to the competent authority in that Relevant Member State and (in either case) published, all in accordance with the Prospectus Directive, provided that any such prospectus has subsequently been completed by Final Terms which specify that offers may be made other than pursuant to Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive in that Relevant Member State and such offer is made in the period beginning and ending on the dates specified for such purpose in such prospectus or final terms, as applicable. Except to the extent sub-paragraph (ii) above may apply, neither the Issuer nor any Dealer have authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Notes in circumstances in which an obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish or supplement a prospectus for such offer

In connection with the issue of Notes under the Programme, the Dealer or Dealers (if any) specified in the Final Terms as the Stabilising Manager(s) (or any person acting for the Stabilising Manager(s)) in relation to the relevant series of Notes may over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes of such Series at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail for a limited period. However, there may be no obligation on any Stabilising Manager (or any agent of a Stabilising Manager) to do this. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun, may be ended at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche of Notes. Such stabilising or over-allotment shall be in compliance with all applicable laws, regulations and rules.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

The Issuer has agreed that, for so long as any Notes are "restricted securities" within the meaning of Rule 144(a)(3) under the Securities Act, it will, during any period in which it is neither subject to sections 13 or 15(d) of the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") nor exempt from reporting pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) under the Exchange Act, furnish to each holder of such Notes in connection with any resale thereof and to any prospective purchaser of such Notes from such holder, in each case upon request, the information specified in, and meeting the requirements of, Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act.

NOTICE TO NEW HAMPSHIRE RESIDENTS

NEITHER THE FACT THAT A REGISTRATION STATEMENT OR AN APPLICATION FOR A LICENCE HAS BEEN FILED UNDER CHAPTER 421-B OF THE NEW HAMPSHIRE REVISED STATUTES ANNOTATED, 1955 ("RSA 421-B") WITH THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE NOR THE FACT THAT A SECURITY IS EFFECTIVELY REGISTERED OR A PERSON IS LICENSED IN THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE CONSTITUTES A FINDING BY THE SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE THAT ANY DOCUMENT FILED UNDER RSA 421-B IS TRUE, COMPLETE AND NOT MISLEADING. NEITHER ANY SUCH FACT NOR THE FACT THAT AN EXEMPTION OR EXCEPTION IS AVAILABLE FOR A SECURITY OR A TRANSACTION MEANS THAT THE SECRETARY OF STATE HAS PASSED IN ANY WAY UPON THE MERITS OR QUALIFICATIONS OF, OR RECOMMENDED OR GIVEN APPROVAL TO, ANY PERSON, SECURITY OR TRANSACTION. IT IS UNLAWFUL TO MAKE, OR CAUSE TO BE MADE, TO ANY PROSPECTIVE PURCHASER, CUSTOMER OR CLIENT ANY REPRESENTATION INCONSISTENT WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THIS PARAGRAPH.

ENFORCEMENT OF FOREIGN JUDGMENTS

The Issuer is a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands. All of the officers and directors named herein reside outside of the United States and all or a substantial portion of the assets of the Issuer and its officers and directors are located outside the United States. As a result, prospective investors may have difficulties effecting service of process in the United States upon the Issuer or such persons in connection with any lawsuits related to the Notes, including actions arising under the federal securities laws of the United States. In addition, investors may have difficulties in enforcing in original actions brought in courts in jurisdictions outside the United States, liabilities predicated upon U.S. securities laws.

In the absence of an enforcement treaty between the Netherlands and the United States, a judgement of a United States court cannot be enforced in the Netherlands. In order to obtain a judgement that can be enforced in the Netherlands against the Issuer, the dispute will have to be re-litigated before the competent Netherlands court. This court will have discretion to attach such weight to a United States judgement as it deems appropriate. According to current practice, based on case law, the Netherlands courts will in all probability recognise, give 'res judicata' effect to and render in accordance with a judgement of a United States court provided such judgment meets the following requirements: (i) the relevant United States court having jurisdiction (ii) proper service of process to have been given, (iii) the proceedings before the relevant United States court to have complied with principles of proper procedure (behoorlijke rechtspleging), (iv) such judgment not being contrary to the public policy of the Netherlands, and (v) such judgment being final and not open to appeal.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Base Prospectus includes "forward-looking statements". All statements other than statements of historical fact included in this Base Prospectus, including, without limitation, those regarding the Issuer's financial position, business strategy, plans and objectives of management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are identified by their use of terms and phrases such as "anticipate", "believe", "could", "estimate", "expect", "intend", "may", "plan", "predict", "project", "will" and similar terms and phrases, including references to assumptions.

Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements, or industry results to be materially different from those expressed or implied by these forward looking statements. These factors include, but are not limited to, the following:

- market conditions:
- volatility in interest rates;
- a downgrade in the Issuer's credit ratings;
- operational risk;
- counterparty risk;
- liquidity risk;
- the occurrence of catastrophic events, terrorist attacks and similar events;
- significant adverse regulatory developments;
- an interruption, failure or breach of the Issuer's operational system; and
- the ineffectiveness of the Issuer's risk management policies and procedures.

The Issuer's risks are more specifically described under "Risk Factors". If one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or if underlying assumptions prove incorrect, the Issuer's actual results, performance or achievements or industry results may be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are based on numerous assumptions regarding the Issuer's present and future business strategies and the environment in which the Issuer will operate in the future. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Base Prospectus or as of such earlier date at which such statements are expressed to be given. The Issuer expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statement contained herein to reflect any change in the Issuer's expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following documents have been filed with the AFM and shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part of, this Base Prospectus:

• The annual reports of the Issuer for the years ended 31 December 2007, 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2009, that include the audited financial statements (including the notes) and the audit opinion of Ernst & Young delivered in connection therewith on the following pages:

Annual Report	Audit opinion	Financial Statements (including the Notes)
2007	Pages 108 - 109	Pages 44-107
2008	Page 102	Pages 33-100
2009	Page 110	Pages 35-108

- The Articles of Association of the Issuer.
- The terms and conditions as referred to on pages 10 up to and including 25 of the information memorandum of the Issuer relating to the Programme, dated 2 December 2004 (the "2004 Terms and Conditions").
- The terms and conditions as referred to on pages 16 up to and including 31 of the base prospectus of the Issuer relating to the Programme, dated 11 July 2005 (the "2005 Terms and Conditions").
- The terms and conditions as referred to on pages 16 up to and including 32 of the base prospectus
 of the Issuer relating to the Programme, dated 21 July 2006 (the "2006 Terms and Conditions").
- The terms and conditions as referred to on pages 20 up to and including 37 of the information memorandum of the Issuer relating to the Programme, dated 23 July 2007 (the "2007 Terms and Conditions").
- The terms and conditions as referred to on pages 21 up to and including 38 of the Base Prospectus of the Issuer relating to the Programme, dated 24 July 2008 (the "2008 Terms and Conditions").
- The terms and conditions as referred to on pages 21 up to and including 39 of the information memorandum of the Issuer relating to the Programme, dated 29 July 2009 (the "2009 Terms and Conditions").

The Issuer will, at the specified offices of the Paying Agents for the Notes, provide, without charge, to any person, upon the oral or written request of such person, a copy of any or all of the documents incorporated herein by reference as well as the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement and a copy of this Base Prospectus and, where appropriate, English translations of any or all such documents (i.e. Deutsche Bank London (phone number: +44 20 754 58000, department: Trust and Securities Services), The Royal Bank of Scotland N.V. (phone number: +31 20 464 3707, e-mail address: corporate.actions@rbs.com, department: Equity Capital Markets/Corporate Actions) or Deutsche Bank Luxembourg (phone number: +35 24 212 2639, e-mail address: ctas.pricings@db.com, department: CTAS Paying Agency). Written or oral requests for such documents should be directed to the specified office of any Paying Agent or, in the case of Notes listed on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or Euronext Amsterdam by NYSE Euronext, the regulated market of Euronext Amsterdam N.V., the specified office of the Listing Agent in Luxembourg or the Listing Agent in Amsterdam, respectively.

Documents incorporated by reference may also be found on the investor relations section of the BNG website.¹

50084770 M 3726944 / 47

24

¹ http://www.bng.nl/smartsite.shtml?id=51607

KEY FEATURES OF THE PROGRAMME

The following is a brief summary only and should be read, in relation to any Series of Notes, in conjunction with the relevant Final Terms and, to the extent applicable, the Terms and Conditions of the Notes set out below.

Issuer: N.V. Bank Nederlandse Gemeenten, a company incorporated in the

Netherlands with limited liability and having its statutory domicile

in The Hague.

Programme Arranger: UBS Limited

Registration Agent: UBS AG.

Principal Dealers: N.V. Bank Nederlandse Gemeenten, Barclays Bank PLC, BNP

PARIBAS, Citigroup Global Markets Limited, Coöperatieve Centrale Raiffeisen-Boerenleenbank B.A. (Rabobank International), Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft, Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited, Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch, Goldman Sachs International, ING Bank N.V., Merrill Lynch International, Mizuho International plc, J.P. Morgan Securities Ltd., Nomura International plc, Royal Bank of Canada Europe Limited, The Royal Bank of Scotland plc, The Toronto-Dominion

Bank and UBS Limited.

Swiss Dealers: BNP Paribas (Suisse) SA, Credit Suisse AG, Deutsche Bank

Aktiengesellschaft, Frankfurt am Main, Zurich Branch, Goldman

Sachs Bank AG and UBS AG.

Other Dealers: Any other dealer appointed from time to time by the Issuer, either

generally in relation to the Programme or in relation to a particular Series of Notes. Any such further dealers, together with the Principal Dealers and the Swiss Dealers, are referred to as

"Dealers" in this Base Prospectus.

Issuing and Paying Agent: Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch.

U.S. Registrar and U.S. Paying

and Transfer Agent:

Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas

Non-U.S. Registrar Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A.

Non-U.S. Paying Agents and

Transfer Agents:

The Royal Bank of Scotland N.V. and Deutsche Bank Luxembourg

S.A.

Programme Amount: On 29 November 1993, the Executive Board of the Issuer, pursuant

to the authorisation of the Supervisory Board of the Issuer of 12 November 1993, resolved to set up a programme for the issuance of Notes. On 19 July 1995, the Executive Board, pursuant to the authorisation of the Supervisory Board of 28 June 1995, resolved to increase the sum of the aggregate principal amounts issued under the Programme to NLG 10,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies). On 25 March 1996, the Executive Board, pursuant to the authorisation of the Supervisory Board of 18 March 1996, resolved to increase the sum of the aggregate principal amounts issued under the Programme to NLG 20,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies). On 7 July 1997, the Executive Board, pursuant to the authorisation of the Supervisory Board of 4 July 1997, resolved to increase the sum of the aggregate principal amounts issued under the Programme to NLG 30,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies). On 10 February 1998, the Executive Board, pursuant to the authorisation of the Supervisory

Board of 19 December 1997, resolved to increase the sum of the aggregate principal amount issued under the Programme to NLG 50,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies). On 21 December 1998, the Executive Board, pursuant to the authorisation of the Supervisory Board of 18 December 1998, resolved to denominate the Programme amount in Euro and to increase the aggregate principal amount outstanding under the Programme at any time to Euro 50,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies). On 2 December 2002, the Executive Board, pursuant to the authorisation of the Supervisory Board of 29 November 2002, resolved to increase the maximum aggregate principal amount issued and outstanding under the Programme at any time to Euro 60,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies). On 1 December 2003, the Executive Board, pursuant to the authorisation of the Supervisory Board of 28 November 2003, resolved to increase the maximum aggregate principal amount issued and outstanding under the Programme at any time to Euro 70,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies). On 11 March 2008, the Executive Board, pursuant to the authorisation of the Supervisory Board of 2 December 2005, resolved to increase the maximum aggregate principal amount issued and outstanding under the Programme at any time to Euro 80,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies). On 28 June 2010, the Executive Board, pursuant to the authorisation of the Supervisory Board of 25 June 2010, resolved to update its Programme and to issue notes, which may be offered in accordance with Rule 144A and Regulation S under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended, in order to enable the Issuer to offer securities to qualified institutional buyers (as defined under Rule 144A) inside the United States and to investors outside the United States under the Programme without registration under the United States Securities Act of 1933. The Programme amount may be increased from time to time subject to the preparation of a supplemental Base Prospectus which shall be subject to the prior approval of the AFM.

Form of Notes:

Notes may be issued in bearer form or in registered form. Bearer Notes will not be exchangeable for Registered Notes and Registered Notes will not be exchangeable for Bearer Notes. No single Series or Tranche may comprise both Bearer Notes and Registered Notes.

Bearer Notes

In respect of each Tranche of Bearer Notes, unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer will deliver either a Temporary Global Note or a Permanent Global Note, in each case as specified in the relevant Final Terms. Each Global Note which is not intended to be issued in new global note form (a "Classic Global Note" or "CGN"), as specified in the relevant Final Terms, will be deposited on or around the relevant issue date with a depositary or a common depositary for Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system (including Clearstream Banking AG) and each global Note which is intended to be issued in new global note form (a "New Global Note" or "NGN"), as specified in the relevant Final Terms, will be deposited on or around the relevant issue date with a common safekeeper for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg. Such Temporary Global Note will be exchangeable for interests in a Permanent Global Note or for Definitive Notes in accordance with (i) its terms and (ii) the rules and procedures for

the time being of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other agreed clearing system. Each Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable for Definitive Notes in accordance with (i) its terms and (ii) the rules and procedures for the time being of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other agreed clearing system, at the cost and expense of the Issuer. Definitive Notes (as defined below) will be in either K-form or CF-form, as described in Condition 1 of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes below. Interest bearing Notes may have interest coupons and, if applicable, a talon for further coupons attached.

Registered Notes

Each Tranche of Registered Notes will be represented by either:

- (i) Individual Note Certificates; or
- (ii) one or more Unrestricted Global Note Certificates in the case of Regulation S Notes and/or one or more Restricted Global Note Certificates in the case of Rule 144A Notes,

in each case, as specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Each Note represented by an Unrestricted Global Note Certificate will either be: (a) in the case of a Certificate which is not to be held under the new safekeeping structure ("New Safekeeping Structure" or "NSS"), registered in the name of a common depositary (or its nominee) for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, registered in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee for DTC if such Unrestricted Global Note Certificate will be held for the benefit of Euroclear and/or Clearstream through DTC and/or any other relevant clearing system and the relevant Unrestricted Global Note Certificate will be deposited on or about the issue date with the common depositary or such other nominee or custodian; or (b) in the case of an Unrestricted Global Note Certificate to be held under the New Safekeeping Structure, be registered in the name of a common safekeeper (or its nominee) for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system and the relevant Unrestricted Global Note Certificate will be deposited on or about the issue date with the common safekeeper for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Each Note represented by a Restricted Global Note Certificate will be registered in the name of Cede & Co. (or such other entity as is specified in the applicable Final Terms) as nominee for DTC and the relevant Restricted Global Note Certificate will be deposited on or about the issue date with the DTC Custodian. Save as otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, beneficial interests in Notes represented by a Restricted Global Note Certificate may only be held through DTC at any time.

Swiss Franc Notes

Notes denominated in Swiss Francs ("Swiss Franc Notes") will be issued in bearer form and will be represented exclusively by a permanent global Note which shall be deposited with SIX SIS AG, Olten, Switzerland ("SIS"), or such other depositary as may be approved by the Admission Board of the SIX Swiss Exchange. The permanent global Note will be exchangeable for definitive Notes only if (i) Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or SIS and/or any other agreed clearing system, as applicable, has

informed the Issuer that it has or they have, as the case may be, ceased or will cease to act as the clearing system(s) in respect of the Permanent Global Note, or (ii) any of the events referred to in Condition 7 (*Events of Default*) takes place, unless such event is remedied within seven days of its occurrence but not at the request of the Holder of the Permanent Global Note, or (iii) the principal Swiss paying agent considers, after consultation with the Issuer, the printing of Definitive Notes to be necessary or useful, or (iv) the presentation of Definitive Notes and Coupons is required by Swiss or other applicable laws or regulations in connection with the enforcement of rights of Noteholders or (v) such exchange is required by the Issuer as a result of changes to the tax regime in the United States of America.

Noteholder's Direct Rights:

On the occurrence of an Event of Default, or if Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC and/or any other agreed clearing system, as applicable, cease to act as the clearing systems for the Notes, in the case of Bearer Notes, the relevant Permanent Global Note will become exchangeable for Definitive Notes or, in the case of Registered Notes, the relevant Global Note Certificate(s) will become exchangeable for Individual Note Certificates. If any Permanent Global Note or, as the case may be, Global Note Certificate is not duly exchanged, the terms of such Permanent Global Note or Global Note Certificate, as the case may be, will provide a mechanism for relevant account holders with Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC and/or any other agreed clearing system(s) to whose securities account(s) with such clearing system(s) the Notes represented by such Permanent Global Note or Global Note Certificate, as the case may be, are credited to be able to enforce rights directly against the Issuer.

Interest:

Notes may be interest-bearing and/or non-interest bearing. Interest (if any) may be at a fixed or floating rate and may vary during the lifetime of the relevant Series.

Fixed Interest Rate Notes:

Fixed rate interest will be payable in arrear on the date or dates in each year specified in the relevant Final Terms and at maturity.

Floating Rate Notes:

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest by reference to LIBOR, LIBID, LIMEAN or EURIBOR (or such other benchmark rate as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms) as adjusted for any applicable margin. Interest Periods will be agreed by the Issuer with the relevant Dealer prior to issue and specified in the relevant Final Terms. Floating Rate Notes may also have a maximum interest rate, a minimum interest rate or both.

Dual Currency Notes:

Payments (whether in respect of principal or interest and whether at maturity or otherwise) in respect of Dual Currency Notes will be made in such currencies, and based on such rates of exchange, as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Other provisions in relation to Interest Bearing Notes:

Notes may have a maximum interest rate, a minimum interest rate or both. Interest on Notes in respect of each Interest Period, as determined prior to issue by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer (if any), will be payable on such Interest Payment Dates, and will be calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction, as may be determined by the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms).

Fund Linked Notes:

Payments in respect of interest and principal on Fund Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to such fund or basket of funds

and/or formula(e) as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms. Fund Linked Notes will have a denomination of at least Euro 50.000.

Index Linked Notes:

Notes may be issued under the Programme in respect of which the Final Redemption Amount will be calculated by reference to such index and/or formula(e) as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms ("Index Linked Redemption Notes") and/or the amount of interest will be calculated by reference to such index and/or formula(e) as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms ("Index Linked Interest Notes").

Inflation Linked Notes

Notes may be issued under the Programme in respect of which the Final Redemption Amount will be calculated by reference to such inflation index and/or formula(e) as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms ("Inflation Linked Redemption Notes") and/or the amount of interest will be calculated by reference to such inflation index and/or formula(e) as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms ("Inflation Linked Interest Notes").

Swap Related Notes:

Swap Related Notes will bear interest payable on such dates and in such amounts as would have been payable by the Issuer had it entered into an interest rate swap transaction (to which a 1992 or 2002 ISDA Master Agreement and the 2000 or 2006 ISDA Definitions (as amended and supplemented from time to time) applied and having the terms set out in the relevant Final Terms) with the holder of such Notes.

Variable Coupon Amount Notes:

The Final Terms issued in respect of each issue of Variable Coupon Amount Notes will specify the basis for calculating the amounts of interest payable, which may be by reference to a stock or commodity index, a currency exchange rate or any other index or as otherwise provided in the relevant Final Terms.

Zero Coupon Notes:

Zero Coupon Notes will not bear interest other than in relation to interest due after the Maturity Date.

Redemption:

Notes may be redeemable at their Final Redemption Amount as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Other Notes:

Terms applicable to High Interest Notes, Low Interest Notes, Step-Up Notes, Step-Down Notes, Dual Currency Notes, Reverse Dual Currency Notes, Optional Dual Currency Notes and any other type of Notes which the Issuer may agree to issue under the Programme, subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, will be set out in the relevant Final Terms.

Cross Default:

None.

Negative Pledge:

The Issuer will give a negative pledge in respect of bonds, notes or other publicly issued debt securities which are (or are capable of being) traded or listed on any stock exchange, over-the-counter or similar securities market.

Events of Default:

The events of default under the Notes are as specified in Condition 7 (*Events of Default*).

Status of the Notes:

The Notes will constitute direct and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and will rank *pari passu* without any preference among themselves and with all other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer save for those preferred by

mandatory operation of law.

Currencies:

Notes may be denominated in any currency (including, without limitation, the Euro, the Japanese Yen, the New Zealand Dollar, the Pound Sterling, the Swiss Franc and the United States Dollar) subject to compliance with all applicable legal or regulatory requirements. Notes may, subject to compliance as aforesaid, be issued as Dual Currency Notes.

The relevant Final Terms may specify if redenomination is applicable in respect of Notes denominated in the currency of a member state of the European Union, as more fully set out under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes".

In addition, Notes may be redenominated by the Issuer in accordance with the Netherlands Act on Redenomination of 26 November 1998 ('Wet schuldredenominatie'). Under this law, the Issuer may, under certain conditions, redenominate Notes issued in the national currency of one of the countries of the Euro-Zone as defined in Condition 9A(e) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes into Euro without the consent of Holders.

Issuance in Series:

Notes will be issued in Series comprising one or more Tranches of Notes of that Series. The Notes of each Series will be intended to be interchangeable among themselves and will all be subject to identical terms (other than in respect of the date of issue, the issue price and the date of first payment of interest), whether as to currency, denomination, interest or maturity or otherwise. The Notes of each Tranche will all be subject to identical terms in all respects save that a Tranche may comprise Notes of different denominations.

Maturities

Any maturity, subject, in relation to specific currencies, to compliance with all applicable legal and/or regulatory and/or central bank requirements.

Denominations:

Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms, subject to compliance with all applicable legal and/or regulatory and/or central bank requirements.

Registered Notes sold in the United States to QIBs may only be sold in a minimum Specified Denomination of U.S.\$100,000 and integral multiples of U.S.\$1,000 in excess thereof (or the equivalent in another currency).

Early Redemption for Taxation Reasons:

The Issuer will be permitted to redeem the Notes (in whole, but not in part) for taxation reasons as mentioned in Condition 6(b) (*Early Redemption for Taxation Reasons*).

Optional Redemption:

If so specified in the applicable Final Terms, Notes may be redeemed before their stated maturity at the option of the Issuer (either in whole or in part) and/or the Noteholders.

Taxation:

Payments in respect of Notes will be made without withholding in respect of taxes imposed by or in the Netherlands or, if such taxes are required to be withheld, will be increased, subject to the exceptions set out in Condition 8 (*Taxation*).

Governing Law:

The Notes and all related contractual documentation will be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the Netherlands.

Ratings:

The senior outstanding public long-term debt of the Issuer is rated, AAA by Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, a division of the McGraw Hill Companies Inc., AAA by Fitch Ratings Limited and Aaa by Moody's Investors Service Limited. The Issuer has been awarded the highest individual rating by Fitch Ratings Limited, being A and the highest Bank Financial Strength Rating by Moody's Investors Service Limited, being A. Where a tranche of Notes is rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the ratings assigned to the Programme. A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency. The Programme has been rated AAA by Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, a division of the McGraw-Hill Companies Inc., AAA by Fitch Ratings Limited and Aaa by Moody's Investors Service Limited. Tranches of Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated. Where a tranche of Notes is rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the ratings assigned to the Programme.

Listing:

Each Series may be admitted to listing on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, Euronext Amsterdam by NYSE Euronext, the regulated market of Euronext Amsterdam N.V. or such other or additional stock exchange or securities market as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer, or may be unlisted.

Terms and Conditions:

The Terms and Conditions applicable to each Series will be as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer or other purchaser at or prior to the time of issuance of such Series, and will be specified in the relevant Final Terms. A form of the Final Terms is set out below. The Terms and Conditions applicable to each Series will therefore be those set out below as supplemented, modified or varied by the relevant Final Terms.

Selling Restrictions:

There are selling restrictions in relation to the United States of America, the European Economic Area, the United Kingdom, Japan, the Netherlands, Republic of Italy, Republic of France and Spain, in connection with the offer, sale or transfer of Notes. See "*Plan of Distribution*".

Bearer Notes will be issued in compliance with United States Treasury Regulations $\S1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D)$ (the "**D Rules**") unless the applicable Final Terms state that Notes are issued in compliance with United States Treasury Regulations $\S1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C)$ (the "**C Rules**").

Transfer Restrictions:

There are restrictions on the transfer of (i) Regulation S Notes prior to the expiration of the relevant distribution compliance period (as defined in Regulation S) and (ii) Rule 144A Notes. See "*Transfer Restrictions*".

FORMS OF NOTES

The Notes will either be issued as Global Notes, without interest coupons attached, or Global Note Certificates, without interest coupons attached. Bearer Notes will be issued outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S and Registered Notes may be issued outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S and/or within the United States to QIBs in reliance on Rule 144A.

Bearer Notes

Each Tranche of Bearer Notes will (unless otherwise indicated in the applicable Final Terms) be initially represented by a Temporary Global Note (or, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, a Permanent Global Note), without receipts, interest coupons or talons, which, if it is intended to be issued in CGN form, as specified in the relevant Final Terms, will be delivered to a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other agreed clearing systems and each Global Note which is intended to be issued in NGN form, as specified in the relevant Final Terms, will be deposited on or around the Issue Date of the relevant Tranche of Notes with a common safekeeper for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg.

On 13 June 2006 the European Central Bank (the "ECB") announced that Notes in NGN form are in compliance with the "Standards for the use of EU securities settlement systems in ESCB credit operations" of the central banking system for the Euro (the "Eurosystem"), provided that certain other criteria are fulfilled. At the same time the ECB also announced that arrangements for Notes in NGN form will be offered by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as of 30 June 2006 and that debt securities in global bearer form issued through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg after 31 December 2006 will only be eligible as collateral for Eurosystem operations if the NGN form is used.

Whilst any Bearer Note issued in accordance with the United States Treasury Regulation §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) (the "D Rules") is represented by a Temporary Global Note payments of principal and interest (if any) due prior to the Exchange Date (as defined below) will be made against presentation of the Temporary Global Note only to the extent that certification (in a form to be provided) to the effect that the beneficial owners of such Temporary Global Note are not U.S. persons or persons who have purchased for resale to any U.S. person, as required by U.S. Treasury regulations, has been received by the relevant clearing system(s) and the relevant clearing system(s) has or have given a like certification (based on the certifications it has or they have received) to the Issuing and Paying Agent. Any reference in this section to the relevant clearing system(s) shall mean the clearing and/or settlement system(s) specified in the applicable Final Terms.

The relevant Final Terms will also specify whether United States Treasury Regulation §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) (the "C Rules") or D Rules are applicable in relation to the Notes.

On and after the date (the "Exchange Date") which will be 40 days after the date on which the Temporary Global Note is issued, interests in the Temporary Global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge) upon request as described therein, either for interests in a Permanent Global Note without receipts, interest coupons or talons, or for Definitive Notes (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) in each case (if the Bearer Notes are subject to the D Rules) against certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership unless such certification has already been given. The holder of a Temporary Global Note will not be entitled to collect any payment of interest or principal due on or after the Exchange Date unless, upon due certification, exchange of the Temporary Global Note for an interest in a Permanent Global Note or for Definitive Bearer Notes is improperly withheld or refused.

If the relevant Final Terms specifies the form of Bearer Notes as being "Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes" and also specifies that the C Rules are applicable, then the Bearer Notes will initially be in the form of a Temporary Global Note which will be exchangeable, in whole but not in part, for Definitive Bearer Notes from 40 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes.

If the relevant Final Terms specifies the form of Bearer Notes as being "Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes" and also specifies that the D Rules are applicable, then the Bearer Notes will initially be in the form of a Temporary Global Note which will be exchangeable, in whole or in part, for Definitive Bearer Notes from 40 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of

Notes upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. Interest payments in respect of Bearer Notes cannot be collected without such certification of non-U.S. beneficial ownership.

In case of Bearer Notes which have a denomination consisting of the minimum Specified Denomination plus a higher integral multiple of another smaller amount, it is possible that the Bearer Notes may be traded in amounts that are not integral multiples of such minimum Specified Denomination. So long as such Notes are represented by a Temporary Global Note or Permanent Global Note and the relevant clearing system(s) so permit, these Bearer Notes will be tradable only in the minimum Specified Denomination increased with integral multiples of such a smaller amount, notwithstanding that Definitive Notes shall only be issued up to, but excluding, twice the minimum Specified Denomination.

Definitive Notes will be either in the standard euromarket form, in K-form (including *verzamelbewijs*) (with Coupons) and/or in CF-form (with Coupon sheets). Notes in K-form may, if applicable, have talons for further coupons attached. Notes in CF-form will have no Talons attached on issue and will be governed by the rules of the *Algemeen Obligatiekantoor van het Centrum voor Fondsenadministratie B.V.* in Amsterdam.

Payments of principal and interest (if any) on a Permanent Global Note will be made through the relevant clearing system(s) against presentation or surrender (as the case may be) of the Permanent Global Note to or to the order of any Paying Agent as its office outside the United States without any requirement for certification. A Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable in whole but not in part for Definitive Notes (i) if Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other agreed clearing system, as applicable, has informed the Issuer that it has or they have, as the case may be, ceased or will cease to act as the clearing system(s) in respect of the relevant Permanent Global Note or, (ii) if any of the events referred to in Condition 7 takes place, unless such event is remedied within seven days of its occurrence, or (iii) if so specified in the relevant Final Terms at any time at the request of the Holder of the relevant Permanent Global Note. In order to make such request the Holder must, not less than forty-five days before the date on which delivery of Definitive Notes is required, deposit the relevant Permanent Global Note with the Issuing and Paying Agent at its specified office outside the United States for the purposes of the Notes with the form of exchange notice endorsed thereon duly completed. In the event that the relevant Permanent Global Note is not, in the case of (i) or (ii) above, duly exchanged for Definitive Notes or, in the case of (iii) above, duly exchanged for Definitive Notes by 6:00 p.m. (London time) on the thirtieth day after the time at which the preconditions to such exchange are first satisfied then the terms of such Permanent Global Note provide for relevant account holders with Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and any other agreed clearing system as applicable, to be able to enforce against the Issuer all rights which they would have had if they had been holding Definitive Notes to the relevant value at the time of such event. Payments by the Issuer to the relevant account holders will be considered as payments to the relevant Noteholder and operate as full and final discharge to the Issuer in this respect.

The following legend will appear on all Global Notes, Definitive Notes and interest coupons (including talons) which are subject to TEFRA D selling restrictions:

"Any United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitation under the United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986."

The sections referred to provide that United States holders, with certain exceptions, will not be entitled to deduct any loss on Bearer Notes or interest coupons and will not be entitled to capital gains treatment of any gain on any sale, disposition, redemption or payment of principal in respect of Bearer Notes or interest coupons.

A Bearer Note may be accelerated by the Holder thereof in certain circumstances described in Condition 7 of the Notes. In such circumstances, where any Note is still represented by a Global Note and a holder of an interest in such Note so represented and credited to his account with the relevant clearing system(s) gives notice that it wishes to accelerate such Note, unless within a period of 15 days from the giving of such notice payment has been made in full of the amount due in accordance with the terms of such Global Note, holders of interests in such Global Note credited to their accounts with the relevant clearing system(s) will become entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer on the basis of statements of account provided by the relevant clearing system(s) on and subject to the terms of the relevant Global Note.

Notes which are represented by a Global Note will be transferable only in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or another relevant clearing system as specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Registered Notes

Registered Notes will be represented by either:

- (i) Individual Note Certificates; or
- one or more Unrestricted Global Note Certificate(s) in the case of Regulation S Notes and/or one or more Restricted Global Note Certificate(s) in the case of Rule 144A Notes,

in each case as specified in the relevant Final Terms, and references in this Base Prospectus to "Global Note Certificates" shall be construed as a reference to Unrestricted Global Note Certificates and/or Restricted Global Note Certificates.

In a press release dated 22 October 2008, "Evolution of the custody arrangement for international debt securities and their eligibility in Eurosystem credit operations", the ECB announced that it had assessed the new holding structure and custody arrangements for registered notes which the ICSDs had designed in cooperation with market participants and that Notes to be held under the new structure (the "New Safekeeping Structure" or "NSS") would be in compliance with the "Standards for the use of EU securities settlement systems in ESCB credit operations" of the Eurosystem, subject to the conclusion of the necessary legal and contractual arrangements. The press release also stated that the new arrangements for Notes to be held in NSS form will be offered by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as of 30 June 2010 and that registered debt securities in global registered form held issued through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg after 30 September 2010 will only be eligible as collateral in Eurosystem operations if the New Safekeeping Structure is used.

Each Note represented by an Unrestricted Global Note Certificate will either be: (a) in the case of a Certificate which is not to be held under the New Safekeeping Structure, registered in the name of a common depositary (or its nominee) for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, registered in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee for DTC if such Unrestricted Global Note Certificate will be held for the benefit of Euroclear and/or Clearstream through DTC and/or any other relevant clearing system and the relevant Unrestricted Global Note Certificate will be deposited on or about the issue date with the common depositary or such other nominee or custodian; or (b) in the case of an Unrestricted Global Note Certificate to be held under the New Safekeeping Structure, be registered in the name of a common safekeeper (or its nominee) for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system and the relevant Unrestricted Global Note Certificate will be deposited on or about the issue date with the common safekeeper for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Each Note represented by a Restricted Global Note Certificate will be registered in the name of Cede & Co. (or such other entity as is specified in the applicable Final Terms) as nominee for DTC and the relevant Restricted Global Note Certificate will be deposited on or about the issue date with the custodian for DTC (the "DTC Custodian"). Save as otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, beneficial interests in Notes represented by a Restricted Global Note Certificate may only be held through DTC at any time.

If the relevant Final Terms specifies the form of Notes as being "Individual Note Certificates", then the Notes will at all times be represented by Individual Note Certificates issued to each Noteholder in respect of their respective holdings.

If the relevant Final Terms specifies the form of Notes as being "Global Note Certificate exchangeable for Individual Note Certificates", then the Notes will initially be represented by one or more Global Note Certificates each of which will be exchangeable in whole, but not in part, for Individual Note Certificates:

- (i) on the expiry of such period of notice as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms; or
- (ii) at any time, if so specified in the relevant Final Terms; or
- (iii) if the relevant Final Terms specifies "in the limited circumstances described in the Global Note Certificate", then:

- (a) in the case of any Global Note Certificate held by or on behalf of DTC, if DTC notifies the Issuer that it is no longer willing or able to discharge properly its responsibilities as depositary with respect to the Global Note Certificate or DTC ceases to be a "clearing agency" registered under the Exchange Act or if at any time DTC is no longer eligible to act as such, and the relevant Issuer is unable to locate a qualified successor within 90 days of receiving notice or becoming aware of such ineligibility on the part of DTC;
- (b) in the case of any Global Note Certificate held by or on behalf of Euroclear, Clearstream Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system, if Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of legal holidays) or announces an intention permanently to cease business; and
- in any case, if any of the circumstances described in Condition 7 occurs.

Whenever a Global Note Certificate is to be exchanged for Individual Note Certificates, each person having an interest in a Global Note Certificate must provide the relevant Registrar (through the relevant clearing system) with such information as the Issuer and the relevant Registrar may require to complete and deliver Individual Note Certificates (including the name and address of each person in which the Notes represented by the Individual Note Certificates are to be registered and the principal amount of each such person's holding). In addition, whenever a Restricted Global Note Certificate is to be exchanged for Individual Note Certificates, each person having an interest in the Restricted Global Note Certificate must provide the relevant Registrar (through the relevant clearing system) with a certificate given by or on behalf of the holder of each beneficial interest in the Restricted Global Note Certificate stating either (i) that such holder is not transferring its interest at the time of such exchange or (ii) that the transfer or exchange of such interest has been made in compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable to the Notes and that the person transferring such interest reasonably believes that the person acquiring such interest is a QIB and is obtaining such beneficial interest in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A. Individual Note Certificates issued in exchange for interests in the Restricted Global Note Certificate will bear the legends and be subject to the transfer restrictions set out under "Transfer Restrictions".

Whenever a Global Note Certificate is to be exchanged for Individual Note Certificates, the Issuer shall procure that Individual Note Certificates will be issued in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Global Note Certificate within five business days of the delivery, by or on behalf of the registered holder of the Global Note Certificate to the relevant Registrar of such information as is required to complete and deliver such Individual Note Certificates against the surrender of the Global Note Certificate at the specified office of the relevant Registrar.

Such exchange will be effected in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed and the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement and the regulations concerning the transfer and registration of Notes scheduled to the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement and, in particular, shall be effected without charge to any holder, but against such indemnity as the relevant Registrar may require in respect of any tax or other duty of whatsoever nature which may be levied or imposed in connection with such exchange.

The terms and conditions applicable to any Individual Note Certificate will be endorsed on that Individual Note Certificate and will consist of the Conditions and the provisions of the relevant Final Terms which supplement, amend and/or replace the Conditions.

Summary of Provisions relating to the Notes while in Global Form

Clearing System Accountholders

In relation to any Tranche of Notes represented by a Global Note, references in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes to "Noteholder" are references to the bearer of the relevant Global Note which, for so long as the Global Note is held by a depositary or a common depositary, in the case of a CGN, or a common safekeeper, in the case of an NGN for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system, will be that depositary or common depositary or, as the case may be, common safekeeper.

In relation to any Tranche of Notes represented by one or more Global Note Certificates, references in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes to "Noteholder" are references to the person in whose name the

relevant Global Note Certificate is for the time being registered in the Register which (a) in the case of a Restricted Global Note Certificate held by or on behalf of DTC, will be Cede & Co. (or such other entity as is specified in the applicable Final Terms) as nominee for DTC; and (b) in the case of any Unrestricted Global Note Certificate which is held by or on behalf of a depositary or a common depositary or a common safekeeper for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system, will be that depositary or common depositary or common safekeeper or a nominee for that depositary or common safekeeper.

Each of the persons shown in the records of DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system as being entitled to an interest in a Global Note or a Global Note Certificate (each an "Accountholder") must look solely to DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or such other relevant clearing system (as the case may be) for such Accountholder's share of each payment made by the Issuer to the holder of such Global Note or Global Note Certificate and in relation to all other rights arising under such Global Note or Global Note Certificate. The extent to which, and the manner in which, Accountholders may exercise any rights arising under a Global Note or Global Note Certificate will be determined by the respective rules and procedures of DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and any other relevant clearing system from time to time. For so long as the relevant Notes are represented by a Global Note or Global Note Certificate, Accountholders shall have no claim directly against the Issuer in respect of payments due under the Notes and such obligations of the Issuer will be discharged by payment to the holder of such Global Note or Global Note Certificate.

Transfers of Interests in Global Notes and Global Note Certificates

Transfers of interests in Global Notes and Global Note Certificates within DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system will be in accordance with their respective rules and operating procedures. None of the Issuer, the Registrars, the Dealers or the Agents will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records of any DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system or any of their respective participants relating to payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests in a Global Note or Global Note Certificate or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any of the records of DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system or the records of their respective participants relating to such beneficial ownership interests.

The laws of some states of the United States require that certain persons receive individual certificates in respect of their holdings of Notes. Consequently, the ability to transfer interests in a Global Note Certificate to such persons will be limited. Because clearing systems only act on behalf of participants, who in turn act on behalf of indirect participants, the ability of a person having an interest in a Global Note Certificate to pledge such interest to persons or entities which do not participate in the relevant clearing systems, or otherwise take actions in respect of such interest, may be affected by the lack of an Individual Note Certificate representing such interest.

Subject to compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable to the Registered Notes described under "Transfer Restrictions", transfers between DTC participants, on the one hand, and Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg accountholders, on the other will be effected by the relevant clearing systems in accordance with their respective rules and through action taken by the DTC Custodian, the relevant Registrar and the Issuing and Paying Agent.

On or after the issue date for any Series, transfers of Notes of such Series between accountholders in Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and transfers of Notes of such Series between participants in DTC will generally have a settlement date three business days after the trade date (T+3). The customary arrangements for delivery versus payment will apply to such transfers.

Transfers between DTC participants, on the one hand, and Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg accountholders, on the other will need to have an agreed settlement date between the parties to such transfer. Because there is no direct link between DTC, on the one hand, and Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, on the other, transfers of interests in the relevant Global Note Certificates will be effected through the Issuing and Paying Agent, the DTC Custodian, the relevant Registrar and any applicable Transfer Agent receiving instructions (and where appropriate certification) from the transferor and arranging for delivery of the interests being transferred to the credit of the designated account for the transferee. Transfers will be effected on the later of (i) three business days after the trade date for the disposal of the interest in the relevant Global Note Certificate resulting in such transfer and (ii) two

business days after receipt by the Issuing and Paying Agent or the relevant Registrar, as the case may be, of the necessary certification or information to effect such transfer. In the case of cross-market transfers, settlement between Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg accountholders and DTC participants cannot be made on a delivery versus payment basis. The securities will be delivered on a free delivery basis and arrangements for payment must be made separately. The customary arrangements for delivery versus payment between Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg account holders or between DTC participants are not affected.

For a further description of restrictions on the transfer of Notes, see "Plan of Distribution" and "Transfer Restrictions".

Upon the issue of a Restricted Global Note Certificate to be held by or on behalf of DTC, DTC or the DTC Custodian will credit the respective nominal amounts of the individual beneficial interests represented by such Global Note Certificate to the account of DTC participants. Ownership of beneficial interests in such Global Note Certificate will be held through participants of DTC, including the respective depositaries of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Ownership of beneficial interests in such Global Note Certificate will be shown on, and the transfer of such ownership will be effected only through, records maintained by DTC or its nominee. DTC has advised the Issuer that it will take any action permitted to be taken by a holder of Registered Notes represented by a Global Note Certificate held by or on behalf of DTC (including, without limitation, the presentation of such Global Note Certificates for exchange as described above) only at the direction of one or more participants in whose account with DTC interests in such Global Note Certificate are credited, and only in respect of such portion of the aggregate nominal amount of such Global Note Certificate as to which such participant or participants has or have given such direction. However, in certain circumstances, DTC will exchange the relevant Global Note Certificate for Individual Note Certificates (which will bear the relevant legends set out in "Transfer Restrictions").

Although DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg have agreed to the foregoing procedures in order to facilitate transfers of interests in the Global Note Certificates among participants and account holders of DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, they are under no obligation to perform or continue to perform such procedures, and such procedures may be discontinued at any time. None of the Issuer, the Registrars, the Dealers or the Agents will have any responsibility for the performance by DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or their respective direct or indirect participants or account holders of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their respective operations.

While a Global Note Certificate is lodged with DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any relevant clearing system, Individual Note Certificates for the relevant Series of Notes will not be eligible for clearing and settlement through such clearing systems.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following is the text of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes which (subject to completion and amendment) will be attached to or incorporated by reference into each Global Note and each Global Note Certificate and which will be attached to or endorsed upon each definitive Note in K-form and will be applicable to each definitive Note in CF—form and each Individual Note Certificate, provided that the relevant Final Terms in relation to any Series of Notes may specify other Terms and Conditions which shall, to the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with these Terms and Conditions, replace the following Terms and Conditions for the purposes of such Series of Notes. The applicable Final Terms will be endorsed or incorporated by reference into or attached to each Global Note, each Global Note Certificate and definitive Note in K-form and will be applicable to each definitive Note in CF—form and each Individual Note Certificate.

The Notes are issued in accordance with an issuing and paying agency agreement (the "Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement"), (which expression shall include any amendments or supplements thereto) dated 7 December 1993 and most recently amended and restated on 12 August 2010 and made between N.V. Bank Nederlandse Gemeenten (the "Issuer"), Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch (Winchester House, 1 Great Winchester Street, London EC2N 2DB, England), in its capacity as issuing and paying agent (the "Issuing and Paying Agent"), which expression shall include any successor to Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch in its capacity as such), Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas as U.S. registrar (the "U.S. Registrar", which expression shall include any successor U.S. registrar appointed from time to time in connection with the Notes), Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A. as non-U.S. registrar (the "Non-U.S. Registrar", which expression shall include any successor non-U.S. registrar appointed from time to time in connection with the Notes, and together with the U.S. Registrar, the "Registrars" and each a "Registrar"), the paying agents named therein (the "Paying Agents", which expression shall include the Issuing and Paying Agent and any substitute or additional paying agents appointed in accordance with the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement) and the transfer agents named therein (together with the Registrars, the "Transfer Agents", which expression shall include any successor or additional transfer agents appointed from time to time in connection with the Notes). In these Conditions references to the "Agents" are to the Paying Agents and the Transfer Agents and any reference to an "Agent" is to any one of them. A copy of the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement is available for inspection at the specified office of each of the Paying Agents. All persons from time to time entitled to the benefit of obligations under any Notes shall be deemed to have notice of and to be bound by all of the provisions of the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement insofar as they relate to the relevant Notes.

For the purposes of Notes denominated in Swiss Francs (the "Swiss Franc Notes"), the Issuer will, together with the Issuing and Paying Agent and the Swiss paying agent specified in the Final Terms relating to the relevant issue of Notes as principal Swiss paying agent (the "Principal Swiss Paying Agent"), enter into a supplemental issuing and paying agency agreement. In addition, all references in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes to the "Issuing and Paying Agent" and the "Paying Agents" shall, so far as the context permits, be construed as references only to the relevant Swiss paying agents, as set out in paragraph 9 of Part B of the Final Terms and references in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes to "Euroclear" and/or "Clearstream, Luxembourg" shall be construed as including references to SIX SIS AG, the Swiss Securities Services Corporation in Olten, Switzerland ("SIS") which expression shall include any other clearing institution recognised by the SIX Swiss Exchange with which the Permanent Global Note may be deposited from time to time), which shall be considered an additional or alternative clearing system for the purposes of the final paragraph of Condition 1(c) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

The Notes are issued in series (each a "Series"), and each Series will be the subject of the final terms (each the "Final Terms") prepared by or on behalf of the Issuer, a copy of which will be available free of charge at the specified office of each of the Paying Agents and:

- (i) a copy of which will, in the case of a Series in relation to which application has been made for admission to the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, be lodged with the Luxembourg Stock Exchange; or
- (ii) a copy of which will, in the case of a Series in relation to which application has been made for admission to Euronext Amsterdam by NYSE Euronext, the regulated market of Euronext Amsterdam N.V. ("Euronext Amsterdam"), be lodged with Euronext Amsterdam N.V.; or

(iii) a copy of which will, in the case of a Series in relation to which application has not been made for admission to any such listing, be attached to or incorporated by reference into each Note of such Series.

1. FORM AND DENOMINATION

- The Notes may be issued in bearer form ("Bearer Notes") or in registered form ("Registered (a) Notes"). Bearer Notes will not be exchangeable for Registered Notes and Registered Notes will not be exchangeable for Bearer Notes. No single series or Tranche may comprise both Bearer Notes and Registered Notes. A Note may be a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note, a Dual Currency Note, an Index Linked Note, an Inflation Linked Note, a Fund Linked Note, a Zero Coupon Note, a Variable Coupon Amount Note, a High Interest Note, a Low Interest Note, a Step-up Note or a Step-down Note depending upon the Interest Basis shown on its face, and a Fixed Redemption Amount Note or a Variable Redemption Amount Note (which shall be redeemable at their Final Redemption Amount as specified in the Final Terms) depending on the Redemption Basis shown on its face. All payments in respect of such Note shall, without prejudice to Article 8.1 of Council Regulation no. 974/98 of 3 May 1998, be made in the currency shown on its face unless it is stated on its face to be a Dual Currency Note (which for the purposes of these Terms and Conditions shall include Reverse Dual Currency Notes, Optional Dual Currency Notes and any other Note in respect of which payments shall, or may at the option of the Issuer or any holder, be made in more than one currency) or a Note where Condition 9A has been applied, in which case payments shall be made on the basis stated in the relevant Final Terms.
- (b) Notes may be denominated in any currency (including, without limitation, the Australian Dollar, the Euro, the Japanese Yen, the New Zealand Dollar, the Pound Sterling, the Swiss Franc and the United States Dollar) subject to compliance with all applicable legal or regulatory requirements.

Bearer Notes

Paragraphs (c) to (j) of this Condition 1 shall apply to Bearer Notes only.

- Unless otherwise specified in the Final Terms, Bearer Notes will be represented upon issue by a temporary global note (a "Temporary Global Note") in substantially the form (subject to amendment and completion) scheduled to the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement. On or after the date (the "Exchange Date") which will be 40 days after the original issue date of the Notes of the relevant Series and provided certification as to the beneficial ownership thereof as required by US Treasury regulations (in the form set out in the Temporary Global Note) has been received, interests in the Temporary Global Note may be exchanged for:
 - (i) interests in a permanent global note (a "**Permanent Global Note**") representing the Notes in that Series of Bearer Notes and in substantially the form (subject to amendment and completion) scheduled to the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement; or
 - (ii) if so specified in the relevant Final Terms, definitive Bearer Notes ("**Definitive Notes**") in substantially the form (subject to amendment and completion) scheduled to the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement.
- (d) If any date on which a payment of interest is due on the Bearer Notes of a Series occurs whilst any of the Notes of that Series are represented by the Temporary Global Note, the related interest payment will be made on the Temporary Global Note only to the extent that certification as to the beneficial ownership thereof as required by US Treasury regulations (in the form set out in the Temporary Global Note) has been received by Euroclear Bank SA/NV, as operator of the Euroclear System ("Euroclear") or Clearstream Banking, société anonyme, Luxembourg ("Clearstream, Luxembourg") or any other agreed clearing system, as applicable. Payments of principal or interest (if any) on a Permanent Global Note will be made without any requirement for certification. References to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg shall, whenever the context so permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing system specified in the applicable Final Terms.

- (e) The Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable in whole but not in part for Definitive Notes (i) if Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other agreed clearing system, as applicable, has informed the Issuer that it has or they have, as the case may be, ceased or will cease to act as the clearing system(s) in respect of the relevant Permanent Global Note or, (ii) if any of the events referred to in Condition 7 takes place, unless such event is remedied within seven days of its occurrence, or (iii) if so specified in the relevant Final Terms at any time at the request of the Holder of the relevant Permanent Global Note. In order to make such request the Holder must, not less than forty-five days before the date on which delivery of Definitive Notes is required, deposit the relevant Permanent Global Note with the Issuing and Paying Agent at its specified office for the purposes of the Notes with the form of exchange notice endorsed thereon duly completed. In the event that the relevant Permanent Global Note is not, in the case of (i) or (ii) above, duly exchanged for Definitive Notes or, in the case of (iii) above, duly exchanged for Definitive Notes by 6:00 p.m. (London time) on the thirtieth day after the time at which the preconditions to such exchange are first satisfied then the terms of such Permanent Global Note provide for relevant account holders (which, for purposes hereof, shall be deemed to be the Holder of the relevant Note as referred to in Condition 7 below) with Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and any other agreed clearing system as applicable, to be able to enforce against the Issuer all rights which they would have had if they had been holding Definitive Notes to the relevant value at the time of such event. Payments by the Issuer to the relevant account holders will be considered as payments to the relevant Noteholder and operate as full and final discharge to the Issuer in this respect.
- (f) If so specified in the Final Terms, the Bearer Notes may be represented upon issue by one or more Permanent Global Notes.
- Swiss Franc Notes will be represented exclusively by a Permanent Global Note which shall be deposited with SIS. The Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable for Definitive Notes only if (i) Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or SIS and/or any other agreed clearing system, as applicable, has informed the Issuer that it has or they have, as the case may be, ceased or will cease to act as the clearing system(s) in respect of the Permanent Global Note, or (ii) any of the events referred to in Condition 7 (*Events of Default*) takes place, unless such event is remedied within seven days of its occurrence but not at the request of the Holder of the Permanent Global Note, or (iii) the principal Swiss paying agent considers, after consultation with the Issuer, the printing of Definitive Notes to be necessary or useful, or (iv) the presentation of Definitive Notes and Coupons is required by Swiss or other applicable laws or regulations in connection with the enforcement of rights of noteholders, or (v) such exchange is required by the Issuer as a result of changes to the tax regime in the United States of America. Holders of Swiss Franc Notes will not have the right to request delivery of definitive notes.
- (h) Interest-bearing Definitive Notes will, if so specified in the relevant Final Terms, have attached thereto at the time of their initial delivery coupons ("Coupons"), presentation of which will be a prerequisite to the payment of interest in certain circumstances specified below. Definitive Notes will be either in K-form (with Coupons) and/or in CF-form (with Coupon sheets). Definitive Notes and Global Notes will be bearer instruments. Notes in K-form may, if applicable, have talons ("Talons") for further Coupons attached, but will not be issued with receipts ("Receipts") attached. Notes in CF-form will have neither Talons nor Receipts attached on issue and will be governed by the rules of the 'Algemeen Obligatiekantoor van het Centrum voor Fondsenadministratie B.V.' in Amsterdam. References in these Terms and Conditions to "Coupons" will include references to "Coupon Sheets".
- (i) Bearer Notes will be in the denomination or denominations (each of which denominations must be integrally divisible by each smaller denomination) specified in the relevant Final Terms ("Specified Denomination"). Bearer Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms, subject to compliance with all applicable legal and/or regulatory and/or central bank requirements. Bearer Notes of one denomination will not be exchangeable after their initial delivery for Bearer Notes of any other denomination.
- (j) For the purposes of these Terms and Conditions, references to Notes shall, as the context may require, be deemed to be to Temporary Global Notes, Permanent Global Notes, interests in Temporary Global Notes, interests in Permanent Global Notes or, as the case may be, Definitive Notes.

Registered Notes

Paragraphs (k) to (m) of this Condition 1 shall apply to Registered Notes only.

- (k) Each Tranche of Registered Notes will be represented by either:
 - (i) individual Note Certificates in registered form ("Individual Note Certificates"); or
 - (ii) one or more global note certificates (each a "Global Note Certificate"),

in each case as specified in the relevant Final Terms.

- (I) If the relevant Final Terms specifies the form of Notes as being "Global Note Certificate exchangeable for Individual Note Certificates", then the Notes will initially be represented by one or more Global Note Certificates each of which will be exchangeable in whole, but not in part, for Individual Note Certificates:
 - (i) on the expiry of such period of notice as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms; or
 - (ii) at any time, if so specified in the relevant Final Terms; or
 - (iii) if the relevant Final Terms specifies "in the limited circumstances described in the Global Note Certificate", then:
 - (A) in the case of any Global Note Certificate held by or on behalf of The Depositary Trust Company ("DTC"), if DTC notifies the Issuer that it is no longer willing or able to discharge properly its responsibilities as depositary with respect to the Global Note Certificate or DTC ceases to be a "clearing agency" registered under the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended or if at any time DTC is no longer eligible to act as such, and the Issuer is unable to locate a qualified successor within 90 days of receiving notice or becoming aware of such ineligibility on the part of DTC;
 - (B) in the case of any Global Note Certificate held by or on behalf of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system, if Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of legal holidays) or announces an intention permanently to cease business; and
 - (C) in any case, if any of the circumstances described in Condition 7(*Events of Default*) occurs.
- (m) Registered Notes will be in such Specified Denomination(s), specified in the relevant Final Terms and which may include a minimum denomination specified in the relevant Final Terms and higher integral multiples of a smaller amount specified in the relevant Final Terms.

2. TITLE AND TRANSFER

(a) The Holder (as defined below) of any Note or Coupon shall (except as otherwise required by law) be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes (whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or any other interest therein, any writing thereon or, in the case of Registered Notes, on the Note Certificate relating thereto (other than the endorsed form of transfer) or any notice of any previous loss or theft thereof) and no person shall be liable for so treating such Holder.

Bearer Notes

Paragraph (b) of this Condition 2 shall apply to Bearer Notes only.

(b) Subject as set out below, title to Bearer Notes and Coupons passes *inter alia* by delivery. In the case of Bearer Notes, references herein to the "Holders" of Notes or of Coupons or "Noteholders" or "Couponholders" signify the bearers of such Notes or such Coupons.

Registered Notes

Paragraphs (c) to (i) of this Condition 2 shall apply to Registered Notes only.

- A Registrar will maintain a register (the "Register") in respect of each Series of Registered Notes in accordance with the provisions of the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement. A certificate (each, a "Note Certificate") will be issued to each Holder of Registered Notes in respect of its registered holding. Each Note Certificate will be numbered serially with an identifying number which will be recorded in the Register. In the case of Registered Notes, "Holder" means the person in whose name such Registered Note is for the time being registered in the Register (or, in the case of a joint holding, the first named thereof) and "Noteholder" shall be construed accordingly.
- (d) Transfers of beneficial interests in Global Note Certificates will be effected by Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC, as the case may be, and in turn, by other participants and, if appropriate, indirect participants in such clearing systems acting on behalf of beneficial transferors and transferees of such interests. A beneficial interest in a Global Note Certificate will, subject to compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory restrictions, be exchangeable for Individual Note Certificates or for a beneficial interest in another Global Note Certificate only in the authorised denominations set out in the applicable Final Terms and only in accordance with the rules and operating procedures for the time being of DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, and in accordance with the terms and conditions specified in the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement.
- (e) Subject to paragraphs (h) and (i) of this Condition 2, Registered Notes represented by an Individual Note Certificate may be transferred upon surrender of the relevant Individual Note Certificate, with the endorsed form of transfer duly completed, at the Specified Office of the relevant Registrar or any Transfer Agent, together with such evidence as such Registrar or (as the case may be) such Transfer Agent may reasonably require to prove the title of the transferor and the authority of the individuals who have executed the form of transfer; provided, however, that a Registered Note may not be transferred unless the principal amount of Registered Notes transferred and (where not all of the Registered Notes held by a Holder are being transferred) the principal amount of the balance of Registered Notes not transferred are Specified Denominations. Where not all the Registered Notes represented by the surrendered Individual Note Certificate are the subject of the transfer, a new Individual Note Certificate in respect of the balance of the Registered Notes will be issued to the transferor.
- (f) Within five business days of the surrender of a Note Certificate in accordance with paragraph (e) of this Condition 2, the relevant Registrar will register the transfer in question and deliver a new Note Certificate of a like principal amount to the Registered Notes transferred to each relevant Holder at its Specified Office or (as the case may be) the Specified Office of any Transfer Agent or (at the request and risk of any such relevant Holder) by uninsured first class mail (airmail if overseas) to the address specified for the purpose by such relevant Holder. In this paragraph, "business day" means a day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign currencies) in the city where the relevant Registrar or (as the case may be) the relevant Transfer Agent has its Specified Office.
- (g) The transfer of a Registered Note will be effected without charge by or on behalf of the Issuer or either Registrar or any Transfer Agent but against such indemnity as the relevant Registrar or (as the case may be) such Transfer Agent may require in respect of any tax or other duty of whatsoever nature which may be levied or imposed in connection with such transfer.
- (h) Noteholders may not require transfers to be registered during the period of 15 days ending on the due date for any payment of principal or interest in respect of the Registered Notes.
- (i) All transfers of Registered Notes and entries on the Register are subject to the detailed regulations concerning the transfer of Registered Notes scheduled to the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement. The regulations may be changed by the Issuer with the prior written approval of the relevant Registrar. A copy of the current regulations will be mailed (free of charge) by the relevant Registrar to any Noteholder who requests in writing a copy of such regulations.

3. STATUS

The Notes of each Series constitute direct and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and rank *pari* passu without any preference among themselves and with all other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer save for those preferred by mandatory operation of law.

4. **NEGATIVE PLEDGE**

So long as any Notes remain outstanding the Issuer will not secure any other loan or indebtedness represented by bonds, notes or any other publicly issued debt securities which are, or are capable of being, traded or listed on any stock exchange or over-the-counter or similar securities market without securing the Notes equally and rateably with such other loan or indebtedness.

5. **INTEREST**

Notes may be interest-bearing or non-interest-bearing, as specified in the relevant Final Terms. The Final Terms in relation to each Series of interest-bearing Notes shall specify which one (and one only) of Conditions 5A, 5B, 5C, 5D or 5E shall be applicable, provided that Condition 5F will be applicable as specified therein and save to the extent inconsistent with the relevant Final Terms.

5A. Interest Rate – Fixed Rate

Notes in relation to which this Condition 5A is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable shall bear interest from their Issue Date (as specified in the relevant Final Terms) at the rate or rates per annum specified in the relevant Final Terms. Such interest will be payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date as specified in the relevant Final Terms and on the date of final maturity thereof. Each Note will cease to bear interest from the due date for final redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment of the redemption amount is improperly withheld or refused, in which case it will continue to bear interest in accordance with this Condition 5 (as well after as before judgment) until whichever is the earlier of (i) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the day which is seven days after the Issuing and Paying Agent has notified the Noteholders that it has received all sums due in respect of the Notes up to such seventh day (except to the extent that there is any subsequent default in payment).

Fixed Coupon Amount: The amount of interest payable in respect of each Note for any Interest Period shall be the relevant Fixed Coupon Amount and, if the Notes are in more than one Specified Denomination, shall be the relevant Fixed Coupon Amount in respect of the relevant Calculation Amount.

Calculation of interest amount: The amount of interest payable in respect of each Note for any period for which a Fixed Coupon Amount is not specified shall be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest to the Calculation Amount in respect of such Note, multiplying the product by the relevant Day Count Fraction and rounding the resulting figure to the nearest sub-unit of the Specified Currency (half a sub-unit being rounded upwards) and multiplying such rounded figure by a fraction equal to the Specified Denomination of the relevant Note divided by the Calculation Amount. For this purpose a "sub-unit" means, in the case of any currency other than Euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, in the case of Euro, means one cent.

5B. Interest Rate on Floating Rate Notes, Index Linked Notes, Inflation Linked Notes, and Fund Linked Notes

- 5B.(1) Interest on Floating Rate Notes, Index Linked Notes, Inflation Linked Notes and Fund Linked Notes in relation to which this Condition 5B is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable shall bear interest at the rates per annum determined in accordance with this Condition 5B
- 5B.(2) Such Notes shall bear interest from their Issue Date (as specified in the relevant Final Terms). Such interest will be payable on each Interest Payment Date. Each Note will cease to bear interest from the due date for final redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment of the redemption amount is improperly withheld or refused, in which case it will continue to bear interest in

accordance with this Condition (as well after as before judgment) until whichever is the earlier of (i) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the day which is seven days after the Issuing and Paying Agent has notified the Noteholders that it has received all sums due in respect of the Notes up to such seventh day (except to the extent that there is any subsequent default in payment).

- 5B.(3) The Final Terms in relation to each Series of Notes in relation to which this Condition 5B is specified as being applicable shall specify which page (the "Relevant Screen Page") on the Reuters Screen or Telerate or any other information vending service shall be applicable. For these purposes, "Reuters Screen" means the Reuter Money Market Rates Services and "Telerate" means the Bridge's Telerate Service (or such other service as may be nominated as the information vendor for the purpose of displaying comparable rates in succession thereto).
- 5B.(4) The rate of interest (the "**Rate of Interest**") applicable to such Notes for each Interest Period shall be determined by the Issuing and Paying Agent on the following basis:
 - the Issuing and Paying Agent will determine the rate for deposits (or, as the case may require, the arithmetic mean (rounded, if necessary, to the nearest ten thousandths of a percentage point, 0.00005 being rounded upwards) of the rates for deposits) in the relevant currency for a period of the duration of the relevant Interest Period on the Relevant Screen Page as of 11:00 am (London time) on the second day on which commercial banks are open for general business in London (a "London Banking Day") (or, in the case of Notes denominated in Euro as of 11:00 am (Brussels time), on the second TARGET Business Day (as defined in Condition 9)) before (or, in the case of Notes denominated in Pounds Sterling, on) the first day of the relevant Interest Period (the "Interest Determination Date");
 - (ii) if no such rate for deposits so appears and there is no designated successor screen page on which such rate or any successor rate appears (or, as the case may require, if fewer than two such rates for deposits so appear), the Issuing and Paying Agent will request appropriate quotations and will determine the arithmetic mean (rounded as aforesaid) of the rates at which deposits in the relevant currency are offered by four major banks in the London interbank market, or otherwise as set out in the relevant Final Terms selected by the Issuing and Paying Agent and agreed with the Issuer at approximately 11:00 am (London time) on the Interest Determination Date to prime banks in the London interbank market or otherwise as set out in the relevant Final Terms for a period of the duration of the relevant Interest Period and in an amount that is representative for a single transaction in the relevant market at the relevant time; and
 - (iii) if fewer than two rates are so quoted, the Issuing and Paying Agent will determine the arithmetic mean (rounded as aforesaid) of the rates quoted by major banks in the Relevant Financial Centre (as defined in Condition 9), selected by the Issuing and Paying Agent and agreed with the Issuer at approximately 11:00 am (Relevant Financial Centre time) on the first day of the relevant Interest Period for loans in the relevant currency to leading European banks or otherwise as set out in the relevant Final Terms for a period of the duration of the relevant Interest Period and in an amount that is representative for a single transaction in the relevant market at the relevant time,

and the Rate of Interest applicable to such Notes during each Interest Period will be the sum of the relevant margin (the "**Relevant Margin**") specified in the relevant Final Terms and the rate (or, as the case may be, the arithmetic mean (rounded as aforesaid)) so determined (the "**Floating Rate**") provided that, if the Issuing and Paying Agent is unable to determine a rate (or, as the case may be, an arithmetic mean) in accordance with the above provisions in relation to any Interest Period, the Rate of Interest applicable to such Notes during such Interest Period will be the sum of the Relevant Margin and the rate (or, as the case may be, the arithmetic mean (rounded as aforesaid)) last determined in relation to such Notes in respect of the preceding Interest Period.

5B.(5) The Issuing and Paying Agent will, as soon as practicable after determining the Rate of Interest in relation to each Interest Period, calculate the amount of interest (the "Interest Amount")

payable in respect of the Calculation Amount in respect of such Notes specified in the relevant Final Terms for the relevant Interest Period. The Interest Amount will be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period to such Calculation Amount, multiplying the product by the relevant Day Count Fraction and rounding the resulting figure to the nearest sub-unit of the Specified Currency (half a sub-unit being rounded upwards) and multiplying such rounded figure by a fraction equal to the Specified Denomination of the relevant Note divided by the Calculation Amount. For this purpose a "sub-unit" means, in the case of any currency other than Euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, in the case of Euro, means one cent.

5C. Interest on Dual Currency Interest Notes

In the case of Dual Currency Interest Notes, if the rate or amount of interest falls to be determined by reference to an exchange rate, the rate or amount of interest payable shall be determined in the manner specified in the applicable Final Terms.

5D. Interest Rate – Swap-Related (ISDA)

- 5D.(1) Notes in relation to which this Condition 5D is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable shall bear interest at the rates per annum determined in accordance with this Condition 5D
- 5D.(2) Each such Note shall bear interest from its Issue Date (as specified in the relevant Final Terms). Such interest will be payable on such dates and in such amounts as would have been payable (regardless of any event of default or termination event thereunder) by the Issuer had it entered into a swap transaction (to which a

1992 or 2002 ISDA Master Agreement and the 2000 or 2006 ISDA Definitions (as amended and supplemented from time to time), each as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., applied) with the Holder of such Notes under which:

- the Issuer was the Fixed Rate Payer or, as the case may be, the Floating Rate Payer;
- the Issuing and Paying Agent was the Calculation Agent (or such other agent specified in the relevant Final Terms);
- the Effective Date was such date of issue:
- the principal amount of such Note was the Calculation Amount; and
- all other terms were as specified in the relevant Final Terms.

5E. Interest – Other Rates

Notes in relation to which this Condition 5E is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable shall bear interest at the rates per annum and payable in the amounts and in the manner determined in accordance with the relevant Final Terms. In particular, in the case of Notes denominated in Euro, if the Floating Rate basis is to be "EURIBOR" rather than "LIBOR", the relevant provisions must be set out in full in the relevant Final Terms.

- 5F. Interest Supplemental Provision and Notification of Rates of Interest, Interest Amounts and Interest Payment Dates
- 5F.(1) Condition 5F.(2) shall be applicable in relation to Notes in relation to which Condition 5B is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable and Condition 5F.(3) shall be applicable in relation to all interest-bearing Notes.
- 5F.(2) The Issuing and Paying Agent (or such other agent as may be specified for the purpose in the relevant Final Terms) will cause each Rate of Interest, Floating Rate, Interest Payment Date, final day of a Calculation Period, Interest Amount or Floating Amount, as the case may be, determined by it to be notified to the other Paying Agents (from whose respective specified offices such information will be available) as soon as practicable after such determination, but in any event

not later than the fourth London Banking Day thereafter and, in the case of Notes admitted to listing on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and/or Euronext Amsterdam, cause each such Rate of Interest, Floating Rate, Interest Amount or Floating Amount, as the case may be, to be notified to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and/or Euronext Amsterdam N.V., as the case may be. The Issuing and Paying Agent will be entitled to amend any Interest Amount, Floating Amount, Interest Payment Date or last day of a Calculation Period (or to make appropriate alternative arrangements by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of the extension or abbreviation of the relevant Interest Period or Calculation Period. If the Calculation Amount is less than the minimum Specified Denomination, the Issuing and Paying Agent shall not be obliged to publish each Interest Amount but instead may publish only the Calculation Amount and the Interest Amount in respect of a Note having the minimum Specified Denomination.

- 5F.(3) The determination by the Issuing and Paying Agent (or such other agent as may be specified for the purpose in the relevant Final Terms) of all rates of interest and amounts of interest for the purposes of this Condition 5 shall, in the absence of manifest error, be final and binding on all parties.
- 5F.(4) In relation to Notes in relation to which Condition 5F.(2) shall not be specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms and in respect of which payments are to be made by reference to a variable rate of interest or by reference to an index or in any case where interest payable in respect of Notes may vary in accordance with a formula or formulae, then the relevant Final Terms shall specify an agent for the purposes of the calculation of such rates of interest and the notification of such rates to all appropriate parties.

5G.(5) **Definitions**

In this Condition 5 the following expressions have the following meanings:

"Additional Business Centre(s)" means the city or cities specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Business Day" means:

- (i) in relation to any sum payable in Euro, a TARGET Business Day and a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments generally in each (if any) Additional Business Centre; and
- (ii) in relation to any sum payable in a currency other than Euro, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments generally in the Relevant Financial Centre of the relevant currency and in each (if any) Additional Business Centre;

"Business Day Convention", in relation to any particular date, has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms and, if so specified in the relevant Final Terms, may have different meanings in relation to different dates and, in this context, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

- (i) **"Following Business Day Convention"** means that the relevant date shall be postponed to the first following day that is a Business Day;
- (ii) "Modified Following Business Day Convention" or "Modified Business Day Convention" means that the relevant date shall be postponed to the first following day that is a Business Day unless that day falls in the next calendar month in which case that date will be the first preceding day that is a Business Day;
- (iii) "Preceding Business Day Convention" means that the relevant date shall be brought forward to the first preceding day that is a Business Day;
- (iv) "FRN Convention", "Floating Rate Convention" or "Eurodollar Convention" means that each relevant date shall be the date which numerically corresponds to the preceding such date in the calendar month which is the number of months specified in the relevant Final Terms as the Specified Period after the calendar month in which the preceding such date occurred *provided*, *however*, *that*:

- (A) if there is no such numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which any such date should occur, then such date will be the last day which is a Business Day in that calendar month;
- (B) if any such date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then such date will be the first following day which is a Business Day unless that day falls in the next calendar month, in which case it will be the first preceding day which is a Business Day; and
- (C) if the preceding such date occurred on the last day in a calendar month which was a Business Day, then all subsequent such dates will be the last day which is a Business Day in the calendar month which is the specified number of months after the calendar month in which the preceding such date occurred; and
- (v) "No Adjustment" means that the relevant date shall not be adjusted in accordance with any Business Day Convention;

"Calculation Amount" (other than in relation to Condition 5D.(2)) has the meaning given in the Final Terms.

"Day Count Fraction" means, in respect of the calculation of an amount for any period of time (the **"Calculation Period"**), such day count fraction as may be specified in these Conditions or the relevant Final Terms and:

- (i) if "Actual/Actual (ICMA)" is so specified, means:
 - (a) where the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Regular Period during which it falls, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of (1) the actual number of days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any year; and
 - (b) where the Calculation Period is longer than one Regular Period, the sum of:
 - (A) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Regular Period in which it begins divided by the product of (1) the actual number of days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any year; and
 - (B) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Regular Period divided by the product of (a) the actual number of days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any year;
- (ii) if "Actual/Actual (ISDA)" or "Actual/365" is so specified, means the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of the Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);
- (iii) if "Actual/365 (Fixed)" is so specified, means the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365;
- (iv) if "Actual/360" is so specified, means the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360;
- (v) if "30/360" is so specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =
$$\frac{[360x(Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30x(M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

" \mathbf{Y}_1 " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

 $"Y_2"$ is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" M_1 " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"M₂" is the calendar month, expressed as number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" $\mathbf{D_1}$ " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and

" D_2 " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and D_1 is greater than 29, in which case D_2 will be 30";

(vi) if "30E/360" or "Eurobond Basis" is so specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =
$$\frac{[360x(Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30x(M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

" \mathbf{Y}_1 " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls:

" Y_2 " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" M_1 " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

" M_2 " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" $\mathbf{D_1}$ " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case $\mathbf{D_1}$ will be 30; and

" D_2 " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D_2 will be 30; and

(vii) if "30E/360 (ISDA)" is so specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =
$$\frac{[360x(Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30x(M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

"Y₁" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"Y₂" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

- " M_1 " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;
- " \mathbf{M}_2 " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;
- "D₁" is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D₁ will be 30; and
- **"D2"** is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D_2 will be 30,
- "Fixed Coupon Amount" has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;
- **"Interest Commencement Date"** means the Issue Date of the Notes or such other date as may be specified as the Interest Commencement Date in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Interest Payment Date" means the date or dates specified as such in, or determined in accordance with the provisions of, the relevant Final Terms and, if a Business Day Convention is specified in the relevant Final Terms:
- (i) as the same may be adjusted in accordance with the relevant Business Day Convention; or
- (ii) if the Business Day Convention is the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or Eurodollar Convention and an interval of a number of calendar months is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being the Specified Period, each of such dates as may occur in accordance with the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or Eurodollar Convention at such Specified Period of calendar months following the Interest Commencement Date (in the case of the first Interest Payment Date) or the previous Interest Payment Date (in any other case);
- "Interest Period" means each period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date or any Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next Interest Payment Date;
- "Issue Date" has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

"Regular Period" means:

- (i) in the case of Notes where interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and including the Interest Commencement Date to but excluding the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period from and including one Interest Payment Date to but excluding the next Interest Payment Date;
- (ii) in the case of Notes where, apart from the first Interest Period, interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and including a Regular Date falling in any year to but excluding the next Regular Date, where "Regular Date" means the day and month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment Date falls; and
- (iii) in the case of Notes where, apart from one Interest Period other than the first Interest Period, interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and including a Regular Date falling in any year to but excluding the next Regular Date, where "Regular Date" means the day and month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment Date falls other than the Interest Payment Date falling at the end of the irregular Interest Period;
- "Specified Currency" has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms; and "Specified Period" has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms.

6. REDEMPTION AND PURCHASE

(a) **Redemption at Maturity**

Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled as specified below, Notes shall be redeemed by the Issuer at their Final Redemption Amount as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms on the date or dates (or, in the case of Notes which bear interest at a floating rate of interest, on the date or dates upon which interest is payable) specified in the relevant Final Terms.

(b) Early Redemption for Taxation Reasons

If, in relation to any Series of Notes and as a result of any change in or amendment to applicable law (which change or amendment is announced and becomes effective after the date of issue of such Notes or any earlier date specified in the relevant Final Terms), the Issuer determines that it would, on the occasion of the next payment in respect of such Notes, be required to pay additional amounts in accordance with Condition 8 and that such obligation is not avoidable by the taking of reasonable measures available to the Issuer, then the Issuer may, upon the expiry of the appropriate notice, redeem all (but not some only) of the Notes comprising the relevant Series at their Final Redemption Amount as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms), together with accrued interest (if any) thereon.

(c) Optional Early Redemption (Call)

If this Condition 6(c) is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, then the Issuer may, upon the expiry of the appropriate notice and subject to such conditions as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms, redeem all (but not, unless and to the extent that the relevant Final Terms specifies otherwise, some only), of the Notes of the relevant Series at the optional redemption amount (the "**Optional Redemption Amount**") specified in the relevant Final Terms..

(d) The Appropriate Notice

The appropriate notice referred to in Conditions 6(b) and 6(c) is a notice given by the Issuer to the Issuing and Paying Agent and the Holders of the Notes of the relevant Series (in accordance with Condition 14(a)), which notice shall be duly signed on behalf of the Issuer and shall specify:

- the Series of Notes subject to redemption;
- whether such Series is to be redeemed in whole or in part only and, if in part only, the aggregate principal amount of the Notes of the relevant Series which are to be redeemed;
- the due date for such redemption, which shall be a Business Day which is not less than thirty days (or such lesser period as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms) after the date on which such notice is validly given, which is (in the case of a redemption pursuant to Condition 6(b)) not earlier than sixty days before the earliest date on which the Issuer would (if a payment were then to be made in respect of such Notes) be obliged to pay additional amounts in accordance with Condition 8, and which is (in the case of Notes which bear interest at a floating rate) a date upon which interest is payable;
- (in the case of a redemption pursuant to Condition 6(b)) the circumstances giving rise to the Issuer's entitlement to effect such redemption in accordance with Condition 6(b); and
- (in the case of a redemption pursuant to Condition 6(b)) that a named firm of lawyers in the applicable jurisdiction of recognised standing has given an opinion (a copy of which is attached to the notice) to the effect that the Issuer would, on the occasion of the next payment in respect of such Notes, be obliged to pay additional amounts in accordance with Condition 8.

Any such notice shall be irrevocable, and the delivery thereof shall oblige the Issuer to make the redemption therein specified.

(e) Partial Redemption

If some only of the Notes of a Series are to be redeemed in part only on any date in accordance with Condition 6(c), in the case of Bearer Notes, the Notes to be redeemed shall be drawn by lot in such European city as the Issuing and Paying Agent may specify, or identified in such other manner or in such other place as the Issuing and Paying Agent may approve and deem appropriate and fair, subject always

to compliance with all applicable laws and the requirements of any stock exchange on which the relevant Notes may be listed and, in the case of Registered Notes, each Note shall be redeemed in part in the proportion which the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes to be redeemed on the relevant Optional Redemption Date bears to the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Notes on such date, provided that for so long as the relevant Notes are represented by a Temporary Global Note and/or a Permanent Global Note or one or more Global Note Certificates, the Notes to be redeemed will be selected in accordance with the rules and procedures of DTC, Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (to be reflected in the records of DTC, Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg as either a pool factor or a reduction in principal amount, at their discretion) provided further, that any Note represented by a Temporary Global Note shall only be accepted for redemption upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. If any Maximum Redemption Amount or Minimum Redemption Amount is specified in the relevant Final Terms, then the Optional Redemption Amount shall in no event be greater than the maximum or be less than the minimum so specified.

(f) Optional Early Redemption (Put)

If this Condition 6(f) is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, then the Issuer shall, upon the exercise of the relevant option by the Holder of any Note of the relevant Series, redeem such Note on the date or the next of the dates specified in the relevant Final Terms, at its principal amount (or such other Optional Redemption Amount as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms), together with accrued interest (if any) thereon. In order to exercise such option, the Holder must, not less than forty-five days before the date so specified (or such other period as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms), deposit the relevant Note (together, in the case of an interest-bearing Definitive Note, with any unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto) with any Paying Agent, together with a duly completed redemption notice in the form which is available from the specified office of any of the Paying Agents or, in the case of a Permanent Global Note, with the form of redemption notice endorsed thereon duly completed.

(g) Purchase of Notes

The Issuer may at any time purchase Notes in the open market or otherwise and at any price, provided that, in the case of interest-bearing Definitive Notes, any unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto are purchased therewith. Notes so purchased by the Issuer may be held or resold or surrendered for cancellation.

(h) Cancellation of Redeemed Notes

All unmatured Notes redeemed in accordance with this Condition 6 and, in the case of interest-bearing Definitive Notes, any unmatured Coupons attached thereto or surrendered therewith will be cancelled and may not be reissued or resold.

7. **EVENTS OF DEFAULT**

The Holder of any Note may give written notice to the Issuing and Paying Agent that such Note is, and such Note shall accordingly immediately become, without further notice being required, save as indicated in (ii) below, due and repayable at its principal amount, together with interest accrued to the date of repayment (or, in the case of a Note which is not interest-bearing, at such other amount as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms), upon the occurrence of any of the following events ("Events of Default") unless, prior to the giving of such notice, all Events of Default shall have been cured or otherwise made good:

- (i) if default is made in the payment of any interest due on the Notes or any of them and such default continues for a period of 30 days; or
- (ii) if the Issuer fails to perform or observe any of its other obligations under the Notes and (except where such failure is incapable of remedy, when no such notice will be required) such failure continues for a period of 60 days next following the service on the Issuer of notice requiring the same to be remedied; or
- (iii) if any order shall be made by a competent court or other authority or resolution passed for the dissolution or winding-up of the Issuer or for the appointment of a liquidator or receiver of the Issuer or of all or substantially all of its respective assets or if the Issuer enters into a composition with its creditors or becomes subject to special measures ('bijzondere voorzieningen') in the

interests of all creditors as referred to in Part 3.5.5 of the Dutch Financial Supervision Act ('Wet op het financial toezicht', "**DFSA**") as amended, modified or re-enacted from time to time, admits in writing that it cannot pay its debts generally as they become due, initiates a proceeding in bankruptcy, or is adjudicated bankrupt.

8. TAXATION

- (a) All amounts payable (whether in respect of principal, redemption amount, interest or otherwise), in respect of the Notes, will be made free and clear of and without withholding or deduction for or on account of any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed or levied by or on behalf of the Netherlands or any political subdivision thereof or any authority or agency therein or thereof having power to tax, unless the withholding or deduction of such taxes, duties, assessments or charges is required by law. In that event, the Issuer will pay such additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the net amounts receivable by the Holders after such withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts which would have been receivable in the absence of such withholding or deductions, except that no such additional amounts shall be payable in respect of payment in respect of any Note or Coupon under any of the following circumstances:
 - (i) the Holder or beneficial owner of the Note or Coupon is liable to such taxes, duties, assessments or charges in respect of such Note or Coupon by reason of its having some connection with the Netherlands other than the mere holding of the Note or Coupon or the mere receipt of payments under such Note or Coupon; or
 - (ii) the Holder or beneficial owner of the Note or Coupon would otherwise not be liable or subject to such withholding or deduction by making a declaration of non-residence or other similar claim for exemption or reduction as foreseen in the laws of the Netherlands or in the relevant treaties for the avoidance of double taxation to the relevant tax authorities; or
 - (iii) the Note or Coupon is presented (where presentation is required) more than 30 days after the Relevant Date, except to the extent that the relevant Holder would have been entitled to such additional amounts on presenting the same for payment on the expiry of such period of 30 days; or
 - (iv) where such withholding or deduction is imposed on a payment to an individual and is required to be made pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any other Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of 26-27 November 2000 on the taxation of savings income or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive, including, but not limited to, any law or measure similar to the requirements set forth in the European Council Directive 2003/48/EC as adopted by Switzerland in relation to this Directive; or
 - (v) the withholding or deduction is imposed on a holder or beneficial holder who would have been able to avoid such withholding or deduction by presenting the relevant Note or Coupon (where presentation is required) to another Paying Agent in a member state of the EU.
- (b) For the purposes of these Terms and Conditions, the "**Relevant Date**" means the date on which such payment first becomes due and payable, but if the full amount of the moneys payable has not been received by the Issuing and Paying Agent or, in respect of Swiss Franc Notes only, the Principal Swiss Paying Agent on or prior to such due date, it means the first date on which the full amount of such moneys has been so received and notice to that effect shall have been duly given to the Holders of the Notes of the relevant Series in accordance with Condition 14.
- (c) Any reference in these Terms and Conditions to principal and/or interest in respect of the Notes shall be deemed also to refer to any additional amounts which may be payable under this Condition 8 or any undertaking given in addition thereto or in substitution therefor.
- (d) The relevant Final Terms may set forth certain additional tax consequences to Holders of Notes of a particular Series.

9. **PAYMENTS**

Bearer Notes

Paragraphs (a) to (e) of this Condition 9 shall apply to Bearer Notes only.

(a) Payment of amounts (including accrued interest) due on the redemption of Bearer Notes (other than Definitive Notes in CF-form) will be made against presentation (and in the case of a Temporary Global Note, upon due certification as required therein) and, save in the case of a partial redemption by reason of insufficiency of funds, surrender of the relevant Bearer Notes at the specified office of any of the Paying Agents outside the United States.

Payments of principal in respect of Definitive Notes in CF-form will be made through the Paying Agent(s) as specified in the relevant Final Terms against surrender of Definitive Notes at the specified office of any of the Paying Agents outside the United States in CF-form together with the Coupon Sheet attached.

- (b) Payment of amounts due in respect of interest on Bearer Notes will be made:
 - (i) in the case of a Temporary Global Note or Permanent Global Note, against presentation of the relevant Temporary Global Note or Permanent Global Note at the specified office of any of the Paying Agents outside the United States and, in the case of a Temporary Global Note, upon due certification as required therein;
 - (ii) in the case of Definitive Notes without Coupons attached thereto at the time of their initial delivery, against presentation of the relevant Definitive Notes at the specified office of any of the Paying Agents outside the United States;
 - (iii) in the case of Definitive Notes, other than Definitive Notes in CF-form, delivered with Coupons attached thereto, against surrender of the relevant Coupons at the specified office of any of the Paying Agents outside the United States; and
 - (iv) in the case of Definitive Notes in CF-form, in accordance with the agreement concluded between the Issuer and the 'Algemeen Obligatiekantoor van het Centrum voor Fondsenadministratie B.V.' ("Obligatiekantoor") in Amsterdam, under which agreement the Issuer has accepted the rules and regulations of the Obligatiekantoor.
- (c) If the due date for payment of any amount due (whether in respect of principal, interest or otherwise) in respect of any Notes is not a Payment Business Day in the place of presentation, then the Holder thereof will not be entitled to payment thereof in such place until the next following such Payment Business Day in such place and no further payment shall be due in respect of such delay save in the event that there is a subsequent failure to pay in accordance with these Terms and Conditions.
- (d) Each Definitive Note initially delivered with Coupons attached thereto should be surrendered for final redemption together with all unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto, failing which:
 - (i) unmatured Coupons will be deducted from the amount otherwise payable on such final redemption, the amount so deducted being payable against surrender of the relevant Coupon at the specified office of any of the Paying Agents at any time prior to the fifth anniversary of the due date of such final redemption; and
 - (ii) in the case of Definitive Notes which bear interest at, or at a margin above or below, a floating rate, all unmatured Coupons relating to such Definitive Notes (whether or not surrendered therewith) shall become void and no payment shall be made thereafter in respect of them.
- (e) Payments of amounts due (whether in respect of principal, interest or otherwise) in respect of Notes will be made by cheque drawn on, or by transfer to, an account maintained by the payee with a bank in the Relevant Financial Centre. Payments will, without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 8, be subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws and regulations.

Paragraphs (f) to (k) of this Condition 9 shall apply to Registered Notes only.

- Payments of principal in respect of each Registered Note (whether or not in global form) will be (f) made against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum due, endorsement) of the relevant Note Certificate at the specified office of the Registrar or any of the Paying Agents. Such payments will be made by transfer to the Designated Account (as defined below) of the Holder appearing in the Register at the close of business on the third business day (being for this purpose a day on which banks are open for business in the city where the specified office of the relevant Registrar is located) before the relevant due date for payment. Notwithstanding the previous sentence, if (i) a Holder does not have a Designated Account or (ii) the principal amount of the Notes held by a holder is less than U.S.\$250,000 (or its approximate equivalent in any other Specified Currency), payment will instead be made by a cheque in the Specified Currency drawn on a Designated Bank (as defined below). For these purposes, "Designated Account" means the account designated in the Specified Currency (which, in the case of a payment in Japanese Yen to a non-resident of Japan, shall be a non-resident account) maintained by a holder with a Designated Bank and identified as such in the Register and "Designated Bank" means (in the case of payment in a Specified Currency other than Euro) a bank in the principal financial centre of the country of such Specified Currency (which, if the Specified Currency is Australian or New Zealand dollars, shall be Sydney or Auckland, respectively) and (in the case of a payment in Euro) any bank which processes payments in Euro.
- Payments of interest in respect of each Registered Note (whether or not in global form) will be (g) made by a cheque in the Specified Currency drawn on a Designated Bank and mailed by uninsured mail on the business day in the city where the specified office of the relevant Registrar is located immediately preceding the relevant due date to the Holder of the Registered Note appearing in the relevant Register at the close of business on the 15th day (whether or not such 15th day is a business day) before the due date for payment thereof (the "Record Date") at his address shown in the relevant Register on the Record Date and at his risk. Upon application of the Holder to the specified office of the relevant Registrar not less than three business days in the city where the specified office of the relevant Registrar is located before the due date for any payment of interest in respect of a Registered Note, the payment may be made by transfer on the due date in the manner provided in the preceding paragraph. Any such application for transfer shall be deemed to relate to all future payments of interest (other than interest due on redemption) in respect of the Registered Notes which become payable to the Holder who has made the initial application until such time as the relevant Registrar is notified in writing to the contrary by such holder. Payment of the interest due in respect of each Registered Note on redemption will be made in the same manner as payment of the principal amount of such Registered Note.
- (h) All payments in respect of the Registered Notes are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws and regulations in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 8. No commissions or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders in respect of such payments.
- Where payment is to be made by transfer to an account, payment instructions (for value the due date, or, if the due date is not Payment Business Day, for value the next succeeding Payment Business Day) will be initiated and, where payment is to be made by cheque, the cheque will be mailed (i) (in the case of payments of principal and interest payable on redemption) on the later of the due date for payment and the day on which the relevant Note Certificate is surrendered (or, in the case of part payment only, endorsed) at the Specified Office of a Paying Agent and (ii) (in the case of payments of interest payable other than on redemption) on the due date for payment. Holders of Registered Notes will not be entitled to any interest or other payment for any delay in receiving any amount due in respect of any Registered Note as a result of any delay in payment resulting from the due date for a payment not being a Payment Business Day or a cheque posted in accordance with this Condition arriving after the due date for payment or being lost in the mail.
- (j) If a Paying Agent makes a partial payment in respect of any Registered Note, the Issuer shall procure that the amount and date of such payment are noted on the Register and, in the case of partial payment upon presentation of a Note Certificate, that a statement indicating the amount and the date of such payment is endorsed on the relevant Note Certificate.

(k) None of the Issuer or the Agents will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to, or payments made on account of, beneficial ownership interests in the Global Note Certificates or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests.

Swiss Franc Notes

Paragraph (1) of this Condition 9 shall apply to Swiss Franc Notes only.

(1) For Swiss Franc Notes, payments will be made without taking account of any future transfer restrictions and/or regardless of any bilateral or multilateral payment or clearing agreement which may be applicable at the time of such payments.

Payment to the Principal Swiss Paying Agent by the Issuer and the receipt by the Principal Swiss Paying Agent of the due and punctual payment of the funds in Swiss Francs in Switzerland shall release the Issuer of its obligations under the Notes and Coupons for the purposes of payment of principal and interest due on the respective payment dates to the extent of such payments.

Payment of principal and/or interest shall be made in freely disposable Swiss Francs without collection costs in Switzerland to the Noteholders and/or Couponholders, without any restrictions, whatever the circumstances may be, irrespective of nationality, domicile or residence of the Noteholders and/or Couponholders and without requiring any certification, affidavit or the fulfilment of any other formality.

- (m) For the purposes of these Terms and Conditions:
 - (i) "Additional Financial Centre(s)" means the city or cities specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
 - (ii) "Euro-Zone" means the region comprised of the countries whose lawful currency is the Euro;
 - (iii) "Payment Business Day" means:
 - (A) if the currency of payment is Euro, any day which is:
 - (1) a day on which banks in the relevant place of presentation are open for presentation and payment of bearer debt securities and for dealings in foreign currencies; and
 - in the case of payment by transfer to an account, a TARGET Business Day and a day on which dealings in foreign currencies may be carried on in each (if any) Additional Financial Centre; or
 - (B) if the currency of payment is not Euro, any day which is:
 - (1) a day on which banks in the relevant place of presentation are open for presentation and payment of bearer debt securities and for dealings in foreign currencies; and
 - (2) in the case of payment by transfer to an account, a day on which dealings in foreign currencies may be carried on in the Relevant Financial Centre of the currency of payment and in each (if any) Additional Financial Centre;
 - (iv) "Relevant Financial Centre" means (unless varied or restated in the relevant Final Terms):
 - in relation to Notes denominated in Australian Dollars, Melbourne;
 - in relation to Notes denominated in Japanese Yen, Tokyo;
 - in relation to Notes denominated in New Zealand Dollars, Auckland and Wellington;

- in relation to Notes denominated in Pounds Sterling, London;
- in relation to Notes denominated in Swiss Francs, Zürich;
- in relation to Notes denominated in United States Dollars, New York City;
- in relation to Notes denominated in Canadian Dollars, Toronto; and
- in relation to Notes denominated in any other currency, such financial centre or centres as may be specified in relation to the relevant currency and for the purposes of the definition of "Business Day" in the 2000 or 2006 ISDA Definitions (as amended and updated from time to time), as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc.;
- (v) "TARGET2" means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer payment system which utilises a single shared platform and which was launched on 19 November 2007; and
- (vi) "TARGET Business Day" means a day on which TARGET2 is operating, and, in all cases, as the same may be modified in the relevant Final Terms.

9A. REDENOMINATION

- (a) Notes denominated in the currency of a member state of the European Union in relation to which this Condition 9A is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable shall, be redenominated into Euro in accordance with this Condition 9A.
- (b) Notwithstanding the provisions of Condition 13, the Issuer may, without the consent of the Holders of Notes or Coupons, on giving at least 30 days' prior notice to the Holders of Notes and Coupons in accordance with Condition 14, designate a Redenomination Date with respect to a Series of Notes.
- (c) With effect from the Redenomination Date:
 - each Note and, in the case of a Note bearing interest at a fixed rate (hereafter, a "Fixed Rate Note") each amount of interest specified in the Coupons, shall (unless already so provided by mandatory provisions of applicable law) be deemed to be redenominated into such amount of Euro as is equivalent to its denomination in the relevant currency (as specified in the Final Terms) converted into Euro at the fixed rate for conversion of the relevant currency into Euro established by the Council of the European Union pursuant to Article 123(4) of the Treaty (as defined below) (including compliance with rules relating to roundings in accordance with European Union regulations);
 - (ii) all payments in respect of the Notes, other than payments of interest in respect of periods commencing before the Redenomination Date, will be made solely in Euro, as though references in the Notes to the relevant currency were to Euro. Such payments will be made in Euro by cheque drawn on or by credit or transfer to a Euro account (or any other account to which Euro may be credited or transferred) specified by the payee;
 - (iii) the Issuer may elect that the Notes shall be exchangeable for Notes expressed to be denominated in Euro in accordance with such arrangements as the Issuer may decide, after consultation with the Issuing and Paying Agent, and as may be specified in the notice, including arrangements under which Coupons unmatured at the date so specified become void and replaced by new Coupons;
 - (iv) if the Notes are Fixed Rate Notes and interest is required to be calculated for a period of less than one year, it will, if the Issuer so decides, be calculated on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed divided by 365 (or, if any of the days elapsed fall in a leap year, the sum of (A) the number of those days falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the number of those days falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);

- (v) if the Notes are Floating Rate Notes, Index Linked Notes, Inflation Linked Notes and Fund Linked Notes, any applicable changes to the provisions relating to interest will be specified in the Final Terms; and
- (vi) such other changes will be made to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes as the Issuer may decide, after consultation with the Issuing and Paying Agent, to conform such Notes to market conventions then applicable to instruments denominated in Euro including, without limitation, amending the definition of "Business Day" to be a day on which TARGET2 is operating and a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in Euro in the place of presentation instead of a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in the relevant currency in London and in the relevant currency in the Relevant Financial Centre. Any such changes will not take effect until they have been notified to the Holders of Notes and Coupons and any relevant stock exchange(s) on which the Notes are listed in accordance with Condition 14.
- (d) As used in these Terms and Conditions:

"Redenomination Date" means a date which:

- (i) in relation to interest-bearing Notes, shall be an Interest Payment Date;
- (ii) is specified by the Issuer in the notice given to the Holders pursuant to this Condition 9A; and
- (iii) falls on or after the date on which the country of the relevant currency participates in the third stage of European Economic and Monetary Union; and

"**Treaty**" means the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended, and, in all cases, as the same may be modified in the relevant Final Terms.

- (e) This Condition 9A notwithstanding, Notes issued in the national currency of one of the countries of the Euro-Zone may be redenominated by the Issuer in Euro without the consent of the Holders in accordance with and subject to the Netherlands Act on Redenomination of 26 November 1998 ('Wet schuld redenominatie') (See page 30).
- (f) In connection with any such redenomination contemplated by this Condition 9A, and without prejudice to Condition 15, the Issuer may also from time to time, without the consent of the Holders of Notes or Coupons, consolidate the Notes with one or more issues of other notes ("Other Notes") issued by it, whether or not originally issued in the relevant currency or in Euro, provided that such Other Notes have been redenominated into Euro (if not originally denominated in Euro) and otherwise have, in respect of all periods subsequent to such consolidation, the same or substantially the same terms and conditions as the Notes, and in all cases as set out in full in the relevant Final Terms.

10. PRESCRIPTION

Notes and Coupons will become void unless presented for payment within five years after the due date for payment.

11. AGENTS

The initial Agents and their respective initial specified offices are specified in the Base Prospectus. The Issuer reserves the right at any time to vary or terminate the appointment of any Agent (including the Issuing and Paying Agent and the Registrars) and to appoint additional or other Agents, *provided that* it will at all times maintain (i) an Issuing and Paying Agent, (ii) a Registrar, (iii) a Paying Agent with a specified office in continental Europe, (iv) so long as any Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, a Paying Agent with a specified office in Luxembourg, (v) so long as any Notes are listed on Euronext Amsterdam, a Paying Agent with a specified office in Amsterdam and (vi) a Paying Agent in a EU member state that will not be obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any other Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of 26-27 November 2000 or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to

conform to, such Directive. The Agents reserve the right at any time to change their respective specified offices to some other specified office in the same city. Notice of all changes in the identities or specified offices of the Agents will be notified promptly to the Holders in accordance with Condition 14.

In respect of Swiss Franc Notes, the Issuer will at all times maintain a Swiss paying agent having a specified office in Switzerland.

12. REPLACEMENT OF NOTES, NOTE CERTIFICATES AND COUPONS

If any Note, Note Certificate or Coupon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced at the Specified Office of the Issuing and Paying Agent, in the case of Bearer Notes, or the relevant Registrar, in the case of Registered Notes (and, if the Notes are then admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system which requires the appointment of a Paying Agent or Transfer Agent in any particular place, the Paying Agent or Transfer Agent having its Specified Office in the place required by such competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system), subject to all applicable laws and competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system requirements, upon payment by the claimant of the expenses incurred in connection with such replacement and on such terms as to evidence, security, indemnity and otherwise as the Issuer may reasonably require. Mutilated or defaced Notes, Note Certificates or Coupons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

13. MEETINGS OF HOLDERS

The Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement contains provisions, which are binding on the Issuer and the Holders of Notes or Coupons, for convening meetings of the Holders of Notes of any Series to consider matters affecting their interests, including the modification or waiver of the Terms and Conditions applicable to any Series of Notes. Notice specifying the date, time and place of any such meeting shall be given to the Holders of Notes of the relevant Series by or on behalf of the Issuer in accordance with Condition 14.

14. NOTICES

(a) To Holders of Notes and Coupons

Notices to Holders of Notes and Coupons will, save where another means of effective communication has been specified in the relevant Final Terms, be deemed to be validly given if (1) in the case of Bearer Notes, published in a leading daily English language newspaper having general circulation in London (which is expected to be the 'Financial Times') or, if such publication is not practicable, if published in a leading English language newspaper having general circulation in Europe and will be deemed to have been validly given on the date of such publication (or, if published more than once, on the date of first such publication) or (2) in the case of Registered Notes, if sent by first class mail or (if posted to an address overseas) by airmail to the Holders at their respective addresses recorded in the Register and will be deemed to have been validly given on the fourth day after mailing, *provided that:*

- (i) for so long as all the Notes are represented by a Permanent Global Note (or by a Permanent Global Note and/or a Temporary Global Note) or a Global Note Certificate and the Permanent Global Note is (or the Permanent Global Note and/or the Temporary Global Note are), or the Global Note Certificate is, registered in the name of DTC's nominee or deposited with a depositary or a common depositary for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system or a common safekeeper, notices to Noteholders may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to DTC and/or Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system and, in any case, such notices shall be deemed to have been validly given to the Noteholders on the date of delivery to DTC and/or Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system; and
- (ii) in the case of Notes admitted to listing on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (for as long as the rules of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange require), all notices regarding a Note listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange will be published in a daily newspaper with general circulation in Luxembourg (which is expected to be the *Luxemburger Wort*).

For Swiss Franc Notes, notices to Noteholders will be deemed to have been given if published by the Principal Swiss Paying Agent at the expense of the Issuer, (i) by means of electronic publication on the

internet website of the SIX Swiss Exchange under the secion headed "Official Notices" (http://www.six-exchange-regulation.com/publications_en.html), or (ii) otherwise in accordance with the regulations of the SIX Swiss Exchange. Notices shall be deemed to be validly given on the date of such publication or, if published more than once, on the date of the first such publication.

(b) **To the Issuer**

Notices to the Issuer will be deemed to be validly given if delivered at N.V. Bank Nederlandse Gemeenten, Koninginnegracht 2, 2514 AA, The Hague, the Netherlands and clearly marked on their exterior "Urgent – Attention: TVB Dealing Room" (or at such other address and for such other attention as may have been notified to the Holders of the Notes in accordance with this Condition 14) and will be deemed to have been validly given at the opening of business on the next day on which the Issuer's principal office is open for business.

15. **FURTHER ISSUES**

The Issuer may from time to time, without the consent of the Holders of Notes or Coupons of, as the case may be, any Series of Notes and Coupons, issue further notes, having terms and conditions the same as those of the Notes, or the same except for the amount of the first payment of interest, which may be consolidated and form a single series with the Notes provided that in the case of Notes to which the D Rules apply that are initially represented by a Temporary Global Note exchangeable for interests in a Permanent Global Note or Definitive Notes, such consolidation can only occur following the exchange of interests in the Temporary Global Note for interests in the Permanent Global Note or Definitive Notes upon certification of non U.S. beneficial ownership.

16. ADDITIONAL OBLIGATIONS

If Notes have been admitted to listing on Euronext Amsterdam, the Issuer will, as long as the Notes are listed on Euronext Amsterdam, comply with the provisions set forth in the Rule Books of Euronext Amsterdam N.V. or any amended form of the said provisions as in force at the date of the issue of these Notes.

17. SUBSTITUTION OF THE ISSUER

- (a) The Issuer or any previous substitute of the Issuer under this Condition may at any time be replaced and substituted by any company (incorporated in any country in the world) controlling, controlled by or under common control with the Issuer as the principal debtor in respect of any Series of Notes (any such company, the "Substituted Debtor"), provided that:
 - such documents shall be executed by the Substituted Debtor and (if the Substituted Debtor is not the Issuer) the Issuer or any previous substitute as aforesaid as may be necessary to give full effect to the substitution (together the "**Documents**") and (without limiting the generality of the foregoing) pursuant to which the Substituted Debtor shall undertake in favour of each Noteholder to be bound by these Conditions and the provisions of the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement as fully as if the Substituted Debtor had been named in the Notes and the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement as the principal debtor in respect of the Notes in place of the Issuer or any previous substitute as aforesaid;
 - (ii) without prejudice to the generality of sub-paragraph (i) hereof, where the Substituted Debtor is incorporated, domiciled or resident for taxation purposes in a territory other than the Netherlands, or is undertaking its obligations with respect to the Notes through a branch in another such territory, the Documents shall contain a covenant and/or such other provisions as may be necessary to ensure that each Noteholder has the benefit of a covenant in terms corresponding to the provisions of Condition 8 above with the substitution for the references to the Netherlands (or any previously substituted territory as the case may be) with references to the territory or territories in which the Substituted Debtor is incorporated, domiciled and/or resident for taxation purposes;
 - the Documents shall contain a warranty and representation (a) that the Substituted Debtor and the Issuer (or any previous substitute as aforesaid) have obtained all necessary governmental and regulatory approvals and consents for such substitution and

for the giving by the Issuer of the Guarantee (as defined below) in respect of the obligations of the Substituted Debtor, that the Substituted Debtor has obtained all necessary governmental and regulatory approvals and consents for the performance by the Substituted Debtor of its obligations under the Documents and that all such approvals and consents are in full force and effect and (b) that the obligations assumed by the Substituted Debtor and any Guarantee (as defined below) given by the Issuer are each valid and binding in accordance with their respective terms and enforceable by each Noteholder; and

- (iv) Condition 7 shall be deemed to be amended so that it shall also be an Event of Default under the said Condition if the Guarantee (as defined below) shall cease to be valid or binding on or enforceable against the Issuer; and upon the Documents becoming valid and binding obligations of the Substituted Debtor the Issuer hereby irrevocably and unconditionally guarantees in favour of each Noteholder the payment of all sums payable by the Substituted Debtor as such principal debtor (such guarantee of the Issuer herein referred to as the "Guarantee").
- (b) In connection with any substitution effected pursuant to this Condition, neither the Issuer nor the Substituted Debtor need have any regard to the consequences of any such substitution for individual Noteholders or Couponholders resulting from their being for any purpose domiciled or resident in, or otherwise connected with, or subject to the jurisdiction of, any particular territory and no Noteholder or Couponholder, except as provided in Condition 17(a)(ii), shall be entitled to claim from the Issuer or any Substituted Debtor under the Notes and Coupons any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax or other consequences arising from such substitution.
- Upon the Documents becoming valid and binding obligations of the Substituted Debtor and the Issuer (in respect of its provision of the Guarantee) (as "Guarantor") (and upon a legal opinion to that effect being issued by local counsel of recognised standing in the jurisdiction of incorporation of the Substituted Debtor), the Substituted Debtor shall be deemed to be named in the Notes as the principal debtor in place of the Issuer (or any previous substitute under these provisions) and the Notes shall thereupon be deemed to be amended to give effect to the substitution. The execution of the Documents shall, in the case of the substitution of the Issuer as principal debtor, operate to release the Issuer as issuer and, in the case of the substitution of a Substituted Debtor (if such Substituted Debtor is not the Issuer), operate to release such Substituted Debtor as principal debtor, from all of its obligations as principal debtor in respect of the Notes.
- (d) The documents referred to in paragraph (a) above shall be deposited with and held by the Issuing and Paying Agent for so long as any Notes remain outstanding and for so long as any claim made against the Substituted Debtor or (if the Substituted Debtor is not the Issuer) the Issuer by any Noteholder in relation to the Notes or the Documents shall not have been finally adjudicated, settled or discharged. The Substituted Debtor and (if the Substituted Debtor is not the Issuer) the Issuer acknowledge the right of every Noteholder to the production of the Documents for the enforcement of any of the Notes or the Documents.
- (e) Not later than 15 Business Days after the execution of the Documents, the Substituted Debtor shall give notice thereof to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14.
- (f) For the purposes of this Condition 17, the term "control" means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a company, whether by contract or through the ownership, directly or indirectly, of voting shares in such company which, in the aggregate, entitle the holder thereof to elect a majority of its directors, and includes any company in like relationship to such firstmentioned company, and for this purpose "voting shares" means shares in the capital of a company having the right to elect the directors thereof, and "controlling", "controlled" and "under common control" shall be construed accordingly.

Any substitution of a Substituted Debtor for the Issuer may be considered for U.S. federal income tax purposes to be an exchange of the Notes for new Notes by the beneficial owners of such Notes, resulting in recognition of taxable gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes and

other possible adverse tax consequences. U.S. beneficial owners should consult their own tax advisers regarding the U.S. federal, state and local income tax consequences of any substitution.

18. LAW AND JURISDICTION

- (a) The Notes and the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Notes and the Issue and Paying Agency Agreement are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of the Netherlands.
- (b) The Issuer irrevocably submits, for the exclusive benefit of the Holders of the Notes, to the jurisdiction of the Court (*Rechtbank*) and its appellate courts at The Hague, the Netherlands.
- (c) The Issuer is not entitled to claim for itself or any of its assets immunity from suit, execution, attachment or other legal process except in respect of assets located in the Netherlands that have a public utility function (*goederen bestemd voor de openbare dienst*) as reflected in the books and records of the Issuer and the issue of this Note constitutes, and the performance by the Issuer of its obligations hereunder will constitute, commercial acts done and performed for commercial purposes.
- (d) For the purposes of Swiss Franc Notes only, in addition to the submission to the jurisdiction to the courts of the Netherlands, the Issuer agrees to the alternative jurisdiction of the Commercial Court of the Canton of Zurich, the place of jurisdiction being Zurich 1, with the right of appeal to the Swiss Federal Court of Justice in Lausanne where the law permits. In connection with the Notes the Issuer designates the Dealer specified in the Final Terms relating to the relevant issue of Notes as its representative for service of judicial documents pursuant to paragraph 30 of the Rules of Civil Procedure of the Canton of Zurich, and elects legal and special domicile pursuant to article 50 of the Swiss Act on Debt Enforcement and Bankruptcy at the offices of that Dealer specified in the Final Terms. Such Dealer will be required to undertake to transmit to the Issuer as soon as possible any notice received by such Dealer in this connection.

For the purpose of any proceedings brought in Switzerland, Noteholders have the option to be collectively represented (in accordance with all applicable laws and customary practice in Switzerland) and (whether or not collectively represented) have equal status irrespective of their domicile.

50084770 M 3726944 / 47

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds of the issue of each Tranche of Notes will be used by the Issuer for general corporate purposes.

FORM OF FINAL TERMS

Form of Final Terms for an issue by N.V. Bank Nederlandse Gemeenten under the Euro 80,000,000,000 Debt Issuance Programme.

N.V. BANK NEDERLANDSE GEMEENTEN

(incorporated with limited liability under the laws of the Netherlands and having its statutory domicile in The Hague)

Euro 80,000,000,000

Debt Issuance Programme

Series No.: [●]

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Notes] [Title of Notes] due [day] [month] [year]

PRO FORMA FINAL TERMS

[The Notes (as defined herein) will, when and to the extent that the Temporary Global Note (as defined herein) is exchanged for [Definitive Notes/Permanent Global Note] (as defined herein), be consolidated and become fungible and form a single Series with the [full name of original issue] issued by the Issuer on [date] Series No.[•] [and the [full name of any reopenings], which Notes formed the subject matter of a Final Terms dated [date].]¹

The date of these Final Terms is [date] 20[•]

¹ Insert if this is applicable.

[The Base Prospectus referred to below (as completed by these Final Terms) has been prepared on the basis that, except as provided in sub-paragraph (ii) below, any offer of Notes (as defined below) in any Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (2003/71/EC) (each, a "Relevant Member State") will be made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Directive, as implemented in that Relevant Member State, from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of the Notes. Accordingly any person making or intending to make an offer of the Notes may only do so in:

- (i) in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive, in each case, in relation to such offer; or
- (ii) in those Public Offer Jurisdictions mentioned in Paragraph 45 of Part A below, provided such person is one of the persons mentioned in Paragraph 45 of Part A below and that such offer is made during the Offer Period specified for such purpose therein.

Neither the Issuer nor any Dealer has authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Notes in any other circumstances]¹.

[The Base Prospectus referred to below (as completed by these Final Terms) has been prepared on the basis that any offer of Notes (as defined below) in any Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (2003/71/EC) (each, a "Relevant Member State") will be made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Directive, as implemented in that Relevant Member State, from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of the Notes. Accordingly any person making or intending to make an offer in that Relevant Member State of the Notes may only do so in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive, in each case, in relation to such offer. Neither the Issuer nor any Dealer has authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Notes in any other circumstances]²

These Final Terms, under which the medium term notes described herein (the "Notes") are issued, should be read in conjunction with the Base Prospectus dated 12 August 2010 (the "Base Prospectus") issued in relation to the Euro 80,000,000,000 debt issuance programme of N.V. Bank Nederlandse Gemeenten. Terms defined in the Base Prospectus have the same meaning in these Final Terms. [Any reference to the Conditions herein is to the Terms and Conditions set forth in page 38 to page 61 of the Base Prospectus.] Together, the Base Prospectus and these Final Terms constitute a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive (Directive 2003/71/EC) (the "Prospectus Directive"). This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and must be read in conjunction with such Base Prospectus.

Full information on the Issuer and the Notes described herein is only available on the basis of a combination of these Final Terms and the Base Prospectus. The Base Prospectus is available for viewing, upon the oral or written request of any persons, at the specified offices of the Paying Agent. Copies may be obtained at the specified offices of the Paying Agent.

[Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such in [the terms and conditions as referred to on pages 10 up to and including 25 of the information memorandum of the Issuer relating to Programme, dated 3 December 2003 (the "2003 Terms and Conditions")] [the terms and conditions as referred to on pages 10 up to and including 25 of the information memorandum of the Issuer relating to Programme, dated 2 December 2004 (the "2004 Terms and Conditions")] [the terms and conditions as referred to on pages 16 up to and including 31 of the base prospectus of the Issuer relating to the Programme, dated 11 July 2005 (the "2005 Terms and Conditions")] [the terms and conditions as referred to on pages 16 up to and including 32 of the information memorandum of the Issuer relating to Programme, dated 21 July 2006 (the "2006 Terms and Conditions")] [the terms and conditions as referred to on pages 20 up to and including 37 of the information memorandum of the Issuer relating to Programme, dated 23 July 2007 (the "2007 Terms and Conditions")] [the terms and conditions as referred to on pages 21 up to and including 38 of the

50084770 M 3726944 / 47 64

¹ Include this legend where a non-exempt offer of Notes is anticipated.

² Include this legend where only an exempt offer of Notes is anticipated.

information memorandum of the Issuer relating to Programme, dated 24 July 2008 (the "2008 Terms and Conditions")] [the terms and conditions as referred to on pages 21 up to and including 39 of the information memorandum of the Issuer relating to Programme, dated 29 July 2009 (the "2009 Terms and Conditions")] each of which have been incorporated by reference in, and form part of the Base Prospectus dated 12 August 2010. These Final Terms contain the final terms of the Notes and must be read in conjunction with the Base Prospectus dated 12 August 2010, save in respect of the 2003/2004/2005/2006/2007/2008 Terms and Conditions incorporated by reference therein which are attached hereto. Together, the Base Prospectus and these Final Terms constitute a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive (Directive 2003/71/EC) (the "Prospectus Directive"). This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and must be read in conjunction with such Base Prospectus.]

These Final Terms do not constitute, and may not be used for the purposes of, an offer or solicitation by anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not authorised or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation; and no action is being taken to permit an offering of the Notes or the distribution of these Final Terms in any jurisdiction where such action is required.

[Insert any additions or variations to the selling restrictions]

In connection with the issue of Notes under the Programme, the Dealer who is specified in the Final Terms as the Stabilising Manager (or any person acting for the Stabilising Manager) in relation to the relevant series of Notes may over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes of such series at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail for a limited period. However, there may be no obligation on the Stabilising Manager (or any agent of the Stabilising Manager) to do this. Such stabilising shall be in compliance with all applicable laws, regulations and rules.

Any stabilisation activity in connection with the Notes listed or to be listed on Euronext Amsterdam by NYSE Euronext, the regulated market of Euronext Amsterdam N.V., will be conducted (on behalf of the Stabilising Manager) by a member of Euronext Amsterdam which shall be [Coöperative Centrale Raiffeisen – Boerenleenbank B.A. (Rabobank International) ("Rabobank International")]⁴. Any loss or profit sustained as a consequence of any such over-allotment or stabilising shall, as against the Issuer, be for the account of the Stabilising Manager.

PART A – CONTRACTUAL TERMS

The terms of the Notes are as follows:

1.	Issuer:		N.V	7. Bank Nederlandse Gemeenten	
2.	[(i)	Series Number:]	[]	
	[(ii)	Tranche Number:	[]	
	of that	gible with an existing Series, details Series, including the date on which tes become fungible).]			
3.	Specified Currency or Currencies:		[]	
			inte oth	Notes are being cleared through DTC with crest and or principal payable in a currency er than U.S. dollars, check whether DTC will ept payments in such currency)	
4.	Aggreg	gate Nominal Amount:	[]	
	[(i)]	[Series]:	[]	
	[(ii)	Tranche:	[]]	
5.	Issue P	rice:	[plu	per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount is accrued interest from [insert date] (in the e of fungible issues only, if applicable)]	
6.	(i)	Specified Denominations:	[]	
	(ii)	Calculation Amount:	[]	
7.	(i)	Issue Date:	[]	
	(ii)	Interest Commencement Date:	[Sp	ecify/Issue Date/Not Applicable]	
8.	Maturi	ty Date:	Inte	ecify date or (for Floating Rate Notes) erest Payment Date falling in or nearest to relevant month and year]	
9.	Interes	t Basis:	[•] per cent. Fixed Rate]		
			Rat [Ze [Ind	pecify reference rate] +/- • per cent. Floating e] ro Coupon] dex Linked Interest] her (Specify)] rther particulars specified below)	
10.	Redem	ption/Payment Basis:	[Re	demption at par]	
			[Du [Pa [Ins	dex Linked Redemption] al Currency] rtly Paid] stalment] her (Specify)]	

11.	Chang Basis:	ge of Interest or Redemption/Payment	[Specify details of any provision for convertibility of Notes into another interest or redemption/payment basis]
12.	Put/C	all Options:	[Investor Put] [Issuer Call] [(further particulars specified below)]
13.		[Board] approval for issuance of obtained:	[] (N.B. Only relevant where Board (or similar) authorisation is required for the particular tranche of Notes]
14.	Metho	od of distribution:	[Syndicated/Non-syndicated]
PROV	SIONS	RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY	Y) PAYABLE
15.	Fixed 5A)	Rate Note Provisions (Condition	[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub- paragraphs of this paragraph)
	(i)	Rate[(s)] of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum [payable [annually/semi-annually/quarterly/monthly/other (specify)] in arrear]
	(ii)	Interest Payment Date(s):	[] in each year [adjusted in accordance with [specify Business Day Convention and any applicable Business Centre(s) for the definition of "Business Day"]/not adjusted]
	(iii)	Fixed Coupon Amount[(s)]:	[] per Calculation Amount
	(iv)	Broken Amount(s):	[] per Calculation Amount, payable on the Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] []
	(v)	Day Count Fraction:	[30/360 / Actual/Actual (ICMA/ISDA) / other]
	(vi)	[Determination Dates:	[] in each year (insert regular interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or maturity date in the case of a long or short first or last coupon. N.B. only relevant where Day Count Fraction is Actual/Actual (ICMA))]
	(vii)	Other terms relating to the method of calculating interest for Fixed Rate Notes:	[Not Applicable/give details]
16.	Floati 5B)	ing Rate Note Provisions (Condition	[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub- paragraphs of this paragraph)
	(i)	Interest Period(s):	[]
	(ii)	Specified Period:	[] (Specified Period and Specified Interest Payment Dates are alternatives. A Specified Period, rather than Specified Interest Payment Dates, will only be relevant if the Business Day Convention is the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or EurodollarConvention. Otherwise, insert "Not Applicable")

(iii)	Specified Interest Payment Dates:	[] (Specified Period and Specified Interest Payment Dates are alternatives. If the Business Day Convention is the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or Eurodollar Convention, insert "Not Applicable")				
(iv)	[First Interest Payment Date]:	[]				
(v)	Business Day Convention:	[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day Convention/ Modified Following Business Day Convention/ Preceding Business Day Convention/ other (give details)]				
(vi)	Additional Business Centre(s):	[Not Applicable/give details]				
(vii)	Manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined:	[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination/other (give details)]				
(viii)	Party responsible for calculating the Rate(s) of Interest and/or Interest Amount(s) (if not the [Issuing and Paying Agent]):	[[Name] shall be the Calculation Agent (no need to specify if the Issuing and Paying Agent is to perform this function)]				
(ix)	Screen Rate Determination:					
	• Reference Rate:	[For example, LIBOR or EURIBOR]				
	• Interest Determination Date(s):	[]				
	• Relevant Screen Page:	[For example, Reuters LIBOR 01/ EURIBOR 01]				
	• Relevant Time:	[For example, 11.00 a.m. London time/Brussels time]				
	• Relevant Financial Centre:	[For example, London/Euro-zone (where Euro-zone means the region comprised of the countries whose lawful currency is the Euro]				
(x)	ISDA Determination:					
	• Floating Rate Option:	[]				
	Designated Maturity:	[]				
	• Reset Date:	[]				
(xi)	Relevant Margin (if any):	[+/-][] per cent. per annum				
(xii)	Minimum Rate of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum				
(xiii)	Maximum Rate of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum				
(xiv)	Day Count Fraction:	[]				
(xv)	Fall back provisions, rounding provisions, denominator and any other terms relating to the method of calculating interest on Floating Rate Notes, if different from those	[]				

set out in the Conditions:

17.	Zero	Coupon Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub- paragraphs of this paragraph)		
	(i)	[Amortisation/Accrual] Yield:	[] per cent. per annum		
	(ii)	Reference Price:	[]		
	(iii)	Any other formula/basis of determining amount payable:	[]		
18.	varia	r-Linked Interest Note/other ble-linked interest Note Provisions dition 5B)	[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub- paragraphs of this paragraph)		
	(i)	Index/Formula/other variable:	[give or annex details]		
	(ii)	Calculation Agent responsible for calculating the interest due:	[]		
	(iii)	Provisions for determining Coupon where calculated by reference to Index and/or Formula and/or other variable:	[]		
	(vi)	Interest Determination Date(s):	[]		
	(v)	Provisions for determining Coupon where calculation by reference to Index and/or Formula and/or other variable is impossible or impracticable or otherwise disrupted:	[]		
	(vi)	Interest or calculation period(s):	[]		
	(vii)	Specified Period:	[] (Specified Period and Specified Interest Payment Dates are alternatives. A Specified Period, rather than Specified Interest Payment Dates, will only be relevant if the Business Day Convention is the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or EurodollarConvention. Otherwise, insert "Not Applicable")		
	(viii)	Specified Interest Payment Dates:	[] (Specified Period and Specified Interest Payment Dates are alternatives. If the Business Day Convention is the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or Eurodollar Convention, insert "Not Applicable")		
	(ix)	Business Day Convention:	[Floating Rate Convention/ Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/other (give details)]		
	(x)	Additional Business Centre(s):	[]		

	(xi)	Minimu	m Rate/Amour	nt of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum	
	(xii)	Maximu	m Rate/Amou	nt of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum	
	(xiii)	Day Cou	ınt Fraction:		[]	
19.	Dual Currency Note Provisions (Condition 5C)				[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub- paragraphs of this paragraph)		
	(i)		of Exchange ng Rate of Ex		[gi	ve details]	
	(ii)		ion Agent, ble for cal l and/or interes	culating the	[]	
	(iii)	Provisio calculati Exchang impracti	on by referenge impos	ce to Rate of	[]	
	(iv)		at whose opt y(ies) is/are pa	ion Specified yable:	[]	
20.	Swap	Relat (Condit		Provisions			
21.	Releva	evant swap terms:			app ref	ot Applicable/[•]]. [If applicable, specify plicable provisions where calculation by terence to swap transaction is impossible or oracticable or otherwise disrupted]	
22. Provisions for other Notes (Condition 5E)							
	Relevant interest provisions (including determination of dates and periods, calculation of rates and amounts (e.g. EURIBOR determination), maximum/minimum rates etc.):				[Not Applicable/[●]].		
PROVIS	SIONS I	RELATIN	NG TO REDE	EMPTION			
23.	Call Option				(If	pplicable/Not Applicable] not applicable, delete the remaining sub- ragraphs of this paragraph)	
	(i)	Optional	Redemption 1	Date(s):	[]	
	(ii)	Optional Redemption Amount(s) of each Note and method, if any, of calculation of such amount(s):			[] per Calculation Amount	
	(iii)	If redeer	nable in part:				
		(b)	Minimum Amount:	Redemption	[] per Calculation Amount	
		(c)	Maximum Amount	Redemption	[] per Calculation Amount	

	(iv)	Notice period:	[]			
24.	Put O	ption	[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub- paragraphs of this paragraph)				
	(i)	Optional Redemption Date(s):	[]			
	(ii)	Optional Redemption Amount(s) of each Note and method, if any, of calculation of such amount(s):	[] per Calculation Amount			
	(iii)	Notice period:	[]			
25.	Final	Redemption Amount of each Note	[] per Calculation Amount			
	Amou	In cases where the Final Redemption Amount is Index-Linked or other variable- linked:					
	(i)	Index/Formula/variable:	[give or annex details]				
	(ii)	Calculation Agent responsible for calculating the Final Redemption Amount:	[]			
	(iii)	Provisions for determining Final Redemption Amount where calculated by reference to Index and/or Formula and/or other variable:	[]			
	(iv)	Date for determining Final Redemption Amount where calculation by reference to Index and/or Formula and/or other variable:	[]			
	(v)	Provisions for determining Final Redemption Amount where calculation by reference to Index and/or Formula and/or other variable is impossible or impracticable or otherwise disrupted:	[]			
	(vi)	[Payment Date]:	[]			
	(vii)	Minimum Final Redemption Amount:	[] per Calculation Amount			
	(viii)	Maximum Final Redemption Amount:	[] per Calculation Amount			
26.	In the	case of Definitive Notes in CF-Form:	[Not Applicable/[●]].				
27.		case of non-interest bearing Notes, ption amount on Event of Default:	[N	[Not Applicable/[●]].			
28.	Specia	al tax consequences (if any):	[Not Applicable/[●]].				

29. Modification of definition of "Relevant [Not Applicable/[●]]. Financial Centre" (if applicable):

30. Early Redemption Amount

[Not Applicable/[●]].

Early Redemption Amount(s) per Calculation Amount payable on redemption for taxation reasons or on event of default or other early redemption and/or the method of calculating the same (if required or if different from that set out in the Conditions):

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

31. Form of Notes:

[Bearer/Registered] Notes:

32. Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes:

[No.]/[Yes/ The Notes will initially be represented upon issue by a temporary global note (the "**Temporary Global Note**") in bearer form without interest coupons attached, which will be exchangeable 40 days after the Issue Date, in accordance with the terms thereof, for definitive notes ("**Definitive Notes**"), upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership.]

33. Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note:

[No.]/[Yes/ The Notes will initially be represented upon issue by a temporary global note (the "Temporary Global Note") in bearer form without interest coupons attached, which will be exchangeable upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership 40 days after the Issue Date in accordance with the terms thereof, for interests in a permanent global note (the "Permanent Global Note"). The Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable for definitive notes ("Definitive Notes") but only as set out in Condition 1(e)(i) and 1(e)(ii).

[Where a Global Note is to be cleared through Euroclear, Clearstream Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system and is exchangeable for Definitive Notes at any time or where Definitive Notes will definitely be issued, the Notes may only be issued in such denominations as Euroclear, Clearstream Luxembourg or any such other relevant clearing system will permit at that time. In particular, the Notes may not have denominations that include integral multiples of an amount if such amount is not divisible by the minimum denomination of such Notes.]

34. Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes:

[No.]/[Yes, but only as set out in Condition 1(e)(i) and (ii) [and 1(d)(iii)].]

[The Notes will be in bearer form and will be represented by a Permanent Global SIS Note (the "Permanent Global SIS Note") in substantially the form set forth in the schedule to the supplemental issuing and paying agency agreement dated [date] between the Issuer and the Swiss Paying Agent(s) mentioned in paragraph 9 of Part B below (the

"Supplemental Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement"). The Permanent Global SIS Note will be deposited with SIX SIS Ltd, the Swiss Securities Services Corporation in Olten, Switzerland ("SIS") or, as the case may be, with any other intermediary in Switzerland recognised for such purposes by SIX Swiss Exchange Ltd (SIS or any such other intermediary, the "Intermediary"). Once the Permanent Global SIS Note is deposited with the Intermediary and entered into the accounts of one or more participants of the Intermediary, the Notes will constitute intermediated securities (Bucheffekten) ("Intermediated Securities") in accordance with the provisions of the Swiss Federal Intermediated Securities Act (Bucheffektengesetz).

Each Holder (as defined below) shall have a quotal co-ownership interest (*Miteigentumsanteil*) in the Permanent Global SIS Note to the extent of his claim against the Issuer, provided that for so long as the Permanent Global SIS Note remains deposited with the Intermediary the co-ownership interest shall be suspended and the Notes may only be transferred or otherwise disposed of in accordance with the provisions of the Swiss Federal Intermediated Securities Act (*Bucheffektengesetz*), i.e., by the entry of the transferred Notes in a securities account of the transferee.

The records of the Intermediary will determine the number of Notes held through each participant in that Intermediary. In respect of the Notes held in the form of Intermediated Securities, the holders of the Notes (the "Holders") will be the persons holding the Notes in a securities account in their own name and for their own account.

Neither the Issuer nor the Holders shall at any time have the right to effect or demand the conversion of the Permanent Global SIS Note (*Globalurkunde*) into, or the delivery of, uncertificated securities (*Wertrechte*) or Definitive Notes (*Wertpapiere*).

No physical delivery of the Notes shall be made unless and until Definitive Notes (*Wertpapiere*) are printed. Definitive Notes may only be printed, in whole, but not in part, if the Principal Swiss Paying Agent determines, in its sole discretion, that the printing of the Definitive Notes (*Wertpapiere*) is necessary or useful. Should the Principal Swiss Paying Agent so determine, it shall provide for the printing of definitive Notes (*Wertpapiere*) without cost to the Holders. Upon delivery of the Definitive Notes (*Wertpapiere*), the Permanent Global SIS Note will be cancelled and the definitive Notes (*Wertpapiere*) shall be delivered to the Holders against cancellation of the Notes in the Holders' securities accounts.¹

50084770 M 3726944 / 47

٠

¹ For Swiss Franc Notes only.

35. Registered Notes:

Applicable] [Unrestricted Global Note Certificate registered in the name of [a nominee/common safekeeper] for [a common depositary for] Euroclear Clearstream, and Luxembourg, held under the New Safekeeping Structure (NSS) and exchangeable for unrestricted Individual Note Certificates [on [•] days' notice/at any time/in the limited circumstances described in Condition 1(1)(iii)]

[and]

[Restricted Global Note Certificate registered in the name of a nominee for DTC and exchangeable for restricted Individual Note Certificates [on [•] days' notice/at any time/in the limited circumstances described in Condition 1(1)(iii)]

36. New Global Note: [Yes] [No]¹

37. New Safekeeping Structure: [Yes; but only as to Unrestricted Global Note Certificate] [No]²

38. Additional Financial Centre(s) or other special provisions relating to payment dates:

[Not Applicable/give details.

Note that this paragraph relates to the date and place of payment, and not interest period end dates, to which sub paragraphs 15(ii), 16(vi) and 18(x) relate]

39. Talons for future Coupons or Receipts to be attached to Definitive Notes (and dates on which such Talons mature):

[Yes/No. *If yes, give details*]

40. Alternative means of effective communication (if any):

[Not Applicable/give details]

41. Redenomination, renominalisation and reconventioning provisions:

[Not Applicable/The provisions in Condition 9A apply]

42. Consolidation provisions:

[Not Applicable/The provisions in Condition 9A apply]

43. Other final terms :

[Not Applicable/give details]

[(When adding any other final terms consideration should be given as to whether such terms constitute "significant new factors" and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.)]

DISTRIBUTION

44. (i) If syndicated, names and addresses of Managers and underwriting commitments:

[Not Applicable/give names, addresses and underwriting commitments]

(Include names and addresses of entities agreeing to underwrite the issue on a firm commitment basis and names and addresses of the entities agreeing to place

50084770 M 3726944 / 47 74

_

¹ Specify "No" if the Notes being issued are Bearer Notes which are Classic Global Notes/CGNs.

² Specify "Yes" if the Notes being issued are Registered Notes intended to be held under the New Safekeeping Structure.

the issue without a firm commitment or on a "best efforts" basis if such entities are not the same as the Managers.)

(ii) Date of [Subscription] [date]
Agreement:

(iii) Stabilising Manager(s) (if [Not Applicable/give name] any):

45. If non-syndicated, name and address [Not Applicable/give name and address] of Dealer:

46. U.S. Selling Restrictions: [Reg. S Compliance Category; TEFRA C¹/TEFRA D²/TEFRA not applicable³]

47. Non-exempt Offer: [Not Applicable] [An offer of the Notes may be made

by the Managers [and [specify, if applicable]] other than pursuant to Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive in [specify relevant Member State(s) - which must be jurisdictions where the Base Prospectus and any supplements have been passported] (Public Offer Jurisdictions) during the period from [specify date] until [specify date] (Offer Period)[provided that the Offer Period in Austria shall not commence until the business day following the date on which these Final Terms are filed with the Austrian Financial Markets Authority and the Austrian Registration Office.] See further Paragraph

10 of Part B below.

48. Additional selling restrictions: [Not Applicable/give details]

PURPOSE OF FINAL TERMS

These Final Terms comprise the final terms required for issue [and] [public offer in the Public Offer Jurisdictions] [and] [admission to trading on [specify relevant regulated market] of the Notes described herein] pursuant to the Euro 80,000,000,000 Debt Issuance Programme of the Issuer.

RESPONSIBILITY

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in these Final Terms which, when read together with the Base Prospectus referred to above, contains all information that is material in the context of the issue of the Notes. [(Relevant third party information) has been extracted from (specify source). The Issuer confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware, and is able to ascertain from information published by (specify source), no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.]

Signed on behalf of N.V. BANK NEDERLANDSE GEMEENTEN:

By: Duly authorised	By:	Duly authorised
---------------------	-----	-----------------

50084770 M 3726944 / 47 75

_

¹ To be used for Notes represented by a Permanent Global SIS Note, which may not be offered or sold in the United States or to U.S. persons.

² To be used for Notes represented by a Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Definitive Note or a Temporary Global Note exchangeable for interests in a Permanent Global Note.

³ To be used for offerings of Registered Notes or Notes with a term of one year or less.

PART B – OTHER INFORMATION

1. LISTING

(i) Admission to trading

[Application [has been/is expected to be] made by the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on [Euronext Amsterdam by NYSE Euronext, the regulated market of Euronext Amsterdam N.V.¹/ Luxembourg Stock Exchange/list any other applicable stock exchanges] with effect from [•].] [The Notes have been provisionally admitted to trading on the SIX Swiss Exchange with effect from [date]. Application for definitive listing on the SIX Swiss Exchange will be made as soon as is reasonably practicable thereafter. The last trading day is on [date].] [Not Applicable.]

(Where documenting a fungible issue need to indicate that original Notes are already admitted to trading.)

- \ /				expenses	[
relating	to admissi	on to	tradin	g:] ²	

[(iii) Duration of trading:]³

2. RATINGS

Ratings:

The Notes to be issued have been rated:

[S & P: []]
[Moody's: []]
[Fitch: []]
[[Other]: []]

1

[Need to include a brief explanation of the meaning of the ratings if this has previously been published by the rating provider.]⁴

(The above disclosure should reflect the rating allocated to Notes of the type being issued under the Programme generally or, where the issue has been specifically rated, that rating.)

3. [INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE/OFFER]

Need to include a description of any interest, including conflicting ones, that is material to the issue/offer, detailing the persons involved and the nature of the interest. May be satisfied by the inclusion of the following statement:

50084770 M 3726944 / 47 76

.

¹ Only applicable to issues listed on Euronext Amsterdam by Euronext, the regulated market of Euronext Amsterdam N.V.

² Not required for Notes with a denomination per unit of less than €50,000.

³ For Swiss Franc Notes.

⁴ Not required for Notes with a denomination per unit of at least €50,000.

Except for the commissions payable to the Managers, described in the first paragraph under "Plan of Distribution" in the Base Prospectus, so far as the Issuer is aware, no person involved in the offer of the Notes has an interest material to the offer.

[(When adding any other description, consideration should be given as to whether such matters described constitute "significant new factors" and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.)]

4.	REASONS FOR THE (EXPENSES	OFFER, ESTIMATED NET PROCEEDS AND TOTAL
	[(i) Reasons for the offer	[]
		(See ["Use of Proceeds"] wording in Prospectus – ig reasons for offer different from making profit and/or hedging certain risks will need to include those reasons here.)]
	[(ii)] Estimated net proceed	ds: []
		(If proceeds are intended for more than one use will need to split out and present in order of priority. If proceeds insufficient to fund all proposed uses state amount and sources of other funding.)
	[(iii)] Estimated total exper	nses: []
		[Include breakdown of expenses including commissions - if applicable] (If the Notes are derivative securities to which Annex XII of the Prospectus Directive Regulation applies it is only necessary to include disclosure of net proceeds and total expenses at (ii) and (iii) above where disclosure is included at (i) above.)
5.	[Fixed Rate Notes only – YII	ELD
	Indication of yield:	[]
		Calculated as [include details of method of calculation in summary form] on the Issue Date.
		As set out above, the yield is calculated at the Issue Date on the basis of the Issue Price. It is not an indication of future yield.]
6.	[Floating Rate Notes only - I	HISTORIC INTEREST RATES
	Details of historic [LIBOR/EU	URIBOR/other] rates can be obtained from [Reuters].]
7.	[Index-linked or other	variable-linked notes only – PERFORMANCE OF

50084770 M 3726944 / 47 77

OF INVESTMENT AND ASSOCIATED RISKS AND OTHER INFORMATION

CONCERNING THE UNDERLYING

Need to include details of where past and future performance and volatility of the index/formula/other variable can be obtained and a clear and comprehensive explanation of how the value of the investment is affected by the underlying and the circumstances when the risks are most evident. [Where the underlying is an index need to include the name of the index and a description if composed by the Issuer and if the index is not composed by the Issuer need to include details of where the information about the index can be obtained. Where the underlying is not an index need to include equivalent information. Include other information concerning the underlying required by Paragraph 4.2 of Annex XII of the Prospectus Directive Regulation.]

The Issuer does not intend to provide post-issuance information.

[(When completing this paragraph, consideration should be given as to whether such matters described constitute "significant new factors" and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.)]

8. [Dual Currency Notes only – PERFORMANCE OF RATE[S] OF EXCHANGE AND EXPLANATION OF EFFECT ON VALUE OF INVESTMENT

Need to include details of where past and future performance and volatility of the relevant rate[s] can be obtained and a clear and comprehensive explanation of how the value of the investment is affected by the underlying and the circumstances when the risks are most evident.]

[(When completing this paragraph, consideration should be given as to whether such matters described constitute "significant new factors" and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.)]

9. **OPERATIONAL INFORMATION**

CUSIP Number:	[] [Not Applicable]
	[Select "Not Applicable" if no Restricted Registered Notes will be issued]
ISIN Code:	[]
Common Code:	[]
Valor:	[]
Any clearing system(s) other than DTC, Euroclear Bank SA/NV and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme and the relevant identification number(s):	[Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)]
Delivery:	Delivery [against/free of] payment
Names and addresses of initial Paying Agent(s):	[]
Names and addresses of additional Paying Agent(s) (if any):	[]

Intended to be held in a manner which would allow Eurosystem eligibility:

[Yes][No][Not Applicable]

Note that the designation "yes" simply means that the Notes are intended upon issue to be deposited with one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper [and registered in the name of a nominee of one of the ICSDs acting as common safekeeper,] and does not necessarily mean that the Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria have met.][include this text if "yes" selected in which case [the] [bearer] Global Notes must be issued in *NGN form*]

10. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE OFFER

Offer Price: [Issue Price][specify]

Conditions to which the offer is subject: [Not Applicable/give details]

Description of the application process: [Not Applicable/give details]

Description of possibility to reduce subscriptions and manner for refunding excess amount paid by applicants:

[Not Applicable/give details]

Details of the minimum and/or maximum amount of application:

[Not Applicable/give details]

Details of the method and time limits for paying up and delivering the Notes:

[Not Applicable/give details]

Manner in and date on which results of the offer are to be made public:

[Not Applicable/give details]

Procedure for exercise of any right of pre-emption, negotiability of subscription rights and treatment of subscription rights not exercised:

[Not Applicable/give details]

Categories of potential investors to which the Notes are offered and whether tranche(s) have been reserved for certain countries:

[Not Applicable/give details]

Process for notification to applicants of the amount allotted and the indication whether dealing may begin before notification is made:

[Not Applicable/give details]

Amount of any expenses and taxes specifically charged to the subscriber or purchaser:

[Not Applicable/give details]

Name(s) and address(es), to the extent known to the Issuer, of the placers in the various countries where the offer takes place.

[None/give details]

50084770 M 3726944 / 47 79

_

¹ Include this text for Registered Notes intended to be held under the New Safekeeping Structure.

11. [Swiss Franc Notes only – DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE

Copies of the Final Terms and the Base Prospectus are available at [insert as applicable [UBS Investment Bank, division of UBS AG, Prospectus Library, P.O Box, CH-8098 Zurich, Switzerland, or can be ordered by telephone (+41-44-239 47 03), fax (+41-44-239 69 14) or by e-mail swiss-prospectus@ubs.com] [•]].

12. [Swiss Franc Notes only – REPRESENTATIVE

In accordance with Article 43 of the Listing Rules of the SIX Swiss Exchange, [insert as applicable [UBS AG] [•]] has been appointed by the Issuer as representative to lodge the listing application with the Admission Board of the SIX Swiss Exchange.]

13. [Swiss Franc Notes only - NO MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGE / MATERIAL CHANGES SINCE THE MOST RECENT ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Except as disclosed in the Base Prospectus, there has been no material adverse change in the financial condition or operations of the Issuer since $[\bullet]$ 20 $[\bullet]$, which would materially affect its ability to carry out its obligations under the Notes.]

N.V. BANK NEDERLANDSE GEMEENTEN

Overview

BNG is the fifth largest bank in the Netherlands based on total assets as at 31 December 2009. BNG is a specialised lender to local and regional authorities as well as to public-sector institutions such as utilities, housing, healthcare, welfare and educational institutions, and is the largest public-sector lender in the Netherlands and the principal bank for the Dutch public sector in terms of loans, advances and intergovernmental money transfers. Recently, BNG has also begun limited lending to public-private partnerships.

In addition to its financing activities, BNG offers advisory and consultancy services, such as assisting public authorities in the design of their treasury, portfolio and asset and liability management functions. BNG also offers investment funds, which are managed through a wholly-owned subsidiary, BNG Vermogensbeheer B.V. Investment in the funds are mainly marketed to municipalities with budgetary surpluses. Furthermore, BNG provides electronic fund transfer and payment services to its public sector customers.

As of and for the year ended 31 December 2009, BNG had total assets of €104.5 billion, total equity of €2.3 billion and net profit of €278 million.

History and Corporate Organization

BNG was incorporated in 1914 as a "naamloze vennootschap" (a public company with limited liability) under the laws of the Netherlands and is a statutory limited company under Dutch law ("structuurvennootschap"). The duration of BNG is unlimited. It is registered in the Commercial Register of the Delft – The Hague Chamber of Commerce and Industry ("Kamer van Koophandel") under No. 27008387. BNG's ownership is restricted to the Dutch public sector and its shareholders are exclusively Dutch public authorities. The Dutch state's shareholding is 50%, and has been unchanged since 1921, with the remainder held by more than 95% of Dutch municipalities, 11 of the 12 Dutch provinces, and one water board. BNG is established in The Hague and has no branches. BNG's registered office is at Koninginnegracht 2, 2514 AA The Hague, the Netherlands. Its telephone number is +31 70 - 3750750.

Purpose

BNG's activities continue to be based on its unique character as the principal Dutch public sector financial agency. As BNG's shareholders are public authorities, BNG is positioned as part of the public sector. BNG serves exclusively as a specialised bank for local, regional and functional public authorities and for public sector institutions by providing made-to-measure banking services. These services range from loans and advances and funds transfer to consultancy, electronic banking and investment services. BNG is also active in the growing sector of public-private partnerships and provides ancillary services, such as project development assistance.

BNG's principal business activities include granting credit to its statutory counterparties and facilitating payments between the central government and the public authorities listed below.

Pursuant to Article 2 of BNG's Articles of Association ("statuten"), the object of BNG is to serve as banker on behalf of public authorities (as described below). Accordingly, BNG may engage in, among other things receiving deposits and lending money, granting credits in other ways, providing guarantees, arranging the flow of payments, conducting foreign exchange transactions, acting as adviser and broker in the issue of, and trade in securities, and keeping, managing and administering securities and other assets for third parties. BNG may also incorporate and participate in other enterprises and/or legal entities, whose object is connected with or conducive to any of BNG's mandated activities. BNG shall be empowered to perform all acts which may be directly or indirectly conducive to its object. The term public authorities, as referred to above, means:

- (a) Municipalities and other legal persons in the Netherlands under public law as referred to in article 1 paragraphs 1 and 2, of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code;
- (b) the European Communities and other bodies possessing legal personality to which part of the function of the European Communities has been entrusted pursuant to the treaties establishing the European Communities;

- (c) Member states of the European Communities and other bodies possessing legal personality to which part of the administrative function of such a member state has been entrusted pursuant to the law of that member state;
- (d) legal persons under private law; (i) half or more of whose managing directors are appointed directly or indirectly by one or more of the bodies referred to at a, b and c above; and/or (ii) half or more of whose share capital is provided directly or indirectly by one or more of the bodies referred to at a, b and c above; and/or - half or more of the income side of whose operating budget is provided or secured directly or indirectly by one or more of the bodies referred to at a, b and c on the basis of a scheme, bye-law or law adopted by one or more of such bodies; and/or (iii) whose operating budget is adopted or approved directly or indirectly by one or more of the bodies referred to at a, b and c above on the basis of a scheme, bye-law or law adopted by one or more of such bodies; and/or (iv) whose obligations towards the Issuer are guaranteed directly or indirectly by one or more of the bodies referred to at a, b and c above or will be guaranteed pursuant to a scheme, bye-law or law adopted by one or more of such bodies, for which purpose obligations include non-guaranteed obligations resulting from prefinancing or other financing which, after novation, will create obligations that will be guaranteed by one or more of such bodies pursuant to a scheme, bye-law or law adopted by one or more of such bodies; and/or (v) who execute a part of the governmental function pursuant to a scheme, by-law or law adapted by one or more of the bodies referred to at a, b and c above.

Strategy

As the bank of and for local authorities and public sector institutions, BNG's specialised services help to minimize the costs of providing social services to the public. In this regard, BNG plays an important role in the Dutch public sector. BNG's objectives are to remain a leader in the Dutch public sector lending market in terms of market share and quality of service and to achieve a reasonable return for its public shareholders. To achieve these objectives, BNG must maintain an excellent credit rating, retain a competitive funding position and manage its operations efficiently and effectively. Solvency-free lending (that is, lending to local authorities and other public entities that have a zero percent risk weighting from DNB) remains BNG's core activity, with local authorities, housing associations, healthcare and educational institutions being the most important client groups. Expanding its substantial market shares is one of BNG's goals, and BNG aims to provide over half of the overall long-term, solvency-free lending to local authorities, associations and healthcare institutions while maintaining profitability.

Looking forward, BNG will seek to reinforce its position as the leading financial agency to the Dutch public sector. BNG's strategy is aimed at responding to its client's needs by closely monitoring government policies and offering solutions to increasingly complex financing needs. Although the global financial crisis slowed lending during 2009, BNG expects a gradual shift to non-guaranteed lending or, as the case may be, lending subject to solvency requirements in almost all sectors. Examples of this include initiatives to set up more public-private partnerships in almost all sectors and changes in legislation requiring educational institutions to assume responsibility for funding the maintenance and construction of their buildings. BNG contributes knowledge and expertise in order to offer solutions in public-private partnerships. This creates new opportunities for finance arrangements within such partnerships.

To continue achieving BNG's long-term profit objectives, BNG has implemented policies with a view to engaging in activities that generate slightly higher returns. Examples of this are the foreign credit portfolio and investments in publicly traded securities from countries in the European Union with the highest creditworthiness. Preconditions for this strategy are the careful monitoring of the risk profile, operational effectiveness and efficiency and maintenance of BNG's strong financial position.

Competition

BNG's main competitor is Nederlandse Waterschapsbank N.V., a Dutch public sector lender, and, to a lesser extent, the commercial banks. Other competitors are insurance companies and pension funds. Due to the small margins generally earned on public sector lending and in part due to the economic crisis, a number of banks that competed in this market have withdrawn.

As at 31 December 2009, BNG had a market share of approximately 61% of the municipal sector as measured by aggregate loans and advances made. BNG also benefits from high market shares in lending to housing associations (46%) and healthcare entities (45%) as measured by aggregate loans and advances. BNG's market shares stabilized at the high level of previous years. Due to the improving liquidity position of local and regional authorities, BNG is gradually extending its strategy to other public sectors – notably to the healthcare sector. A large portion of the long-term loans to the healthcare sector are guaranteed by Waarborgfonds voor de Zorgsector ("WfZ"), a guarantee fund backed by the Dutch government and set up to allow this sector to borrow with a lower cost of funds, and are zero-percent risk weighted by DNB. BNG competes on the basis of maintaining its high creditworthiness, which permits BNG to fund its operations at relatively low cost, and offering its public sector clients interest rates that are only slightly higher than its own cost of long-term funding (see "Products and Services – Loans and Advances").

Products and Services

Loans and Advances

BNG's primary business is providing loans and advances to public sector institutions. Under its Articles of Association lending is limited to public authorities within the European Union. Lending to public authorities outside the Netherlands is limited by internal guidelines to a maximum of 15% of BNG's total assets. BNG's credit exposure on loans and advances to public authorities is extremely low as the majority of the loans and the securities portfolio consist of receivables from or guaranteed by public authorities with a zero-percent risk weighting.

Despite the financial crisis in 2009, BNG was able to fulfil its role as the primary lender to local authorities and public sector institutions. While most of BNG's competitors became restrained in providing long-term credit to public authorities and institutions, BNG was able to continue to support its public clientele in large part because it was able to continue to finance itself in the financial markets and its strong capital position.

Due to the high credit and liquidity risk spreads in the first half of 2009, the demand for long-term lending in almost all sectors generally lagged behind in comparison with previous years. After a recovery and strongly reduced liquidity spreads in the summer months of 2009, the demand recovered to the usual levels in the second half of 2009. BNG's market shares stabilized at the high level of previous years.

New long-term lending to client groups was €8.6 billion, €10.5 billion and €7.4 billion in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The decline in 2009 was mainly attributable to the difficult market conditions which prevailed in the first half of 2009, with lending strengthening in the second half of 2009, while the increase from 2007 to 2008 reflected BNG's continuing willingness to make loans to public sector institutions throughout the economic crisis.

50084770 M 3726944 / 47

_

¹ These comparisons with BNG's competitors are mainly based on an analysis of (i) figures provided by CBS (*Centraal Bureau voor Statistiek*), (ii) figures provided by WSW (*Stichting Waarborgfonds Sociale Woningbouw*) and WfZ (*Stichting Waarborgfonds voor de Zorgsector*) respectively and (iii) publications, such as annual reports, of BNG's main competitors like NWB.

The table below sets forth loans and advances made by BNG in 2009 and 2008.

New long-term lending			Of which sub capital adeq requireme	uacy
	2009	2008	2009	2008
	(meas	sured at non	ninal value in €	millions)
Public sector (municipalities, provincial authorities and municipal joint ventures)	2,623	3,148	117	59
Housing associations	4,272	4,853	220	139
Mortgage funds	3	0	3	0
Energy, water and telecom	100	454	100	432
Health care sector	1,018	604	376	110
Transport, logistics and environment	246	438	182	195
Education	140	118	110	108
Design, build, finance and maintenance	208	828	208	752
Miscellaneous	14	8	0	0
Total	8,624	10,451	1,316	1,795
Growth in new long-term lending	(17%)		(27%)	

Public sector (Local authorities)

of which solvency-free

BNG's most significant client base is comprised of municipal and provincial governments. Dutch local authorities are not individually rated by ratings agencies and generally are unable to access the capital markets directly. Accordingly, local authorities generally manage their funding needs by borrowing from individual lenders such as BNG and Nederlandse Waterschapsbank N.V. The local authorities repay their loans using income raised from local taxes and fees received for local services. The financial relationship between the central and local government(s) in the Netherlands is such that the credit quality of the Dutch municipalities is equal to the State of the Netherlands (AAA). Loans to Dutch municipalities are therefore zero-percent risk weighted by DNB.

85%

83%

Housing associations

BNG provides long-term lending to social housing associations which is guaranteed by Waarborgfonds Sociale Woningbouw ("WSW"), a social housing fund ultimately guaranteed by the Dutch central government and municipalities. Social housing associations provide approximately 50% of the Dutch housing market. The housing associations meet their funding needs through borrowing from banks, and generate income through the collection of rents and through the sales of housing and condominium projects, which includes both rental properties and privately owned homes. The Central Fund for Public Housing ("CFV") is responsible for the financial supervision of this sector. WSW guaranteed loans are zero-percent risk weighted by DNB.

Healthcare institutions

BNG has provided financing alternatives to public and semi-public healthcare institutions since the establishment in 1999 of WfZ, a guarantee fund for healthcare institutions. WfZ's liabilities are guaranteed by the Dutch Central Government, and consequently loans covered by WfZ guarantees are zero-percent risk weighted by DNB.

Education institutions

Recently BNG has begun to provide limited financing solutions to education institutions following recent changes in Dutch law applicable to educational institutions that require such education institutions to be responsible for their own buildings. The majority of BNG's loans to education institutions are to finance the building of school facilities or for the expansion of campuses. Loans to educational institutions are guaranteed by Stichting Waarborgfonds Bve, the guarantee fund for professional and adult education and repaid through income generated from tuitions and government funding. Loans which are guaranteed by Stichting Waarborgfonds Bve, which obtained a Aa1 rating from Moody's Investors Services at the end of 2009, are twenty-percent risk weighted by DNB.

Public utilities

BNG provides project finance for public utilities and alternative energy development companies owned by the Dutch municipalities and provinces. These public utilities have their own credit ratings. Depending on the nature of the loans to public utilities they will carry a risk weighting by DNB of between 20% and 100%.

Regional Development

BNG, through its subsidiary BNG Gebiedsontwikkeling B.V. (formerly Ontwikkelings- en Participatiebedrijf Publieke Sector) is dedicated to regional development and participates in planning projects which prepare parcels of commercial real estate for construction, building or development. This is done in close cooperation with government parties taking public interests into account. Risk sharing and limitation structures are set up in such a manner so that the control of these government parties is not impaired, thereby safeguarding the interests of the municipalities and society. Since the end of 2009, BNG Gebiedsontwikkeling has participated in 24 partnership structures with a total equity of ϵ 42 million. Three new projects were started in 2009.

Consultancy

BNG Advies (formerly known as BNG Consultancy Services B.V.), now part of BNG's Public Finance directorate, carries out consultancy assignments for various parties including municipalities, provinces, housing associations and healthcare institutions. BNG Advies supports BNG's clients in making strategic public-sector investments. In an increasingly complex environment, public organizations are faced with financing challenges where multiple interests must be balanced. BNG Advies provides the knowledge and expertise to help its clients achieve innovative solutions and make well-considered decisions. The involvement of private partners in public projects is becoming increasingly important in this area. BNG Advies supports clients in finding these solutions and in translating public ambitions into feasible plans. BNG Advies specializes in the translation of spatial planning projects into financial plans in public-private partnership and in the public decision-making process.

Asset Management

BNG's Asset Management division is operated by BNG Vermogensbeheer B.V. BNG Vermogensbeheer B.V. offers money market and capital market investment funds, which totalled €1.7 billion at the end of 2009, and provides tailored solutions in the form of discretionary asset management mandates. Apart from asset management services for municipalities, urban regions and provinces, BNG Vermogensbeheer B.V. increasingly provides asset management services for educational institutions, housing associations and other similar organizations.

As at 31 December 2009, assets under management by BNG Vermogensbeheer B.V. amounted to €5.1 billion, compared to €2.5 billion as at 31 December 2008. This increase was largely due to the proceeds from the sale of Dutch energy companies being turned over to BNG Vermogensbeheer B.V. by the selling

municipalities as these municipalities wanted to invest these funds long-term and obtain a fixed income return.

Payment Services and E-Banking

BNG delivers products and services that enable clients to organize their payments and liquidity management elictronically. A pivotal role in the service is played by the 'My BNG' web portal, which enables BNG clients to process their payments quickly and safely through the internet.

Since 2008, the BNG web portal has been suitable for single and bulk money transfers in connection with the Single Euro Payments Area ("SEPA"). SEPA was developed in order to make payment transactions within the Euro-zone effective and inexpensive for consumers, business users and banks. BNG is responding to these developments and is providing its clients with extra advice and support in 2010 with regard to the introduction of new SEPA products such as SEPA Direct Debit. The number of payment transactions processed for clients in 2009 amounted to 76 million and was slightly higher compared with 2008.

Ratings

BNG's long-term debt securities are rated AAA by Standard & Poor's, Aaa by Moody's and AAA by Fitch. In addition, the bank has been awarded the highest Financial Strength Rating (A) by Moody's and the highest Individual Rating (A) by Fitch. See "Risk Factors – Risks Related to the market generally – Credit Rating Risks".

Employees

Including its subsidiaries, BNG employed, on a full-time equivalent basis, 287 employees as at 31 December 2009, all of which were employed in the Netherlands. Substantially all of BNG's employees are subject to collective labor agreements covering the banking industries. BNG believes that its employee relations are good.

Significant Subsidiaries

BNG has a number of wholly owned subsidiaries that provide services that are ancillary to the principal activity of BNG of lending to the public sector. These subsidiaries are:

- BNG Vermogensbeheer B.V. (previously BNG Capital Management B.V.)
 Provides and develops specialised financial services in the fields of securities brokerage, consultancy, the management of investment funds with a FIDO (Local and Regional Government Financing Act, Wet Financiering Decentrale Overheden) hallmark and customised asset management services to public authorities and public interest institutions.
- BNG Gebiedsontwikkeling B.V. (formerly Ontwikkelings- en Participatiebedrijf Publieke sector B.V.)
 Directly or indirectly provides (venture) capital to public authorities and directly or indirectly participates in and/or co-operates with projects, either with or on behalf of public authorities.
- Hypotheekfonds voor Overheidspersoneel B.V.

 Finances mortgage loans being taken out by civil servants in the employ of a public or municipal organisation with which a co-operation agreement has been reached.

Risk Management

BNG's risk management is based on BNG's objective to offer its shareholders a reasonable return, subject to the key condition that it maintains its current credit rating. Since 2007, BNG has reported to DNB, its primary regulator, in conformity with Basel II regulations. With regard to credit risk, the 'standardized approach' is applied, which refers to a set of credit risk measurement techniques proposed under Basel II capital adequacy rules for banking institutions. For operational risk the 'basic indicator approach' is applied, which refers to a set of operational risk measurement techniques proposed under Basel II capital adequacy rules for banking institutions. In addition, BNG is developing internal rating models to improve the quality of the credit process and to monitor credit quality. BNG's approach in assessing its risks internally is in line with the Basel II regulations. See "Risk Factors – BNG's risk

management methods may leave it exposed to unidentified, unanticipated or incorrectly quantified risks, which could lead to material losses or material increases in liabilities".

Risk management is concentrated within the Risk Control department. This department classifies, quantifies and monitors the risks and reports to the responsible committees. These risks include credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk, operational risk and other risks. Alongside, the Credit Risk Assessment department, independently of BNG's commercial departments, is responsible for assessing and advising on the risks with regard to credit revision proposals by clients and financial counterparties. The special credit activities of BNG, relating to guidance, management and settlement of problem loans, are also the responsibility of the Credit Risk Assessment Department.

The Internal Audit Department ("IAD") regularly carries out operational audits to assess the design, operation and effectiveness of the risk management systems, and to verify compliance with the relevant laws and regulations. IAD has an independent position within BNG. BNG also has an independent compliance officer, who oversees compliance with relevant laws and regulations. The Executive Board periodically discusses the organization and operation of the internal risk management and control systems with the Supervisory Board and the Audit Committee.

At the end of 2009 BNG began implementing the Dutch Banking Code (*Banken Code*) which is drawn up by the Dutch Association of Banks and originates from recommendations in response to the credit crisis of the Dutch Advisory Committee on the Future of Banks. These recommendations will, for instance, result in a further formalization of the product approval process.

For further information on BNG's risk management policies please refer to Note 27 "Risk section" in the annual report for 2009 incorporated by reference herein.

Executive Board and Supervisory Board

BNG's Executive Board consists of three members, and its Supervisory Board currently consists of ten members. The tables below set forth the members of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board, their year of birth, the year of their initial appointment and their position. The members of the Supervisory Board are appointed by the General Meeting of Shareholders on the nomination of the Supervisory Board, and the members of the Executive Board are appointed and dismissed by the Supervisory Board. All members of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board have their address at the registered office of BNG.

Executive Board

Name	Born	Appointed	Position
C. van Eykelenburg	1952	2005	President
J.J.A. Leenaars	1952	2002	Member
J.C. Reichardt	1958	2008	Member

Supervisory Board

Name	Born	Appointed	Position
H.O.C.R. Ruding	1939	2004	Chairman
Mrs Y.C.M.T. van Rooy	1951	2004	Vice-Chairman and Secretary
R.J.N. Abrahamsen	1938	2006	Member
H.H. Apotheker	1950	2002	Member
Mrs H.G.O.M. Berkers	1955	2009	Member

Mrs S.M. Dekker	1942	2007	Member
W.M. van den Goorbergh	1948	2003	Member
R.J.J.M. Pans	1952	2003	Member
A.G.J.M. Rombouts	1951	2000	Member

Set out below are brief biographies of the members of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board:

Executive Board

C. van Eykelenburg, President

Appointed to the Executive Board on 1 January 2005 and appointed as Chairman of the Executive Board on 15 October 2008. His appointment as Chairman of the Executive Board is for a four year period. This appointment can be extended. Mr Van Eykelenburg is Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Connexxion Holding N.V. and a member of the Supervisory Board of Codarts.

J.J.A. Leenaars, Member

Appointed to the Executive Board on 15 October 2002. His appointment as a Member of the Executive Board is for an indefinite period of time. Mr Leenaars is a member of the Supervisory Board of N.V. Trustinstelling Hoevelaken and a member of the Supervisory Board of the Higher Vocational Education Guarantee Fund.

J.C. Reichardt, Member

Appointed to the Executive Board on 15 October 2008. His appointment as a Member of the Executive Board is for a four year period. This appointment can be extended. Mr Reichardt is a member of the Supervisory Board of BOEI B.V.

Supervisory Board

H.O.C.R. Ruding

Appointed on 12 May 2004, reappointed on 28 April 2008 and eligible for reappointment in 2012. Former Vice-Chairman of Citicorp/Citibank, New York, former Minister of Finance. Mr Ruding is a member of the Supervisory Board of Corning Inc. (US), RTL Group (Luxemburg) and Holcim A.G. (Zürich).

Mrs Y.C.M.T. van Rooy

Appointed on 12 May 2004, reappointed on 28 April 2008 and eligible for reappointment in 2012. Chairman of the Governing Board of the University of Utrecht. Mrs Van Rooy is deputy Crownappointed member of the SER (Social and Economic Council) and member of the Advisory Board of Deloitte.

R.J.N. Abrahamsen

Appointed on 17 May 2006, eligible for reappointment in 2010. Former Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer KLM Royal Dutch Airlines. Mr Abrahamsen is member of the Supervisory Board of TNT N.V. and member of the Supervisory Board of Koninklijke BAM Groep N.V.

H.H. Apotheker

Appointed on 16 May 2002, reappointed on 17 May 2006 and eligible for reappointment in 2010. Mayor of the Municipality of Steenwijkerland. Mr Apotheker is Chairman of the Supervisory Board of N.V. Rendo and member of the Supervisory Committee of Waarborgfonds Eigen Woningen (Owner-Occupied Housing Guarantee Fund).

Mrs H.G.O.M. Berkers

Appointed on 27 April 2009, eligible for reappointment in 2013. Member of the Executive Board of Catharina-Hospital Eindhoven.

Mrs S.M. Dekker

Appointed on 24 May 2007, eligible for reappointment in 2011. Former Minister of Housing, Spatial Planning and the Environment. Mrs Dekker is a member of the Supervisory Boards of DHV and of Kristal N.V. and chairman of the Supervisory Boards of the Diabetes Fund and Stichting Antilliaanse Medefinancierings Organisatie.

W.M. van den Goorbergh

Appointed on 15 May 2003, reappointed on 24 May 2007 and eligible for reappointment in 2011. Former Vice Chairman of the Executive Board of Rabobank Nederland. Mr Van den Goorbergh is a member of the Supervisory Boards of DELA and De Welten Groep Holding B.V. He is also a member of the Supervisory Board of OPG Groep N.V. and of NIBC Bank N.V. and Vice-Chairman of the Board of the Catholic University of Nijmegen.

R.J.J.M. Pans

Appointed on 15 May 2003, reappointed on 24 May 2007 and eligible for reappointment in 2011. General Director of the Association of Netherlands Municipalities. Mr Pans is Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Zorggroep Almere.

A.G.J.M. Rombouts

Appointed on 18 May 2000, reappointed on 12 May 2004 and for a second time on 28 April 2008, due to retire in 2012. Mayor of the Municipality of 's-Hertogenbosch.

Managing Directors

Mrs P.J.E. Bieringa, Managing Director Public Finance J.L.S.M. Hillen, Managing Director Legal Department G.J. Thomas, Managing Director Company Secretary O. Labe, Managing Director Treasury R. van Woerden, Managing Director Funds Transfers and e-Banking

Conflicts of Interest

As of date of this Base Prospectus, the Issuer is not aware of any conflicts of interest between any duties to the Issuer of the members of the Executive Board, the Supervisory Board and the Managing Directors and their private interests and/or other duties. Should any potential conflicts of interest arise, the procedures set out below would apply.

Potential conflicts of interest - Executive Board

The members of the Executive Board aim to avoid any form and semblance of conflicting interests in the performance of their duties. The regulations of the Executive Board contain a provision that a member of the Executive Board who is confronted with a potential conflict of interest must report it. Such member will not participate in the deliberations or decision-making regarding the subject in question. If BNG wishes to enter into a transaction involving a potential conflict of interest, this transaction must, as stipulated by the regulations of the Executive Board, be submitted to the Supervisory Board for approval. Once approved, this transaction shall be required to be carried out in line with normal industry terms and disclosed in the annual report. At the moment there are no potential conflicts of interest.

Please note that the possibility cannot be excluded that in the future Executive Board memberships and additional positions of members of the Executive Board can lead to conflicting interests in the performance of duties. Should that be the case, then the above described procedure will be followed.

Potential conflicts of interest – Supervisory Board

The Dutch corporate governance code (the *Code Tabaksblat*), to which BNG voluntarily adheres, requires that any conflict of interest or apparent conflict of interest between the Issuer and the Supervisory Board members shall be avoided. Decisions to enter into transactions involving conflicting interests of Supervisory Board members that are of material significance to the Issuer and/or the relevant Supervisory Board members require the approval of the Supervisory Board.

The regulations of the Supervisory Board contain a provision that a Supervisory Board member who is confronted with a potential conflict of interest must report any such instance. It is stipulated that the Supervisory Board member in question will not take part in the deliberations or the decision-making regarding the matter. In addition, he or she shall refrain from any involvement whatsoever in transactions that are of material significance between, on the one hand, BNG and, on the other, the institution where he or she is an executive director or supervises the conduct of business as a member of that institution's supervisory board. Following approval by the Supervisory Board, any such transactions are exclusively carried out under the usual industry-specific terms and disclosed in the annual report. At the moment there are no potential conflicts of interest.

Please note that the possibility cannot be excluded that in the future supervisory board memberships and additional positions of members of the Supervisory Board can lead to conflicting interests in the performance of duties. Should that be the case then the above described procedure will be followed.

Share Capital, Voting Rights and Relationship with the Dutch State

BNG is a statutory limited company under Dutch law (*structuurvennootschap*). Half of BNG's share capital is held by the State of the Netherlands. The other 50% is mainly held by more than 95% of Dutch municipalities, 11 of the 12 provinces as well as one water board in the Netherlands.

For a full description of BNG's capitalisation as at 31 December 2009, see "Capitalisation".

Only the State of the Netherlands, provinces, municipalities, district water authorities and other public bodies thereof may be shareholders of the Issuer.

Since the revision in 2001, there is only one class of share.

Dividend

The long-term dividend policy – as more fully set out in Note 36 of the 2009 Financial Statements incorporated by reference herein - was presented at the Special General Meeting of Shareholders on 25 August 2006. In addition, the shareholders of BNG approved the proposal to make an additional payment of €500 million in mid-December 2006. On 24 May 2007 the General Meeting of Shareholders approved the proposal to make an additional payment of €500 million in mid-December 2007 from the Reserve Retained Profit to the Shareholders. A condition to this proposition was that the strong funding position of the bank in the international capital markets would not be affected in any manner whatsoever by the extra dividend. This implied that all ratings assigned to BNG be retained. These dividends have been duly paid in accordance with the aforesaid approvals and conditions. In each of 2008 and 2009, BNG paid out 50% of net profit in accordance with its stated dividend policy (2009: €139 million; 2008: €79 million).

European Supervision and Regulation

The EU Financial Services Action Plan 1999-2005 laid down the foundations for a single financial market in the European Union and has resulted in many changes with respect to European supervision. In its Strategy on Financial Services for 2005-2010, the European Commission set out its objectives to achieve an integrated and competitive EU financial market. In that respect, the European Commission proposed to remove remaining barriers, especially in the retail area, to enable the provision of financial services and circulation of capital throughout the European Union in a cost efficient way and without barriers, resulting in a high level of financial stability, consumer benefit and consumer protection. The financial services sector includes EU regulatory policies with respect to three mayor areas, i.e. banking, capital markets and asset management.

The EU Banking Directive (recast) 2006/48/EC ("**Banking Directive**") provides rules concerning the taking up and pursuit of the business of credit institutions and their prudential supervision. Pursuant to the Banking Directive, a bank may offer banking services in all Member States under its banking license ("**European passport**"), through the establishment of a branch office or on a cross-border basis. Basel II

sets out the details for adopting more risk-sensitive minimum capital requirements for banking organisations. It reinforces these risk-sensitive requirements by laying down principles for banks to assess the adequacy of their capital and for supervisors to review such assessments to supervise whether banks have adequate capital to support their risks. It aims to strengthen market discipline by enhancing transparency in banks' financial reporting. At the same time as the Banking Directive, the EU Capital Adequacy Directive (recast) 2006/49/EC ("Capital Directive") has been approved and published. The Banking Directive and the Capital Directive form together the EU Capital Requirements Directive ("Capital Requirements Directive is the legal vehicle pursuant to which the Basel II framework has been implemented into EU law. It sets out the capital adequacy requirements that apply to investment firms and credit institutions.

In October 2008, the European Commission adopted proposals to amend the Capital Requirements Directive in view of the financial crisis. The proposals address subjects (such as large exposures, supervisory arrangements and crisis management and securitisation. The European Commission also adopted a proposal for amendments to the Deposit Guarantee Schemes Directive 94/19/EC. As a result thereof, the amended Deposit Guarantee Schemes Directive 2009/14/EC has come into force, which provides for: (i) an increased minimum coverage level for depositors from €20,000 to €50,000 with a further increase to €100,000 for the aggregate deposits of each depositor by 31 December 2010; and (ii) a reduction in the payout delay.

In April 2004, the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive 2004/39/EC ("MiFID") came into force. MiFID regulates, inter alia, the cross-border provision of investment firms and replaces the Investment Services Directive 1993/22/EEC, which established the single European passport for investment firms. MiFID provides a harmonised regime for investment services and aims to increase competition and reinforce investor protection. It streamlines supervision on the basis of home country control and enhances the transparency of markets. Furthermore, MiFID harmonises conduct of business rules, including best execution, conflict of interest and customer order handling rules. MiFID abolishes the concentration rule, creating a more competitive regime between order execution venues. It furthermore imposes market transparency rules on investment firms, regulated markets and multilateral trading systems for both pre- and posttrading for equities. MiFID also has consequences for intermediaries in financial products. It envisages, inter alia, a way to harmonise regulation in respect of commission payments and remuneration transparency. MiFID prescribes inducement rules which should lead to appropriate commissions. These rules are intended to better protect customers if they wish to purchase certain financial products, such as "complex" structured products and mortgage loans and to avoid reward-driven advice issued by intermediaries since intermediaries are often paid by the provider of the financial product.

In November 2007, the Payment Services Directive 2007/64/EC ("**PSD**") was formally adopted. The PSD aims to open up payment services to competition from newly licensed payments institutions and to increase consumer protection by introducing information requirements and uniform operational rules for payment service providers. The PSD, applicable in the European Union to all payments in Euro and other Member States' currencies, lays the foundation for the creation of a single market in payments and constitutes the legal framework for a single Euro payments area.

In the area of asset management, the European Union has enacted legislation on pension and investment products. On investment funds, the original Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities Directive 1985/611/EEC ("UCITS Directive") has been amended by Directive 2001/107/EC and Directive 2001/108/EC. The first directive regulates the product (e.g. types of assets in which to invest) and the second gives management companies a European passport to operate throughout the EU. These amendments to the UCITS Directive were initiated to increase the efficiency of the European investment fund industry. Directive 2009/65/EC ("UCITS IV"), which has to be implemented before 1 July 2011, will result in further amendments.

On 30 April 2009, the European Commission proposed the Directive on Alternative Investment Fund Managers COM/2009/207. The proposed directive envisages a framework for the direct regulation and supervision of the alternative fund industry, particularly hedge funds and private equity funds. If final legislation is adopted, the directive should come into force in 2011.

The third Anti-Money Laundering Directive 2005/60/EC, adopted in November 2005, has the aim to implement 40 recommendations of the Financial Action Task Force (an intergovernmental body whose purpose is the development and promotion of national and international policies to combat money

laundering and terrorist financing). It follows a risk-based approach under which all measures aimed at preventing money laundering must be applied on a proportionate basis, depending on the type of customer, business and other considerations. On 1 January 2007, the regulation which transposes the Financial Action Task Force Special Recommendation VII on "wire transfers" into EU legislation came into force. The regulation sets out rules on information on the payer accompanying transfers of funds, in order to allow basic information to be immediately available to the authorities responsible for combating money laundering and terrorist financing.

Directive 2007/44/EC (the "Antonveneta-Directive") was adopted in September 2007 and provides for a limited list of grounds for refusal of an application for a declaration of no objection with respect to, amongst others, the acquisition of a qualified holding in a bank. Pursuant to the Antonveneta-Directive, the relevant supervisory authority must assess the suitability of the proposed entity that wishes to acquire a qualified holding and the financial soundness of the proposed acquisition on the basis of criteria such as reputation of the proposed acquirer and whether the bank will be able to comply and continue to comply with prudential requirements (as set out in more detail below). Pursuant to the Antonveneta-Directive, the supervisor may only oppose the proposed acquisition if there are reasonable grounds for doing so on the basis of the criteria or if the information provided by the proposed acquirer is incomplete. The Antonveneta-Directive specifically mentions the prevention of money laundering and terrorist financing as a ground for refusal.

Dutch Supervision and Regulation

The Dutch regulation for financial supervision is laid down in and based on the provisions of the Dutch Financial Supervision Act (*Wet op het financial toezicht*, "**DFSA**"), which came into effect on 1 January 2007. The DFSA is partly based on European directives and regulations.

Dutch financial firms, such as BNG and it subsidiaries, operate under the supervision of DNB and the AFM. The Dutch regulatory supervision consists of prudential supervision and conduct of business supervision. Prudential supervision is performed by DNB, while the conduct supervision is performed by the AFM.

The AFM's conduct supervision focuses on ensuring orderly and transparent financial market processes, proper relationships between market participants and the exercise of due care by financial enterprises in dealing with customers. The conduct supervision intends to realise that financial enterprises treat their customers with due care, in order to minimise the potential information gap between providers of financial services and products, and their customers. In case of breach of conduct rules pursuant to the DFSA, the AFM may, inter alia, issue directions, impose fines and publish information on any imposed sanctions and the context thereof.

DNB's prudential supervision is aimed to ensure the financial soundness of financial undertakings, including banks, and contributes to the stability of the financial sector. In order to achieve this, DNB protects the interests of bank creditors, policyholders, investors and financial services customers of financial enterprises. Prudential supervision comprises solvency and liquidity supervision designed to review whether financial enterprises can meet their payment obligations. The supervision aims to reduce the risk of bankruptcy. In case of breach of conduct of business rules of the DFSA, DNB may, inter alia, issue directions, impose fines and publish information on any imposed sanctions and the context thereof. The rules on prudential supervision are further described below.

Rules Regarding Prudential Supervision

Solvency supervision

Solvency supervision is based on the implementation of Basel II into the DFSA by the Capital Requirements Directive (see above) and regulations issued pursuant thereto, including DNB supervisory rules. This was completed when the DFSA and those regulations entered into force on 1 January 2007.

Liquidity supervision

Under DNB's liquidity regulation (*Regeling liquiditeit Wft*), banks are in principle required to report their liquidity position on a consolidated level to DNB on a monthly basis. The liquidity regulation seeks to ensure, inter alia, that banks are able to meet their payment requirements on an ongoing basis, on the assumption that banks would remain solvent. The regulatory report also takes into consideration the

liquidity effects of derivatives and the potential drawings under committed facilities. The liquidity regulation places emphasis on the short term by testing the liquidity position over a period of up to one month with a separate test of the liquidity position in the first week. For observational purposes, several additional maturity bands are included in the liquidity report (one to three months, three to six months, six months to one year and beyond one year). Available liquidity must always exceed required liquidity. Available liquidity and required liquidity are calculated by applying weighting factors to the relevant on- and off balance sheet items. The liquidity test includes all currencies.

Liquidity reporting

On the basis of an evaluation of the current liquidity reporting system, which was also performed in light of the recent economic downturn, DNB's Consultation Document on Changes to Liquidity Reporting (Consultatiedocument Wijzigingen Liquiditeitsrapportage) includes proposals for changes to the liquidity reporting system. Under the new proposals, each month a test will be performed to verify if the available liquidity as specified in the liquidity report meets the requisite liquidity level. The new proposals are designed to enable banks under supervision to maintain sufficient liquid assets to sustain prolonged periods of stress without excessive and prolonged recourse to central banks. In addition, they aim to provide more insight into the liquidity risk of several sources, like off-balance activities and the financial resilience in the longer term.

Structural supervision

An interest or control of 10% or more (a qualified holding) in a Dutch licensed bank requires a declaration of no objection issued by DNB or the Dutch Minister of Finance. In addition, banks require a declaration of no objection for specific acts, for example if it wishes to reduce its own funds or alter its financial or corporate structure. With respect to the rules for obtaining a declaration of no objection, we refer to the Antonveneta-Directive, as mentioned above. Although the Antonveneta-Directive needed to be implemented in all EEA member states on 21 March 2009, it has not yet been implemented in the Netherlands. It is currently unknown when the Antonveneta-Directive will be implemented in the Netherlands. DNB has expressed that, until the Antonveneta-Directive is implemented, DNB will apply the current provisions of the DFSA concerning DNOs as far as possible in conformity with the Antonveneta-Directive. In this respect we note that, pursuant to European law, if provisions in the Antonveneta-Directive are suitable to be applied in a specific case, DNB is obligated to do so if this would be to the benefit of the DNO-applicant. DNB may however not do so if the provision in question is not to the benefit of the DNO-applicant. Having said that, it is important to note that provisions currently contained in the DFSA must be interpreted in accordance with European Directives where this is possible.

Aside from the declaration of no objection requirement for qualified holdings in financial enterprises, banks holding specific participating interests may also be required to apply for a declaration of no objection. Such is the case if the participating interest exceeds a given threshold value, for example, when the participating interest constitutes more than 1% of the balance sheet total of the receiving bank.

BNG and BNG Vermogensbeheer B.V.

Pursuant to the DFSA, no enterprise or institution established in the Netherlands may pursue the business of a bank unless it has obtained a banking license from DNB. BNG holds a Dutch banking license pursuant to Article 2:11 in conjunction with Article 2:12 of the DFSA to perform banking services in the Netherlands such as granting credits. Therefore BNG is subject to supervision by DNB and must comply with the rules regarding prudential supervision as set out above. Furthermore, BNG provides investment services in the Netherlands through its subsidiary BNG Vermogensbeheer B.V., which is licensed as an investment firm pursuant to Article 2:96 DFSA and is therefore subject to conduct supervision performed by the AFM and prudential supervision performed by DNB.

$CAPITALIZATION^1\\$

As of 31 December

	2009	2008	2007	
		(€millions)		
Share Capital	139	139	139	
Share Premium Reserve	6	6	6	
Revaluation Reserve	49	(29)	104	
Other Reserves	1,787	1,708	1,610	
Net Profit	278	158	195	
Currency Translation Account	(6)	(3)	(1)	
Total Equity	2,253	1,979	2,053	
Subordinated Loans	174	170	163	
Funds Entrusted	7,070	6,439	6,468	
Debt Securities ²	79,935	79,157	70,005	
Total Capitalisation	89,432	87,745	78,689	

¹ Based on the Consolidated Balance Sheet of the Issuer.

 $^{^2}$ Of which as of 31 December 2009 ${\leqslant}21{,}955$ million had a maturity of less than one year.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 2009-2005

	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005	
(€millions, except percentages, per share and employee data)						
Total Assets	104,496	101,365	92,602	90,098	91,671	
Loans and Advances	79,305	75,699	66,037	64,994	64,166	
of which Granted to or guaranteed by Public Authorities	67,164	64,782	60,219	60,059	58,287	
of which reclassified out of the financial assets available for sale item	4,226	4,569	-	-	-	
Equity ^{1, 2}	2,253	1,979	2,053	2,576	3,145	
of which Unrealized Revaluation	49	(29)	104	220	354	
Equity per share (in Euros) ^{1, 2}	39.58	36.06	35.00	42.31	50.09	
Equity as a % of Total Assets ^{1, 2}	2.1%	2.0%	2.1%	2.6%	3.0%	
BIS-Ratio core capital (tier 1) ^{1, 3}	19%	18%	18%	24%	32%	
BIS-Ratio total capital 1,4	20%	20%	20%	26%	33%	
Profit before tax	350	182	238	255	276	
Net Profit	278	158	195	199	311	
Profit per Share (in Euros)	4.98	2.84	3.50	3.57	5.58	
Dividend (in Cash)	139	79	97	99	134	
Dividend as a % of Consolidated Net Profit	50%	50%	50%	50%	43%	
Dividend per Share (in Euros)	2.49	1.42	1.75	1.78	2.40	
Additional Payment			500	500		
Additional Payment per Share			8.98	8.98		
Employees (in FTEs) at Year-End	287	280	278	381	409	
- of which Subsidiaries	58	51	52	42	38	

¹ In December 2007 and December 2006, an additional payment of €500 million was made to shareholders (€8.98 per share). The payment was charged to the reserves.

 $^{^{2}}$ Excluding the revaluation reserve.

³ Core (Tier 1) capital as a percentage of risk-weighted amounts.

⁴ Total capital as a percentage of risk-weighted amounts

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The following operating and financial review is based on the information contained in BNG's annual reports of 2007, 2008 and 2009 as well as the accounting records of BNG and is intended to convey management's perspective on the operating performance and financial condition of BNG during the period under review, as measured in accordance with IFRS-EU. This disclosure is intended to assist readers in understanding and interpreting the financial statements of BNG incorporated by reference in this prospectus. The discussion should be read in conjunction with the "Selected Financial Data 2009-2005" and the consolidated financial statements of BNG and the accompanying notes which are incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus. BNG is required to comply with IFRS-EU, and our accounting policies have been established accordingly.

This discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. BNG's actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those discussed below and elsewhere in this Base Prospectus, particularly under the headings "Risk Factors" and "Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-looking Statements".

In this operating and financial review, references to the "2009", "2008", and "2007" refer to the years ended 31 December 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Overview

BNG's net profit for 2009 rose by 75.9% to \in 278 million from \in 158 million in 2008, which itself represented a decline of 19% from \in 195 million in 2007. The improvement in net profit in 2009 included an increase of \in 60 million in interest result due to low money market interest rates and a steeper yield curve which benefited BNG's interest margin, as well as a \in 104 million increase in income from financial transactions due to the improved marketability of interest-bearing securities, which reversed certain valuation losses recognized in 2008. The decline in 2008 was principally due to the valuation losses recognized in 2008.

As a result of the turmoil in the international money and capital markets BNG, particularly in the last half of 2008 and into the first half of 2009, was required to pay historically high credit and liquidity spreads on the money it borrowed. In fact, the capital markets were closed, even to borrowers of BNG's quality, in the last quarter of 2008 resulting in BNG relying increasingly on short-term funding during this period. Although BNG had to pass the higher spreads on to its clients and despite the difficult market conditions, BNG continued lending to its core clients: local authorities, housing associations and the healthcare and educational institutions. BNG's commitment to its client base enabled it to enhance its market position during 2009 as several competing banks withdrew from the market segment in which BNG operates. Similarly in 2008, BNG's lending to its core clients continued despite the financial crisis, temporarily increasing its market share and volume of long-term lending. This underscores the importance of BNG's role as a lender to local authorities and public sector institutions in all market conditions.

Long-term lending was &8.6 billion in 2009 compared to &10.5 billion in 2008 and &7.4 billion in 2007. The decline in 2009 of 18.1% reflected lower demand due to a reduced willingness to invest by BNG clients as a result of the continuing uncertain economic developments during 2009, while in 2008 the increase of 41.9% was largely due to BNG's continued willingness to act as a lender to local authorities and public institutions during a tight credit environment. The demand for loans with longer maturities dropped considerably in 2009 as the liquidity spreads for long-term funding increased more dramatically than for short term loans. Against this background, the average of short-term lending to clients in 2009 was &5.8 billion compared to &3.9 billion in 2008 and &3.8 billion in 2007. This increase in 2009 was partially due to an increased use of short-term financing by local authorities in anticipation of the economic recovery and took advantage of the lower interest rates available for short-term lending. In 2009 several local authorities received funds from the sale of their shares in utility companies, which also decreased their need to use outside funding sources. As a result, BNG's overall loan portfolio grew only modestly, and the maturity profile of loans shifted to shorter term loans.

From BNG's lending and refinancing perspective, the second half of 2009 saw a return of confidence in healthy banks and the credit markets. As a result BNG was able to resume funding in the international capital markets. The more stable financial markets together with improved confidence had a favorable effect on the level of the credit and liquidity risk spreads paid by BNG and on the variation in maturity of

new issues. BNG raised long-term funding of €14.2 billion in 2009, compared to €13.1 billion in 2008 and €11.3 billion in 2007. BNG was also able to increase the average maturity of its debt issuance during 2009 to 4.7 years, an improvement of 0.5 years over 2008 when there was a greater reliance on short-term funding. Average maturity in 2007 was 5.3 years. BNG's triple A-ratings were reconfirmed and investor confidence in BNG was maintained.

The response by governments and central banks to the financial crisis had positive affects on the net interest income of many financial institutions in 2009 as their borrowing costs dropped. Due to the robust intervention by the various central banks since September 2008, short-term interest rates for the world's major currencies dropped to historically low levels. BNG's interest result benefited from the low interest environment. The reduced turbulence in the financial markets also led to positive revaluation income, partly because of the reduced risk spreads on the assets in the bank's investment portfolio.

Principal Factors Affecting Results of Operations

General economic conditions

The economic consequences of the financial crisis in 2008 and 2009 have been considerable. Particularly in the last half of 2008 and the first quarter of 2009 economic activities world-wide strongly decreased due to a drop in foreign trade and in corporate investments. Only during the course of the third quarter of 2009 did the Western economies emerge from the recession under the influence of substantial government incentive measures. Expressed as a percentage of gross domestic product ("GDP") government stimulus amounted to about 4% in western countries, spread equally over extra expenses and tax cuts. In addition, international trade picked up strongly, partly because the economies of China and other emerging countries evidenced surprisingly strong recoveries.

Just as in other western countries the economic recovery in the Netherlands has been moderate, so that the loss in production sustained during the financial crisis is still far from being restored. In 2009 GDP in the Netherlands fell by 4% and the export of goods and services dropped by 11%¹. Although government investment increased as a result of incentive measures, consumption fell; although not as much as anticipated, in large part due to a lower rise in unemployment than expected. Because of part-time unemployment benefits fewer people were made redundant while more young people opted for further education. In addition, flexibility in the labor market ensured that the number of staff could be better synchronized with production. Nevertheless, in 2009 more than 110,000 persons were made redundant which brought the number of unemployed in the Netherlands to 410,000, or 5.3% of the working population.² In comparison, at the end of 2008 unemployment was only 3.9%.³ Inflation reduced from 2.5% to 1.0% under the influence of lower energy prices.⁴ In the Euro-zone as a whole, inflation ended up at 0.3%⁵ while American consumer prices dropped slightly (0.4%⁶). The slowdown in inflation enabled central banks generally to further broaden their monetary policy and maintain low short-term interest rates.

The economic consequences of the global financial crisis and the volatility of the capital markets during the period under discussion impacted BNG in its core activities of funding and lending. Furthermore, BNG believes that economic and market conditions in the Netherlands and Western Europe in general will continue to affect BNG's results of operations. In particular, BNG's ability to generate revenues and expand its business in the future largely depends on the prospect and speed of economic and market recovery within the Netherlands and Western Europe. For more information relating to macro-economic risks to BNG see "Risk Factors - BNG's business, earnings and results of operations are materially affected by conditions in the global financial markets and by global economic conditions, particularly in the Netherlands."

Borrowing and debt obligations

¹ Source: Statistics Netherlands (*Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek*).

² Source: Statistics Netherlands (*Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek*).

³ Source: Statistics Netherlands (*Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek*).

⁴ Source: Statistics Netherlands (Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek).

⁵ Source: Eurostad.

⁶ Source: U.S. Department of Labour.

The turmoil in the international money and capital markets had a significant impact on BNG. Despite confirmation of its AAA rating in 2009, BNG, especially in the second half of 2008 and the first half of 2009, was faced with historically high credit and liquidity spreads that had to be paid to investors purchasing its debt securities. The spreads payable by other financial institutions that obtained funds under the Netherlands' guarantee scheme initially placed a ceiling on the spreads charged to BNG. This involved spreads that necessarily had to be passed on to BNG's clients. In spite of this, BNG in 2008 and 2009 succeeded in offering competitive rates. The main reason being that BNG, as a AAA-bank, was able to fund itself more easily and under more favorable conditions during the course of 2008 and 2009 than many other lenders. The improvements in rates in the latter half of 2009 were passed on in the rates to BNG's clients.

In the second half of 2009 the recovery of confidence led to less turmoil in the international money and capital markets and a drop in risk spreads. In addition, the availability of, and variations in maturities for, funding increased. Furthermore, as conditions improved BNG was able to reduce the liquidity risk monitoring, which was tightened in the fourth quarter of 2008, to a more customary level. Because of these developments BNG was also able to strongly reduce the spreads on long-term lending to clients. Under the influence of this development client demand rose sharply mainly in the fourth quarter of 2009. The spreads are still considerably higher than in the years before the crisis.

Interest rates

During the autumn of 2008 global banks began to face severe asset erosion as the effects of the U.S. subprime housing loan crisis extended into the markets causing financial turbulence that jeopardized financial stability and economic growth. Central banks globally, including the European Central Bank, cut key interest rates significantly. Interest rates for the Euro OverNight Index Average fell from 4.25% in the third quarter of 2008 to 0.36% in the third quarter of 2009 and rates remain at that level of as the date of this Base Prospectus.

Fluctuations in short-term and medium- to long-term interest rates impact BNG's interest result differently based upon the repricing profile of its interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities, which is set forth in "Note 27, Risk Section - Liquidity and Funding Risk" to the 2009 Financial Statements incorporated by reference herein. BNG's repricing profile depends upon the pricing terms applicable to its products (including base interest rates and yield curves), the mix of funding and lending instruments in BNG's portfolio and the extent of BNG's use of interest rate-related derivative contracts. As a general matter, declining short-term interest rates do not affect BNG's interest rate margins significantly, as BNG relies mainly on funding from the capital markets rather than from deposits and current accounts, and BNG's borrowing and lending margins are more closely matched. BNG also uses a variety of derivative products to minimize the risks related to interest rate fluctuations.

Hedging

BNG applies economic hedging in order to minimize foreign exchange risks and keep interest rate risks at desired levels. BNG maintains a system of limits and procedures that are monitored on a daily basis. Foreign exchange and interest rate risks are principally hedged with the aid of derivatives. The treatment of derivatives and hedged items in the balance sheet and income statement is such that they are aligned with the actual economic hedging. BNG processes this hedging relationship under IFRS through micro and portfolio fair value hedging. Micro fair value hedging ("MH") is applied to individual transactions involved in an economic hedge relationship to offset interest rate risks. Micro hedging relates to individual transactions where interest rate risk exposure is concerned, which transactions become involved in an economic hedge relationship. In the case of micro hedging, there is a demonstrable one-toone relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument. With portfolio fair value hedging ("PH"), the interest rate risk of a group of transactions is hedged by means of a group of derivatives. As BNG uses MH and PH to hedge its principal assets (loans and advances and its securities portfolio) as well as its main liabilities (principally borrowings) there can be significant movements in line items although the net effects due to its policy on matching, results in relatively small net movements. Some of the movements in the period under discussion were exacerbated by the financial crisis and the differentials that arose between floating rate and fixed rate interest rates.

Results of Operations

The table below sets forth BNG's results of operations for the years ended 31 December 2009, 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007:

	Year ended	31 Decemb	er
	2009	2008	2007
	((€millions)	
Interest income	2,628	4,524	3,868
Interest expenses	2,291	4,247	3,603
Interest result	337	277	265
Income from associates and joint ventures	2	(1)	13
Commission income	36	25	20
Commission expenses	6	5	6
Commission result	30	20	14
Result financial transactions	40	(64)	8
Foreign exchange result	0	2	0
Other income	2	9	4
Total income	411	243	304
Staff costs	35	32	36
Other administrative expenses	24	27	26
Staff costs and other administrative expenses	59	59	62
Depreciation	2	2	4
Total expenses	61	61	66
Profit before tax	350	182	238
Movement in Deferred Taxes	-	-	(1)

Year ended 31 December

	2009	2008	2007
	(€	millions)	
Taxes	(72)	(24)	(42)
Taxation	(72)	(24)	(43)
Net Profit	278	158	195

Description of key income statement items

Interest result

Interest result comprises interest income and interest expenses. Interest income includes the interest income from loans and advances, deposits and investments as well as the results from financial instruments used to hedge interest rate and currency risks, and also other credit related income received. Interest expense, on the other hand, includes the cost of borrowing and related transactions (including the affects of hedging) as well as other interest related charges.

BNG uses PH accounting under IFRS for assets. Hedge instruments are all interest rate swaps. Interest results from derivatives involving PH accounting are included in interest income. These interest rate swaps have a fixed pay component with BNG receiving a floating rate.

BNG uses MH accounting under IFRS for liabilities. Hedge instruments are all cross currency swaps or interest rate swaps. Interest results from derivatives involving micro fair value hedge accounting will be shown in interest expenses. These swaps have a floating rate pay component and a fixed rate receive component.

Commission result

Commission result comprises commission income and commission expenses. Commission income includes income received from and to be received for services provided to third parties. Commission expense includes fees paid or to be paid for services rendered by third parties in relation to loans and credit facilities.

Result financial transactions

Result financial transactions relates to realized and unrealized results from fair value movements of financial instruments that are measured at fair value with movement through the income statement. These movements are almost entirely offset by the market value movements of derivatives entered into as hedges for these transactions. This item also includes the results due to the sale of available for sale transactions.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses includes staff costs and other administrative expenses. Other administrative expenses includes the cost of outsourcing, rent and maintenance of property and equipment, printing costs, training expenses and advertising costs.

Results of Operations for 2009 compared to 2008

Interest result

Interest result increased from €277 million in 2008 to €337 million in 2009, an increase of €60 million, or 21.6%. The increase was primarily due to:

- the impact of short-term interest rates following government interventions in late 2008;
- relatively stable long-term rates during 2009 compared to 2008;
- a downward trend in credit and liquidity risk spreads;
- an increase in the share of short-term funding in the first half of 2009; and
- improved interest margins that accrued to BNG due to a steeper interest curve.

The benefits of these factors were offset in part by lower demand for long-term lending in 2009.

Interest income and interest expenses both declined in 2009 because of the decline in floating rate interest rates compared to 2008. In applying hedge accounting, the result is that BNG pays floating rates for funding and receives floating rates for assets.

Interest income decreased from $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{$}}\]4,524$ million in 2008 to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{$}}\]2,628$ million in 2009, a decrease of $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{$}}\]1,896$ million, or 41.9%. The decrease was primarily the result of the low interest rate environment in 2009 and BNG's use of derivatives to hedge its interest rate exposures. In 2008 the levels of fixed rates paid and floating rates received under derivatives were almost the same. As a result, there was only $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{$}}\]68$ million in interest income in 2008 attributable to derivatives involved in a PH accounting relationship (see below). In 2009 the difference between the fixed pay and floating rate receive increased. The fixed rate (payable in the PH swaps) declined significantly less than the floating rate (receivable in the PH swaps). This difference in rates resulted in a negative interest income on the swaps involving PH of $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{$}}\]6,096$ million in 2009.

Interest income on financial assets involved in a fair value hedge accounting relationship and financial assets at amortized cost declined in 2009 compared to 2008 due to a sharp decline in interest rates for floating rate assets despite higher levels of floating rate assets in 2009 compared to 2008.

The table below sets forth interest income for the years 2009 and 2008.

	Year ended 31 December	
	2009	2008
	(€millio	ons)
Financial assets at fair value through the income statement	69	96
Derivatives not involved in a hedge accounting relationship	116	226
Derivatives involved in a portfolio fair value hedge accounting relationship	(1,096)	68
Financial assets available for sale not involved in a hedge accounting relationship	41	160
Financial assets involved in a fair value hedge accounting relationship	3,141	2,977
Financial assets at amortized cost	345	917
Other interest income	12	80

Year ended 31
December

2009 2008

(€millions)

Total interest income 2,628 4,524

Interest expenses decreased from $\[mathunger]$ 4,247 million in 2008 to $\[mathunger]$ 2,991 in 2009, a decrease of $\[mathunger]$ 1,956 million, or 46%. The decrease in interest expenses was also attributable to the low interest rate environment as well as the impact of BNG's use of derivatives to hedge its interest rate exposure on the liability side. As noted above, in 2008 the levels of floating rates paid and fixed rates received were almost the same, resulting in interest expenses of $\[mathunger]$ 287 million in interest result. In 2009 the difference between the floating rate paid and fixed rate received increased as described above. This interest rate differential reduced interest expenses to $\[mathunger]$ 981 million in 2009. Interest expenses on financial liabilities involved in a micro fair value hedge accounting relationship and financial liabilities at amortized cost also declined due to the sharp decline in interest rates BNG paid on its floating rate borrowings despite higher levels of liabilities.

Vacu and ad 21

The table below sets forth interest expenses for the years 2009 and 2008.

	Year ended 31 December	
	2009	2008
	(€millions)	
Derivatives not involved in a hedge accounting relationship	115	190
Derivatives involved in a micro fair value hedge accounting relationship	(981)	287
Financial liabilities involved in a micro fair value hedge accounting relationship	2 220	2 202
	2,229	2,392
Financial liabilities at amortized cost	910	1,310
Other interest expenses	18	68
Total interest expenses	2,291	4,247

Commission result

Commission result increased from €20 million in 2008 to €30 million in 2009, an increase of €10 million, or 50.0%. The increase was primarily the result of a significant increase in commission income compared to largely stable expenses.

Commission income increased from €25 million in 2008 to €36 million in 2009, an increase of €11 million, or 44.0%. The increase was primarily the result of substantial growth in commission income from the lending business as well as project financing and commission income from BNG's subsidiary BNG Vermogensbeheer.

Commission expense increased from €5 million in 2008 to €6 million in 2009, an increase of €1 million, or 20.0%. The increase was primarily the result of an increase in fees paid or to be paid for services related to loans and credit facilities.

$Result\ financial\ transactions$

The table below sets out the fair value movements of various financial transactions recorded on the income statement as financial transactions for 2009 and 2008.

	December	
	2009	2008
	(€millions)	
Result from hedge accounting		
Financial assets involved in a fair value hedge accounting relationship	(407)	4,168
Financial liabilities involved in a micro fair value hedge accounting relationship	826	(3,213)
Derivatives involved in a hedge accounting relationship	(412)	(946)
	7	9
Financial assets at fair value through the income statement		
Market value adjustment as a result of changes in credit and liquidity spreads		
- of which investments	26	(84)
- of which structured loans	<u>(22)</u>	<u>(14)</u>
	4	(98)
Other market value adjustments	(94)	285
	(90)	187
Financial assets available for sale not involved in a hedge accounting relationship	_	9
Derivatives not involved in a hedge accounting relationship	123	(269)
	40	(64)

Year ended 31

Results financial transactions provided net income of €40 million in 2009 compared to a net loss of €64 million in 2008, an increase of €104 million.

The result from hedge accounting was €9 million in 2008 compared to €7 million in 2009. The bulk of the interest rate risk to which the bank is exposed in relation to its financial assets or liabilities is customarily hedged through the use of financial instruments. In market value terms, value movements resulting from interest rate fluctuations are offset through the use of derivatives, although there may be significant movements in the individual assets, liabilities and derivatives from year to year. Where the hedge relationship is effective, hedge accounting enables BNG to neutralize in principle the difference in result recognition between the hedging instrument and the hedged item. BNG only uses derivatives as a hedging instrument and these are stated at fair value in the balance sheet.

The change from period to period in financial assets at fair value through the income statement was primarily the result of a positive revaluation of interest-bearing securities as the result of decreasing turmoil in the financial markets in 2009, going from a negative \in 98 million adjustment in 2008 to a positive \in 4 million in 2009. The largest remaining market value changes related to hedging transactions that profited from the low short-term interest rates amounting to \in 4 million as the values rose from \in 25 million in 2008 to \in 29 million in 2009. This was partially offset by unrealized market value changes of

transactions involved in hedge accounting, which decreased from \notin 9 million in 2008 to \notin 7 million in 2009. In addition, income from derivatives not involved in a hedge accounting relationship rose sharply from a loss of \notin 269 million in 2008 to income of \notin 123 million in 2009 primarily due to the sharp drop in short term interest rates in 2009 as well as a reversal of unrealized negative market values from prior years.

Other income

Other income decreased from $\[mathcal{e}\]9$ million in 2008 to $\[mathcal{e}\]2$ million in 2009, a decrease of $\[mathcal{e}\]7$ million, or 77.8%. Other income included $\[mathcal{e}\]6$ million of income from consultancy services in each of 2009 and 2008. The decrease was primarily the result of impairments of $\[mathcal{e}\]4$ million ($\[mathcal{e}\]3$ million relating to associates) in 2009 compared with non-recurring income from the sale of fixed assets ($\[mathcal{e}\]2$ million) and the release from drawn BNG bonds ($\[mathcal{e}\]1$ million) totalling $\[mathcal{e}\]3$ million in 2008.

Staff costs and other administrative expenses

Staff costs and other administrative expenses were flat at €59 million in both 2009 and 2008.

The table below sets out staff costs for 2009 and 2008.

		Year ended 31 December	
	2009	2008	
	(€million	(€millions)	
Wages and salaries	22	21	
Pension costs	5	4	
Social security costs	2	2	
Addition to provisions	1	0	
Other staff costs	5	5	
	35	32	

Staff costs increased from \in 32 million in 2008 to \in 35 million in 2009, an increase of \in 3 million, or 9.4%. The increase was primarily the result of rises in wages and pension costs in accordance with the contractual provisions of the collective labor agreement.

Other administrative expenses decreased from €27 million in 2008 to €24 million in 2009, a decrease of €3 million, or 11.1%. The decrease was primarily the result of lower costs of outsourcing payment services and IT processes compared to 2008.

Profit before tax

Profit before tax increased from €182 million in 2008 to €350 million in 2009, an increase of €168 million, or 92.3%. The increase was primarily the result of the significant increase in total income (€411 million in 2009 compared to €243 million in 2008) while total expenses remained flat at €61 million in each year. BNG's cost to income ratio decreased from 25.1% in 2008 to 14.8% in 2009.

Taxation

Tax increased from \in 24 million in 2008 to \in 72 million in 2009, an increase of \in 48 million, or 200%. The increase was primarily the result of the significant increase in profit before tax in 2009. Each of 2008 and 2009 benefited from a \in 17 million tax credit relating to income from assets acquired prior to 2005, when BNG was recategorized by the government as a taxable entity. The tax credits were claimable for a five-year period and from 2010 and future periods there will be no further tax credits.

Net profit

As a result of the foregoing, net profit increased from €158 million in 2008 to €278 million in 2009, an increase of €120 million, or 75.9%.

Results of Operations for 2008 and 2007

Interest result

Interest result increased from €265 million in 2007 to €277 million in 2008, an increase of €12 million, or 4.5%. The increase was mainly attributable to the increase in short-term funding in the last few months of 2008 utilized by BNG to fund the growth in its long-term loans and advances. BNG benefitted from the relatively large difference between short-term and long-term interest rates, particularly in the fourth quarter of 2008.

Interest income increased from $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\mathfrak{C}}3,868\ensuremath{\ensuremath{\mathsf{8}}}\ensuremath{\mathsf{million}}$ in 2007 to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\mathfrak{C}}4,524\ensuremath{\mathsf{million}}}$ in increase in interest income on derivatives. Interest rate derivatives involved in PH resulted in net income of $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\mathfrak{C}}68\ensuremath{\mathsf{million}}}$ in 2007. This result was due to a decrease in the difference between the fixed rate (payable in the PH swaps) and the floating rate (receivable in the PH swaps) in 2008, resulting in positive interest income. Interest income on financial assets involved in a fair value hedge accounting relationship was relatively stable as a result of this income being based almost entirely on fixed rates. Financial assets at amortized cost increased by $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\mathfrak{C}}443\ensuremath{\mathsf{million}}}$, from $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\mathfrak{C}}474\ensuremath{\mathsf{million}}}$ in 2007 to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\mathfrak{C}}917\ensuremath{\mathsf{million}}}$ in 2008 primarily due to the increase in floating interest rates during 2008.

The table below sets forth the interest income for the years 2008 and 2007.

	Year ended 31 December	
	2008	2007
	(€millions)	
Financial assets at fair value through the income statement	96	123
Derivatives not involved in a hedge accounting relationship	226	90
Derivatives involved in a portfolio fair value hedge accounting relationship	68	(249)
Financial assets available for sale not involved in a hedge accounting relationship	160	227
Financial assets involved in a fair value hedge accounting relationship	2,977	3,163
Financial assets at amortized cost	917	474
Other interest income	80	40
Total interest income	4,524	3,868

Interest expenses increased from €3,603 million in 2007 to €4,247 million in 2008, an increase of €644 million, or 17.8%. The increase was primarily the result of an increase in interest expenses on derivatives. Interest rate derivatives involved in MH resulted in an increase in interest expenses of €287 million compared to a reduction in interest expenses of €80 million in 2007. This result was due to a decrease in the difference between the fixed rate (receivable in the MH swaps) and the floating rate (payable in the MH swaps) in 2008, resulting in an increase in interest expenses. Interest expenses on financial liabilities involved in a micro fair value hedge accounting relationship and financial liabilities at amortized cost

increased by only €126 million in 2008 compared to 2007 as these expenses are based almost entirely on fixed rates.

The table below sets forth the interest expense for the years 2008 and 2007.

	2008	2007	
	(€mil	(€millions)	
Derivatives not involved in a hedge accounting relationship	190	40	
Derivatives involved in a micro fair value hedge accounting relationship	287	(80)	
Financial liabilities involved in a micro fair value hedge accounting relationship	2,392	2,204	
Financial liabilities at amortized cost	1,310	1,372	
Other interest expenses	68	67	
Total interest expenses	4,247	3,603	

Commission result

Commission result increased from \in 14 million in 2007 to \in 20 million in 2008, an increase of \in 6 million, or 42.8%. The increase was primarily the result of an increase in fee income from the lending business, due to growth in loans and advances

Commission income increased from $\[\in \]$ 20 million in 2007 to $\[\in \]$ 25 million in 2008, an increase of $\[\in \]$ 5 million, or 25%, while commission expense decreased from $\[\in \]$ 6 million in 2007 to $\[\in \]$ 5 million in 2008, a decrease of $\[\in \]$ 1 million, or 16.6%.

Result financial transactions

The table below sets out the fair value movements of various financial transactions recorded on the income statement as financial transactions for 2008 and 2007.

	2008 ¹	2007
	(€millions)	
Financial Assets at Fair Value through the Income Statement	187	(171)
Derivatives not involved in a hedge accounting relationship	(269)	175
Derivatives involved in a hedge accounting relationship	(946)	1,773
Financial Assets Available for Sale not involved in a hedge accounting relationship	9	(1)
Financial Assets involved in a fair value hedge accounting relationship	4,168	(1,719)
Financial Liabilities involved in a micro fair value hedge accounting relationship	(3,213)	(49)
	(64)	8

Result financial transactions decreased from income of $\in 8$ million in 2007 to a loss of $\in 64$ million in 2008, a decrease of $\in 72$ million. The decrease was primarily the result of unprecedented high credit and liquidity spreads which resulted in a sharp fall in prices of certain assets caused by the uncertainty in the financial markets in the period. In 2008 gains from financial assets involved in a fair value hedge accounting relationship were offset by losses from financial liabilities involved in a micro fair value hedge accounting relationship and derivative transactions, while in 2007 the losses from hedging relationship transactions were recovered by the gains made in derivative transactions.

Other income

Other income increased from \in 4 million in 2007 to \in 9 million in 2008, an increase of \in 5 million. The increase was primarily the result of higher income from consultancy services and non-recurring income from the sale of fixed assets and the release from drawn BNG bonds totalling \in 3 million in 2008.

50084770 M 3726944 / 47 108

_

¹ As a result of changes to IFRS in 2009 the table on page [•] has been adjusted to provide certain detail on market value adjustments. Such information is not available for 2007 so there is no comparable details for "Financial Assets at Fair Value through the Income Statement."

Staff costs and other administrative expenses

Staff costs and other administrative expenses decreased from €62 million in 2007 to €59 million in 2008, a decrease of €3 million, or 4.8%.

The table below sets out staff costs for 2008 and 2007.

		Year ended 31 December	
	2008	2007	
	(€mil	lions)	
Wages and salaries	2 1	2 4	
Pension costs	4	5	
Social security costs	2	2	
Addition to provisions	0	4	
Other staff costs	5	1	
	32	36	

Staff costs decreased from \in 36 million in 2007 to \in 32 million in 2008, a decrease of \in 4 million, or 11.1%. The decrease was primarily the result of the decline in number of employees after the outsourcing of payment services and IT processes in 2007.

Other administrative expenses increased from €26 million in 2007 to €27 million in 2008, an increase of €1 million, or 3.8%. The increase was primarily the result of a rise in outsourcing costs.

Profit before tax

Profit before tax decreased from €238 million in 2007 to €182 million in 2008, a decrease of €56 million, or 23.5%. The decrease was primarily the result of the loss on result financial transactions attributable to the financial crisis.

Taxation

Tax decreased from €42 million in 2007 to €24 million in 2008 a decrease of €18 million, or 42.8%. The decrease was primarily the result of a decline in profit before tax. Both years benefited from the €17 million tax credit discussed above.

Net profit

Net profit decreased from €195 million in 2007 to €158 million in 2008, a decrease of €37 million, or 18.9%. The decrease was primarily attributable to the aforementioned reasons.

Selected Balance Sheet Items for 2009, 2008 and 2007

The table below summarizes selected balance sheet items of BNG as of 31 December 2009, 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007:

		As of 31 1	December
	2009	2008	2007
	(€millions)	
Assets			
Cash and cash equivalents	655	497	485
Banks	7,683	8,956	10,067
Loans and advances	79,305	75,699	66,037
Financial assets available for sale	5,531	5,185	10,483
Other financial assets	8,002	7,695	1,882
Total Assets	104,496	101,365	92,602
Liabilities			
Banks	5,615	3,285	6,140
Funds entrusted	7,070	6,439	6,468
Debt securities	79,935	79,157	70,005
Other financial liabilities	8,854	9,359	7,250
Total liabilities	102,243	99,386	90,549

Assets

In 2009 BNG's total assets rose by €3.1 billion to €104.5 billion compared to €101.4 billion in 2008 which itself represented an increase of €8.8 billion over 2007.

Banks and loans and advances

The Banks and loans and advances items comprises all receivables from banks and the extended loans and advances insofar as measured at amortized cost, as well as interest bearing securities insofar as they are not traded on an active market.

2009 compared to 2008

Banks decreased by \in 1.3 billion, to \in 7,683 in 2009 compared with \in 8,956 billion in 2008. This was primarily due to the maturing of loans made to Bouwfonds Nederlandse Gemeenten, a bank previously owned by Dutch municipalities, which was split in several parts and is now owned by other Dutch Banks. As a result, it is no longer eligible as a client for BNG and BNG is winding down this portfolio.

Loans and advances increased by €3.6 billion to €79.3 billion in 2009 compared with €75.7 billion in 2008. This increase was mainly caused by the new long-term lending in the fourth quarter of 2009 and the extension of loans taken out in previous years which became effective in 2009. Because of the historically high credit and liquidity risk spreads in the first half of 2009, the demand for long-term lending in almost all sectors generally lagged behind in comparison with previous years. After the recovery and reduced

liquidity spreads in the summer months of 2009, the demand recovered to the usual levels. BNG's market shares stabilized at the level of previous years.

Although lending improved during the last half of 2009, long-term lending to client groups decreased in 2009 by \in 1.9 billion to \in 8.6 billion, of which \in 5.5 billion was realized in the second half of 2009, mainly in the last quarter. In particular, lending subject to solvency requirements, which is common with regard to public-private partnerships, lagged behind expectations and dropped by \in 0.5 billion to \in 1.3 billion in comparison with 2008. Because of the rising spreads in the long-term segment the weighted average maturity of the long-term loans to clients dropped considerably in 2009.

The overall long-term loan portfolio to clients on the basis of principal amounts increased to almost 68.7 billion in 2009 compared with 65.5 billion in 2008. This was mainly due to the growth of 2.4 billion in the housing portfolio. The local authorities portfolio grew by 6.4 billion, primarily as a result of new long-term lending in the fourth quarter of 2009 and loans taken out in previous years which became effective in 2009. Other sectors showed slight growth or remained more or less stable.

Short-term lending to clients was \in 5.8 billion in 2009 compared with \in 3.9 billion in 2008. In particular, the municipal and provincial authorities obtained more short-term funding than previously primarily as a result of anticipation of the economic recovery, and by making use of the very low rates for short-term lending.

2008 compared to 2007

Banks decreased by €1.1 billion, to €9.0 billion (compared to €10.1 billion in 2007). This was primarily due to maturities in the mortgage fund portfolio.

Loans and advances increased by &epsilon9.7 billion to &epsilon75.7 billion in 2008 (compared to &epsilon66.0 billion in 2007). This increase was mainly due to an increase in long-term lending (especially in the first two quarters of 2008 before the financial crisis peaked in the last half of 2008). In addition, in response to the credit crisis an adjustment of the IFRS accounting rules permitted the reclassification of assets that had become illiquid from Financial Assets Available for Sale to the Loans and Advances and Banks items. BNG decided at the end of October 2008 to reclassify &epsilon5.2 billion (on the basis of outstanding principal) in interest bearing securities held as Financial Assets Available for Sale into Loans and Advances with retroactive effect to 1 July 2008.

The reclassified interest-bearing securities were part of a portfolio of investments in public high-quality Western European debt securities. These investments were intended for liquidity management and to compensate for declining loans and advances with relatively high rates of return. The outstanding principal of these investments declined in relation to year-end 2007 by over ϵ 0.8 billion to ϵ 11.4 billion. These investments included covered bonds and residential mortgage-backed securities ("**RMBS**") with Triple A ratings and related only to the most creditworthy parts of the securitizations. The underlying mortgages were prime mortgages in Western European countries. The outstanding principal of the RMBS investments was ϵ 4.3 billion, of which ϵ 1.1 billion was guaranteed by the Dutch Central government. The covered bonds (outstanding principal of ϵ 1.4 billion) were also backed by high-quality assets. The impact of the credit crisis led to an unrealized negative market value adjustment of the RMBS investments of ϵ 150 million before tax, of which ϵ 141 million had been recognized through the revaluation reserve as part of equity. The remainder was taken to the result. The covered bonds were written down by ϵ 47 million in 2008, of which ϵ 22 million through equity.

As a result of increased demand in almost all sectors, new long-term lending to client groups rose by $\[\in \]$ 3.1 billion to $\[\in \]$ 10.5 billion in 2008, of which $\[\in \]$ 8.7 billion represented guaranteed loans. New business was high, especially in the last quarter of 2008. The overall long-term loan portfolio on the basis of principal increased to over $\[\in \]$ 66 billion at 31 December 2008 compared to $\[\in \]$ 62 billion at 31 December 2007. The municipalities and housing portfolios grew by $\[\in \]$ 1.1 billion and $\[\in \]$ 3.1 billion respectively. Lending to the other sectors increased slightly. BNG's market share also rose in the sectors that are most important to it. Its share of the municipalities sector was almost 75% in 2008. Short-term lending to clients was $\[\in \]$ 3.9 billion in 2008.

Financial assets available for sale

Financial assets available for sale includes fixed and variable rate bonds and other interest bearing securities issued by public authorities and others (insofar as these are not included in the financial assets at fair value through the income statement).

2009 compared to 2008

Financial assets available for sale increased by 0.3 billion to 5.5 billion in 2009 compared to 5.2 billion in 2008 primarily as a result of the purchase of a securitized mortgage portfolio guaranteed by the Dutch Central government.

2008 compared to 2007

Financial Assets Available for Sale decreased by \notin 5.3 billion to \notin 5.2 billion in 2008 compared to \notin 10.5 billion in 2007. The decline was attributable almost entirely to the reclassification described above.

Other financial assets

Other financial assets includes the fair value of derivatives involved in a hedge accounting relationship and the value adjustments concerning the effective part of the market value adjustment due to interest rate risks of assets hedged at portfolio level.

2009 compared to 2008

Other financial assets increased by 0.3 billion to 0.0 billion in 2009 compared to 0.0 billion in 2008 primarily as a result of the fair value of derivatives being positively influenced by the decrease in fixed interest rates and gains in derivatives involving MH due to the change in the exchange rate of the Euro against the funding currencies, in 2009 mainly because of the increase of the exchange rate of the Australian dollar against the Euro.

2008 compared to 2007

Other Financial Assets increased by €5.8 billion to €7.7 billion in 2008 compared to €1.9 billion in 2007 primarily as a result of a decline in the yield curve which increased the fair value of financial assets hedged at portfolio level and derivatives.

Liabilities

In 2009 total liabilities increased by €2.9 billion to €102.3 billion compared to €99.4 billion in 2008 which itself represented an increase of €8.9 billion from 90.5 billion in 2007.

Banks

2009 compared to 2008

Debts to Banks increased by $\[\in \] 2.3$ billion to $\[\in \] 5.6$ billion in 2009 compared with $\[\in \] 3.2$ billion in 2008. The increase was primarily due to funds obtained from the ECB in June 2009, as a result of the favourable rate under the 12-month financing facility provided by the ECB. In addition, at the end of 2009, various financial institutions placed their surplus funds with BNG.

2008 compared to 2007

Debt to banks decreased by €2.8 billion to €3.3 billion in 2008 compared with €6.1 billion in 2007. The decline was due to the maturity of temporary surplus funds placed with BNG, especially in the last few months of 2007. In addition, BNG in 2007 raised €1.2 billion of short-term funds through repo transactions.

Funds entrusted

2009 compared to 2008

The Funds entrusted item increased by €0.6 billion to €7.0 billion in 2009 compared with €6.4 billion in 2008. This increase was primarily due to the deposit by several local authorities of funds received from

the sale of shares in utility companies they held and an increase in funds temporarily deposited by municipal and provincial authorities due to the financial crisis.

2008 compared to 2007

Funds entrusted remained relatively stable at €6.4 billion in 2008 compared to 2007.

Debt securities

Debt securities includes debenture loans and other issued negotiable debt instruments, including certificates of deposit.

2009 compared to 2008

Debt securities increased by $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\oomega}{0.8}}\]$ billion to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\oomega}{0.9}}\]$ billion in 2009 compared with $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\oomega}{0.9}}\]$. Debenture loans and Euro notes increased to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\oomega}{0.9}}\]$ billion in 2009 from $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\oomega}{0.9}}\]$ and This increase was primarily due to the drop in long-term interest rates during 2009. Certificates of deposit declined to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\oomega}{0.9}}\]$ billion in 2009. Certificates of deposit declined to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\oomega}{0.9}}\]$ billion in 2009. This increase was primarily due to the drop in long-term interest rates during 2009. Certificates of deposit declined to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\oomega}{0.9}}\]$ billion in 2009. This increase was primarily due to the drop in long-term interest rates during 2009. Certificates of deposit declined to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\oomega}{0.9}}\]$ billion in 2009 compared to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\oomega}{0.9}}\]$ billion in 2009. Certificates of deposit declined to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\oomega}{0.9}}\]$ billion in 2009. Certificates of deposit declined to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\oomega}{0.9}\]$ billion in 2009. Certificates of deposit declined to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\oomega}{0.9}}\]$ billion in 2009 compared to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\oomega}{0.9}\]$ billion in 2009. Certificates of deposit declined to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\oomega}{0.9}\]$ billion in 2009. Certificates of deposit declined to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\oomega}{0.9}\]$ billion in 2009 compared to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\oomega}{0.9}\]$ billio

2008 compared to 2007

Debt securities increased to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{$\epsilon$}}$ 79.2 billion in 2008 compared to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{$\epsilon$}}$ 70 billion in 2007. Debenture loans and Euro notes increased by $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{$\epsilon$}}$ 2.2 billion to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{$\epsilon$}}$ 67.7 billion in 2008 from $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{$\epsilon$}}$ 65.5 billion in 2007 attributable to increased funding to meet growth in loans and advances. Certificates of deposit grew to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{$\epsilon$}}$ 11.4 billion in 2008 compared to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{$\epsilon$}}$ 4.4 billion in 2007. This significant growth was due to a drastic decline in activities in the international capital markets in the second half of 2008. As a consequence of these developments, BNG relied more on its ECP Programme in 2008 than in previous years.

Other financial liabilities

2009 compared to 2008

Other financial liabilities includes the fair value of derivatives involved in a hedge accounting relationship. Other financial liabilities decreased by $\epsilon 0.5$ billion to $\epsilon 8.9$ billion in 2009 compared to 9.4 billion in 2008 primarily as a result of the changes in currency exchange rates.

2008 compared to 2007

Other financial liabilities increased by \in 2.2 billion to \in 9.4 billion in 2008 compared to 7.2 billion in 2007, mainly as a consequence of the decline in the yield curve.

Information on Financial Assets

The table below provides information on banks and loans and advances as at 31 December 2009, 2008 and 2007.

		December	
	2009	2008	2007
	(€	Emillions)	
Banks	7,683	8,956	10,067
Loans and advances	79,305	75,699	66,037
	86,988	84,655	76,104
Of which an incurred loss provision is included in the <i>loans and</i> advances item	27	30	30

		As at 31 I	December
	2009	2008	2007
	87,015	84,685	76,104
The analysis of banks and loans and advance by remaining contractual term to maturity is as follows:			
Up to three months	11,334	12,620	10,968
Longer than three months but not longer than one year	9,170	8,135	8,901
Longer than one year but not longer than five years	37,165	34,841	30,338
Longer than five years	29,346	29,089	25,897
	87,015	84,685	76,104
The Movement in the incurred loss provision			
Opening balance	30	30	30
Additions during the financial year	-	-	-
Withdrawals during the financial year	(3)	-	-
Closing balance	27	30	30

The tables below break down the financial assets carried on the balance sheet, including by market segment.

		As at 31	December
	2009	2008	2007
		(+	€millions)
	Balance sheet value	Balance sheet value	Balance sheet value
Banks and loans and advances	86,988	84,655	76,104
Financial assets at fair value through the income statement	2,983	3,001	2,989
Financial assets available for sale	5,531	5,185	10,483
Other financial assets	8,002	7,695	1,882
	103,504	100,536	91,458
Of which derivatives and market value adjustments hedge accounting	(8,830)	(8,486)	(2,264)
	94,674	92,050	89,194

As at 31 December

		2009		2008	2007 ¹
	Balance sheet value	Not solvency free	Balance sheet value	Not solvency free	Balance sheet value
		((€millions)		
Public sector	27,799	588	27,158	630	25,659
Housing	37,382	1,393	34,965	1,037	31,655
Energy, Water and Telecom	2,188	2,058	2,186	2,064	1,811
Healthcare	6,545	1,412	6,046	1,099	6,017
Transport, Logistics and the Environment	1,681	854	1,858	949	1,785
Education	963	778	889	736	689
Credit institutions	7,976	4,404	9,253	5,430	11,150
Other financial institutions	7,908	6,653	7,447	5,591	8,094
Miscellaneous	2,232	1,467	2,248	1,479	2,334
	94,674	19,607	92,050	19,015	89,194

Interest bearing securities portfolio

The table below includes the assets on the basis of outstanding principal amounts and classified by type. The assets originate from the balance sheet items: Banks, loans and advances, financial assets available for sale and financial assets at fair value through the income statement. This detailed information is not available for 2007.

 $^{^{\}rm 1}$ Information regarding asset amounts not solvency free for 2007 is not available.

	As at 31 December 1	
	2009	2008
	(€millio	ons)
Domestic		
Government bonds	505	505
IBS with government guarantee	365	283
IBS with National Mortgage Guarantee	1,689	1,120
Building society	1,397	2,104
Medium Term Notes	178	127
ABS/MBS	1,541	1,351
Miscellaneous	500	480
	6,175	5,970
Foreign		
Government bonds	2,192	2,209
IBS with government guarantee	1,382	1,113
Covered Bonds	1,419	1,420
Medium Term Notes	136	132
ABS/MBS	2,083	2,358
Miscellaneous	1,295	853
	8,507	8,085
Total	14,682	14,055

At 31 December 2009 over 97% of the securities portfolio had ratings of A or better (over 97% in 2008) with over 60% of the securities portfolio carrying ratings of AAA (62.5% in 2008) and 23% carrying ratings of AA (32.6% in 2008).

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash flow analysis for BNG for 2009, 2008 and 2007

The following table sets out selected cash flow information for 2009, 2008 and 2007.

	2009	2008	2007
	(€	Emillions)	
Total cash flow from operating activities	1,996	(5,136)	2,957

	2009	2008	2007
	(€	millions)	
Total cash flow from investing activities	483	1,576	(255)
Total cash flow from financing activities	(2,141)	3,543	(2,992)
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents	338	(17)	(290)

Cash flow from operating activities

BNG's total cash flow from operating activities was a cash inflow of $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\mathfrak{e}}}\]$,996 million in 2009 compared to a cash outflow of $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\mathfrak{e}}}\]$,136 million in 2008 and a cash inflow of $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\mathfrak{e}}}\]$,2007 million in 2007. The change in 2009 was primarily the result of net cash outflows from movement in banks, loans and advances, funds entrusted and derivatives in 2008 as a result of the general tightening of the credit markets and the changes in the yield curve, compared to cash inflows from movements in banks and movements in funds entrusted in 2009. 2007 also recorded cash inflows from banks and funds entrusted as well as cash inflows from loans and advances as the loan portfolio fell compared to net outflows in 2008 and 2009.

BNG's total cash flow from operating activities also benefited from higher profits in 2009 (€353 million) compared to 2008 (€184 million) and 2007 (€245 million).

Cash flow from investing activities

Cash flows from investing activities were inflows of €483 million in 2009 and €1,576 million in 2008 and cash outflows of €255 million in 2007. The cash inflows in 2008 and 2009 as well as the cash outflow in 2007 were principally related to the acquisitions and disposals, repayments and redemptions of financial assets at fair value through the income statement and financial assets available for sale as compared to the cash inflows for investments and acquisitions and financial assets at fair value through the income statement and financial assets available for sale in 2008. These results were largely due to the increased activity during the period of depressed market prices for financial assets.

Cash flow from financing activities

Cash flows from financing activities were outflows of $\[\in \]$ 2,141 million in 2009 compared to inflows of $\[\in \]$ 3,543 million in 2008 and outflows of $\[\in \]$ 2,992 in 2007. Net borrowings in 2009 reflected cash outflows (repayments of debt securities in excess of borrowings) of $\[\in \]$ 2,062 million compared with net inflow of $\[\in \]$ 3,640 million in 2008 due to higher levels of borrowings compared to repayments of debt securities. In 2007 net borrowings reflected cash outflows of $\[\in \]$ 2,393 million due to net repayment of debt securities in that amount. BNG paid dividends of $\[\in \]$ 79 million, $\[\in \]$ 97 million and $\[\in \]$ 599 million in 2009, 2008 and 2007 respectively.

External sources of funding, financing and indebtedness

The bank's long-term funding is almost entirely carried out through the issuance of bonds under this standardized Programme with €80 billion (or the equivalent in other currencies) available to be issued under the Programme. At 30 June 2010 just over €72 billion had been issued under this program. BNG's funding policy is designed to provide it flexibility to respond to investor demand. This approach seeks to strengthen relations with investors and enable the bank to attract funding on competitive terms. BNG raises loans in several currencies, with the terms and conditions tailored to the needs of both institutional and private investors. In addition to the Debt Issuance Program, BNG has a Kangaroo Medium Term Note program for issuing up to AUD 5 billion denominated in Australian and new Zealand dollars. At 30 June 2010 AUD (equivalent) of 1.8 billion had been issued under this program.

As confidence in financial institutions began to recover in the second half of 2009 BNG's funding activities in the international capital markets also increased. The increase in confidence combined with the monetary easing policies of many governments had a positive effect on the credit and liquidity risk spreads paid by BNG and on the variation in the terms of new issues during the second half of 2009. This enabled BNG to improve its liquidity profile and to reduce the use of its short-term Euro commercial

paper program to a more normal level, which was €9.4 billion at the end of 2009, after it had been expanded by €5 billion to €15 billion due to the market circumstances at the end of 2008.

BNG obtained long-term funding for its lending and refinancing purposes in 2009 of €14.2 billion (2008: €13.1 billion; 2007: €11.3 billion) by means of 81 issues (2008: 67 issues; 2007: 71 issues). After a decrease in the first half of 2009 the weighted average maturity of the issues throughout 2009 increased in comparison with 2008 by 0.5 years to 4.7 years. This compares to a decrease of 1.1 years from 2007 to 2008 (2008: 4.2 years; 2007: 5.3 years). In 2009 and 2008 the bank issued in ten different currencies (2007: 14 currencies).

The currency and interest risks of bonds are fully hedged.

The following table sets out certain details of BNG's funding for each of the last three years.

	2009	2008	2007
Volume (€ billions)	14.2	13.1	11.3
Average duration (yr)	4.73	4.21	5.33
Number of trades	81	67	71
Percentage of volume by currency			
EUR	44.5%	35.2%	29.6%
USD	28.4%	43.9%	37.4%
GBP	4.5%	9.1%	15.7%
JPY	3.8%	0.2%	2.3%
CHF	7.5%	1.4%	3.8%
Kangaroo AUD	2.3%	-	-
Other AUD	4.2%	7.5%	1.5%
Kauri NZD	0.0%	1.1%	1.2%
Other NZD	1.2%	0.8%	0.9%
Maple CAD	0.0%	-	5.5%
Other CAD	0.0%	-	-
HKD	1.0%	-	-
Nordic fx	2.3%	0.4%	0.5%
Emerging fx	0.4%	0.5%	1.6%
Number of currencies	10	10	14
Plain Vanilla	95.7%	98.9%	84.1%
Structured	4.3%	1.1%	15.9%
Public	89.9%	76.1%	76.4%
Private	10.1%	23.9%	23.6%
New issues	87.3%	81.7%	90.6%

	2009	2008	2007
Taps	12.7%	18.3%	9.4%
Benchmarks	64.4%	56.6%	34.5%
Other	35.6%	43.4%	65.5%

Each year, BNG issues a number of benchmark loans so that BNG yield curves in Euros and U.S. dollars are and continue to be available to institutional investors. As in 2008, in 2009 BNG issued seven benchmark loans in Euros and U.S. dollars with amounts ranging from \$1.0 to ϵ 2.0 billion. In 2007, there were four such benchmark loans. The Euro equivalent of the total amount of issued benchmark loans (including taps of benchmark loans) in 2009 was ϵ 9.1 billion compared to ϵ 7.4 billion in 2008 and ϵ 4.9 billion in 2007. The share of Euro-denominated issues amounted to 45% in 2009. Apart from the Euro, bonds were principally denominated in U.S. dollars (28%).

The following table presents BNG's long-term funding by currency of issuance as at 31 December for each of the last three years.

		As at 3	1 December
	2009	2008	2007
		(€billions)	
Euros	33.5	32.5	30.6
US Dollars	19.6	19.6	18.0
Pounds Sterling	5.2	4.7	6.7
Australian and New Zealand dollars	4.5	3.5	4.2
Swiss Francs	3.6	3.0	3.6
Japanese Yen	2.6	2.5	2.5
Other	2.5	1.9	2.5
Total (in Euros)	71.5	67.7	68.1

BNG also obtained funding through borrowings from banks and funds entrusted. In 2009, the Banks item increased by \in 2.3 billion to \in 5.6 billion, mainly as a result of the 12-month financing facility provided by the European Central Bank in June 2009. In addition, at the end of 2009, various financial institutions placed their surplus funds with BNG. The funds entrusted item rose from \in 6.4 billion in 2008 to \in 7.0 billion in 2009 due to an increase in funds temporarily deposited by municipal and provincial authorities. In 2008, the Banks item fell \in 2.8 billion from \in 6.1 billion in 2007 to \in 3.3 billion in 2008, while the funds entrusted item remained stable.

Analysis of financial liabilities according to remaining contractual terms to maturity

The amounts shown represent all non-discounted future cash flows of the financial liabilities as at 31 December 2009.

	Up to three months	Longer than three months but not longer than one year	Longer than one year but not longer than five years	Longer than five years	Total
				(€millions)
Banks	(2,168)	(1,879)	(1,880)	(467)	(6,394)
Funds entrusted	(4,064)	(532)	(889)	(2,026)	(7,511)
Debt securities	(8,470)	(13,576)	(42,849)	(26,148)	(91,043)
Subordinated loans	(1)	(7)	(29)	(259)	(296)
Other liabilities	(128)	-	-	-	(128)
Total liabilities	(14,831)	(15,994)	(45,647)	(28,900)	(105,372)

Irrevocable commitments and secured assets

Irrevocable commuments and secured assets		
The following table sets forth BNG's irrevocable facilities:		
	As at 31 December	
	2009	2008
	(€:	millions)
Irrevocable facilities		
This includes all irrevocable commitments that may lead to the granting of loans and advances.		
Master agreements concerning the unused part of credit facilities	3,353	3,489
Contracted loans and advances to be extended in the future	2,627	3,002
Total	5,980	6,491
These contracted loans and advances are granted in accordance with the contracts, as follows:		
Up to three months	1,095	922
Longer than three months but not longer than one year	838	1,014
Longer than one year but not longer than five years	694	1,066
Longer than five years	-	-
Total	2,627	3,002

The following table sets forth the assets that have been used as collateral for secured borrowing:

Encumbered assets (€millions)

In view of the security provided for money market transactions and lending transactions, parts of the assets are not freely disposable.

BNG has extended debenture loans and subordinated loans to DNB as collateral for funds withdrawn

	11,628	9,575
Security extended to other financial institutions	15	15
Total	11,643	9,590

Solvency and Capital

The standards set by DNB for the principal capital ratios are based on the Capital Adequacy Directives of the European Union and the Basel Committee for Banking Supervision. These ratios compare the bank's total capital and core capital with the total of risk-weighted assets and off-balance sheet items as well as the market risk of the trading portfolios. The minimum requirements for the bank's total capital and core capital are 8 percent and 4 percent of the risk-weighted assets respectively. BNG's policy is to maintain low funding costs in order to achieve its target. The Bank has set a minimum limit of 18% for the BIS-ratio core capital (tier 1) within its capitalization and dividend policy. At the end of 2009, the Bank's BIS-ratio core capital (tier 1) was 19%, and its core capital was €2,064 million.

The table below gives an overview of the available capital and the minimum required capital according to the standards of DNB.

31 December 2008

31 December 2007

31 December 2009

	Minimum requirement	Present	Minimum requirement	Present	Minimum requirement	Present
Total capital (€ millions)	882	2,239	831	2,083	805	2,014
BIS-ratio total capital	8%	20%	8%	20%	8%	20%
Core capital	441	2,064	416	1,915	402	1,852
BIS-ratio core capital						
(tier 1)	4%	19%	4%	18%	4%	18%

Hedging risks with derivatives

BNG applies economic hedging in order to eliminate nearly all foreign exchange risks and keep interest rate risks at the desired level. It has put in place a system of limits and procedures that are strictly adhered to and monitored on a daily basis. Foreign exchange and interest rate risks are principally hedged with the aid of derivatives. The treatment of derivatives and hedged items in the balance sheet and income statement is such that they are aligned with the actual economic hedging. BNG processes this hedging relationship under IFRS in two ways: micro and portfolio fair value hedging. In the paragraph on the

accounting principles the conditions are described that need to be met before these forms of hedge accounting can be applied.

Although BNG uses derivatives for economic hedging purposes as permitted by IFRS, it is not always possible to include these in a hedge accounting relationship. The fair values of the derivatives that are not involved in a hedge accounting relationship are stated in the balance sheet item financial assets at fair value through the income statement if the value is positive, or the balance sheet item financial liabilities at fair value through the income statement if the value is negative. For the few derivatives where this is the case, the hedged item is also designated as a financial asset at fair value through the income statement so that, on a net basis, the volatility of the result arising from derivatives is limited.

The derivatives are included in various balance sheet items, depending on their treatment under IFRS. Derivatives are always recognized in the balance sheet at fair value. Derivatives contracts with a positive fair value are stated as assets on the balance sheet while derivatives with a negative value are stated as liabilities.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contingent Liabilities

Off balance sheet arrangements

BNG has no off balance sheet arrangements, as determined for purposes of IFRS-EU.

Contingent liabilities

This includes all commitments arising from transactions for which the bank has issued guarantees on behalf of a third party. For a limited part these guarantees are covered by a counter-guarantee from public authorities. This mainly concerns letters of credit with a remaining contractual term of more than five years, which the bank has issued on behalf of clients in the utility sector. BNG states contingent liabilities at the maximum accounting loss that would need to be compensated in the event of the counterparty defaulting. BNG's contingent liabilities in 2009 were €873 million (2008: €849 million; 2007 €841 million).

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of BNG's consolidated financial statements requires it to make estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and assumptions which have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities are described in the principle accounting policies that can be found in Note 2 to the 2009 financial statements included in BNG's 2009 annual report which is incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (€millions)

Assets	31-12- 2009	31-12- 2008	31-12- 2007
Cash and cash equivalents	655	497	485
Banks	7,683	8,956	10,067
Loans and advances	79,305	75,699	66,037
Financial assets at fair value via the income statement	2,983	3,001	2,989
Financial assets available for sale	5,531	5,185	10,483
Other financial assets	8,002	7,695	1,882
Associates and joint ventures	106	105	102
Property and equipment	23	24	19
Other assets	208	203	536
Assets held for sale	-	-	2
Total assets	104,496	101,365	92,602
Liabilities			
Banks	5,615	3,285	6,140
Funds entrusted	7,070	6,439	6,468
Subordinated loans	174	170	163
Debt securities	79,935	79,157	70,005
Financial liabilities at fair value via the income statement	351	791	246
Other financial liabilities	8,854	9,359	7,250
Other liabilities	244	185	277
Total liabilities	102,243	99,386	90,549
Equity	2,253	1,979	2,053
Total liabilities and equity	104,496	101,365	92,602

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT (€millions)

	2009	20	08	2007	•
Interest income	2,628	4,524		3,868	
Interest expenses	2,291	4,247		3,603	
Interest result	3	337	277		265
Income from associates and joint		2	(1)		10
ventures		2	(1)		13
Commission income	36	25		20	
Commission expenses	6	5		6	
Commission result		30	20		14
Result financial transactions		40	(64)		8
Foreign exchange result		-	2		0
Other income		2	9		4
Total income	4	11	243	<u> </u>	304
Staff costs	35	32		36	
Other administrative expenses	24	27		26	
Staff costs and other administrative					
expenses		59	59		62
Depreciation		2	2		4
Other operating expenses		0	0		0
Total expenses		61	61	_	66
Profit before tax	3	<u> 550</u>	182	_	238
Movement in deferred taxes	-	-		(1)	
Taxes	(72)	(24)		(42)	
Taxation	(′	72)	(24)		(43)
Net profit		278	158		195

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (€millions)

	2009		2008		2007	
Cash flow from operating activities						
Profit before tax		350		182		238
Adjustments for:		330		102		230
- Depreciation	2		2		4	
- Additions to provisions	1		_		3	
•		3		2		7
Cash flow generated from operations		353	-	184	-	245
- Movement in banks (not due on demand)	3,943		(1,151)		1,497	
- Movement in loans and advances	(945)		(1,998)		1,939	
- Movement in funds entrusted	557		(408)		1,162	
- Movement in derivatives	(1,489)		(1,551)		1,10=	
- Taxes received/paid	(19)		(22)		(20)	
- Other movements in cash flow from operating	(1))		(22)		(20)	
activities	(404)		(190)		(1,866)	
		1,643		(5,320)	() = = -)	2,712
Total cash flow from operating activities		1,996	-	(5,136)	•	2,957
Cash flow from investing activities						
Investments and acquisitions - Financial assets at fair value via the income						
statement and financial assets available for sale	(5.41)		(4.550)		(4.047)	
	(541)		(4,559)		(4,847)	
Associates and joint venturesProperty and equipment	(4)		(5)		(68)	
- Property and equipment	(1)	(5.46)	(7)	(4.551)	(1)	(4.01.0)
Diamonala non announta and modernations		(546)		(4,571)		(4,916)
Disposals, repayments and redemptions						
- Financial assets at fair value via the income statement and financial assets available for sale	1.020		(1.45		1.651	
- Associates and joint ventures	1,028		6,145		4,654	
- Property and equipment	1		-		4	
- Froperty and equipment		1.000	2	6 1 45	3	1.661
		1,029	-	6,147	-	4,661
Total cash flow from investing activities		483		1,576		(255)
Cash flow from financing activities						
Receipts in respect of debt securities	23,738		24,746		15,611	
Repayments in respect of debt securities	(25,800)		(21,106)		(18,004)	
Dividend paid	(79)		(97)		(599)	
Total cash flow from financing activities	(2	2,141)		3,543		(2.992)
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents		338		(17)		(290)
Cash and cash equivalents as of January 1		227		244		534
Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31		565	-	227	-	244
Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31 is						
comprised of the following:						
Cash and cash equivalents		655		497		485
Cash equivalents under the bankers (asset) item		20		20		10
Cash equivalents under the bankers (liability) item		(110)		(290)		(251)
		565	-	227	-	244
	_	303	=	221	=	277

EXTRACT OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

N.V. Bank Nederlandse Gemeenten (referred to for purposes of this section "Extract of the Articles of Association" as the "Company") was established in the Netherlands by Deed dated 23 December 1914.

Set out below are translated extracts of the Articles of Association of N.V. Bank Nederlandse Gemeenten as last altered by Deed dated 21 June 2005 and effective as per that date, a Ministerial declaration of non-objection having been granted on 27 May 2005.

Article 6

Shareholders and shares

1. Only the following may be shareholders: the State of the Netherlands, provinces, municipalities, water control corporations and other public bodies.

Article 8

Executive board

- 1. The management of the Company shall be entrusted to an Executive Board consisting of two or more members, including a president, under the supervision of a Supervisory Board.
- 2. The president and the other members of the Executive Board shall be appointed and dismissed by the Supervisory Board, and may be suspended individually or collectively by the Supervisory Board at all times. In the event of suspension the time and conditions of the suspension shall also be determined.
- 3. The Company operates a policy for remuneration of the members of the Executive Board. The policy shall be determined by the general meeting of shareholders on a motion submitted by the Supervisory Board. The remuneration policy shall include as a minimum the subjects described in Article 383(c) to 383(e) of Book 2 of the Civil Code, insofar as they concern members of the Executive Board. The remuneration policy shall be submitted in writing to the general meeting of shareholders and at the same time submitted for inspection by the Works Council.
- 4. The remuneration of members of the Executive Board shall be determined by agreement to be concluded between the Company represented in this matter by the Supervisory Board and each of the members
- The meetings of the Executive Board shall be presided over by the President of the Executive Board.
- 6. The members of the Executive Board shall regulate their duties among themselves, after consultation with the Supervisory Board.

Article 9

- 1. The Executive Board shall have power to represent the Company. This power of representation shall also be vested in:
 - (a) two members of the Executive Board acting jointly;
 - (b) one member of the Executive Board together with a holder of a power of attorney.
- 2. The Executive Board may, subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, confer on members of the Executive Board and employees of the Company the power to represent the Company, subject to the Executive Board's responsibility and with due observance of the limitations which it considers necessary, and shall determine the titles to be carried by them.

Article 11

- 1. Without prejudice to the approvals required elsewhere in these Articles of Association, the prior approval of the Supervisory Board shall be required for resolutions of the Executive Board concerning:
 - (a) the issue and acquisition of the Company's shares and debentures or of debentures of a limited partnership or general partnership in which the Company is a general partner with unlimited liability;

- (b) application for a listing or cancellation of a listing for the items referred to at a in the price list of any stock exchange;
- (c) the taking up of a loan with a maturity of over twenty years on the strength of an acknowledgement of debt signed under hand if the loan exceeds an amount specified by the Supervisory Board, and the conditions of such a loan;
- (d) the conclusion or termination of lasting cooperation between the Company or a dependent company on the one hand and another company or legal person on the other or as general partner with unlimited liability in a limited partnership or general partnership, if this cooperation or termination is of far-reaching significance for the company;
- (e) the acquisition of a holding worth at least one fourth of the amount of the issued capital with reserves, according to the balance sheet with explanatory notes of the Company, by it or a dependent company in the capital of another company, and any significant expansion or reduction of such a holding;
- (f) investments which require an amount equal to at least one fourth of the Company's issued capital with reserves, according to its balance sheet with explanatory notes;
- (g) a resolution to amend the articles of association;
- (h) a resolution to dissolve the Company;
- (i) a petition for liquidation and application for a suspension of payment of debts;
- (j) termination of the employment of a substantial number of employees of the Company or of a dependent company at the same time or within a short space of time;
- (k) a far-reaching change in the working conditions of a substantial number of employees of the Company or of a dependent company;
- (1) a resolution to reduce the issued capital;
- (m) the acquisition, encumbering and alienation of immovable property and other property subject to registration on behalf or at the expense of the company;
- 2. Notwithstanding the approvals required elsewhere in these articles of association, the approval of the general meeting of shareholders is required for resolutions of the Executive Board concerning an important change in the identity or the character of the Company or the business, including as a minimum:
 - (a) transfer of the business or nearly the entire business to a third party;
 - (b) concluding or terminating a long-term collaboration of the Company or a subsidiary with another artificial person or company or as a completely liable partner in a limited partnership or general partnership, if this cooperation or termination is of far-reaching significance to the Company;
 - (c) acquiring or disposing by the Company or a subsidiary of a participating interest in the capital of a company with a value of at least one third of the amount of the issued capital with the reserves in accordance with the balance sheet with explanatory notes or, if the Company prepares a consolidated balance sheet, in accordance with the consolidated balance sheet as included in its most recently adopted annual accounts, as well as significantly increasing or decreasing such a participating interest;
 - (d) investments or disinvestments to at least the amount referred to under c.

The absence of the approval of the general meeting of shareholders of a resolution referred to in this paragraph does not affect the authority of the entire Executive Board or its individual members to represent the Company.

3. The Executive Board shall inform the general meeting of shareholders in time about developments and insights within the company or the business which may result in a significant change in the identity or the character of the Company or business.

Article 12

Supervisory board

- 1. The Supervisory Board shall determine the number of its members, being at least nine and not more than eleven members.
 - The Supervisory Board shall determine the number of its members. An incomplete Board shall nevertheless retain its powers.
- 2. The Supervisory Board shall draw up a profile of its size and composition, taking into account the nature of the Company, its activities and the required expertise and background of the supervisory

- directors. The Board shall discuss the profile for the first time upon adoption, and thereafter each time when there is a change in the general meeting of shareholders, and with the Works Council.
- 3. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 7, the members of the Supervisory Board shall be appointed by the general meeting of shareholders on the nomination of the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board shall announce the nomination to the general meeting of shareholders and to the Works Council at the same time. Reasons must be given for the nomination.
- 4. The general meeting of shareholders and the Works Council may recommend persons to the Supervisory Board for nomination as Supervisory Director. For this purpose the Supervisory Board shall inform them in due time when, as a result of what and in accordance with which profile a vacancy must be filled. If for the vacancy the new powers to nominate one-third of the members making up the Supervisory Board referred to in paragraph 5 apply, the Supervisory Board must also give notice of this.
- 5. The Works Council shall recommend the nomination of one third of the members of the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board shall place such nominations on a list, unless it objects to the nomination because it anticipates that the recommended person will be unsuitable for the duties of supervisory director or that the Supervisory Board following appointment in accordance with the nomination will not be properly constituted. If the number of Supervisory Board members cannot be divided by three, the nearest lower number that can be divided by three shall be considered for determining the number of members to which the new powers of the Works Council apply.
- 6. If the Supervisory Board objects, it shall inform the Works Council of this, stating reasons. The Supervisory Board shall consult the Works Council without delay to reach agreement on the nomination. If the Supervisory Board establishes that no agreement can be reached, a representative of the Supervisory Board designated for that purpose shall request the Enterprise Section to declare the objection unfounded. The Supervisory Board shall place the recommended person on the list of candidates if the Enterprise Section declares the objection well-founded, the Works Council may make a new nomination in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 5.
- 7. The general meeting of shareholders may reject the nomination by an absolute majority of the votes cast representing at least one third of the issued capital.

 If not at least one third of the issued capital was represented at the meeting, a new meeting may be convened at which the nomination can be rejected by an absolute majority of the votes cast. In that case the Supervisory Board shall draw up a new list of nominations. Paragraphs 4, 5 and 6 apply. If the general meeting of shareholders does not appoint the nominated person and does not resolve to reject the nomination, the Supervisory Board shall make the appointment.

Article 23

Appropriation of profits

- 1. Profits shall be distributed after adoption by the general meeting of shareholders of the annual accounts showing that this is permissible.
- 2. The company may make payments to the shareholders from the profits available for distribution only in so far as its equity capital exceeds the amounts of the paid-up part of the capital plus the reserves which have to be kept by law.
- 3. First of all, if possible, the profits available for distribution shall be used to add an amount of ten per cent (10%) of the profit of the financial year as evidenced by the annual accounts to the general reserve; out of any surplus remaining thereafter, the shareholders shall, if possible, be paid five per cent (5%) of the nominal amount of their shareholding.
- 4. The remainder shall be paid to the shareholders in proportion to the nominal amount of their shareholdings, in so far as the general meeting of shareholders does not allocate this to reserves.
- 5. The company shall be empowered to make interim distributions of profits, subject to the provisions of Article 105, paragraph 4, of Book 2 of the Civil Code.

Article 25

Alteration of the Articles of Association and dissolution

1. Resolutions to alter the Articles of Association and to dissolve the company may be passed only at a general meeting of shareholders at which over half of the issued capital is represented and also at least two thirds of the votes validly cast are in favour of the proposed alteration or dissolution.

2. If the requisite issued capital is not represented at the meeting referred to in paragraph 1, a new meeting shall be called within a period of at least fourteen days, not including the day of the notice and that of the meeting, and no more than one month; the day, time and place of the meeting shall be immediately determined by the executive board or the supervisory board. A resolution may be passed at this meeting, irrespective of the capital represented there, provided that it is passed by at least two thirds of the votes cast.

TAXATION

Netherlands Taxation

General

The following is a general summary of certain Netherlands tax consequences of the acquisition, holding and disposal of the Notes. This summary does not purport to describe all possible tax considerations or consequences that may be relevant to a holder or prospective holder of Notes and does not purport to deal with the tax consequences applicable to all categories of investors, some of which (such as trusts or similar arrangements) may be subject to special rules. In view of its general nature, it should be treated with corresponding caution. Holders or prospective holders should consult with their tax advisors with regard to the tax consequences of investing in the Notes in their particular circumstances. The discussion below is included for general information purposes only.

Except as otherwise indicated, this summary only addresses Netherlands national tax legislation and published regulations, as in effect on the date hereof and as interpreted in published case law until this date, without prejudice to any amendment introduced at a later date and implemented with or without retroactive effect.

Withholding tax

All payments of principal and/or interest made by the Issuer under the Notes may be made free of withholding or deduction of, for or on account of any taxes of whatever nature imposed, levied, withheld or assessed by the Netherlands or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein, unless the Notes qualify as equity of the Issuer for Netherlands tax purposes.

Taxes on income and capital gains

Please note that the summary in this section does not describe the Netherlands tax consequences for:

- holders of Notes if such holders, and in the case of individuals, his/her partner or certain of their relatives by blood or marriage in the direct line (including foster children), have a substantial interest or deemed substantial interest in the Issuer under the Netherlands Income Tax Act 2001 (in Dutch: "Wet inkomstenbelasting 2001"). Generally speaking, a holder of securities in a company is considered to hold a substantial interest in such company, if such holder alone or, in the case of individuals, together with his/her partner (as defined in the Netherlands Income Tax Act 2001), directly or indirectly, holds (i) an interest of 5% or more of the total issued and outstanding capital of that company or of 5% or more of the issued and outstanding capital of a certain class of shares of that company; or (ii) holds rights to acquire, directly or indirectly, such interest; or (iii) holds certain profit sharing rights in that company that relate to 5% or more of the company's annual profits and/or to 5% or more of the company's liquidation proceeds. A deemed substantial interest arises if a substantial interest (or part thereof) in a company has been disposed of, or is deemed to have been disposed of, on a non-recognition basis; and
- (ii) pension funds, investment institutions (in Dutch: "fiscale beleggingsinstellingen"), exempt investment institutions (in Dutch: "vrijgestelde beleggingsinstellingen") (as defined in the Netherlands Corporate Income Tax Act 1969; in Dutch: "Wet op de vennootschapsbelasting 1969") and other entities that are exempt from Netherlands corporate income tax.

Residents of the Netherlands

Generally speaking, if the holder of the Notes is an entity that is a resident or deemed to be resident of the Netherlands for Netherlands corporate income tax purposes, any payment under the Notes or any gain or loss realised on the disposal or deemed disposal of the Notes is subject to Netherlands corporate income tax at a rate of 25.5% (a corporate income tax rate of 20% applies with respect to taxable profits up to €200,000 in the 2010 tax year).

If a holder of the Notes is an individual, resident or deemed to be resident of the Netherlands for Netherlands income tax purposes (including the non-resident individual holder who has made an election for the application of the rules of the Netherlands Income Tax Act 2001 as they apply to residents of the

Netherlands), any payment under the Notes or any gain or loss realised on the disposal or deemed disposal of the Notes is taxable at the progressive income tax rates (with a maximum of 52%), if:

- (i) the Notes are attributable to an enterprise from which the holder of the Notes derives a share of the profit, whether as an entrepreneur or as a person who has a co-entitlement to the net worth of such enterprise without being a shareholder (as defined in the Netherlands Income Tax Act 2001); or
- (ii) the holder of the Notes is considered to perform activities with respect to the Notes that go beyond ordinary asset management (in Dutch: "normaal, actief vermogensbeheer") or derives benefits from the Notes that are (otherwise) taxable as benefits from other activities (in Dutch: "resultaat uit overige werkzaamheden").

If the above-mentioned conditions (i) and (ii) do not apply to the individual holder of the Notes, such holder will be taxed annually on a deemed income of 4% of his/her net investment assets for the year at an income tax rate of 30%. The net investment assets for the year is the average of the fair market value of the investment assets less the allowable liabilities at the beginning of that year and the fair market value of the investment assets less the allowable liabilities at the end of that year. The Notes are included as investment assets. A tax free allowance may be available. An actual gain or loss in respect of the Notes is as such not subject to Netherlands income tax.

Non-residents of the Netherlands

A holder of the Notes will not be subject to Netherlands taxes on income or capital gains in respect of any payment under the Notes or in respect of any gain or loss realised on the disposal or deemed disposal of the Notes, provided that:

- (i) such holder is neither resident nor deemed to be resident of the Netherlands nor has made an election for the application of the rules of the Netherlands Income Tax Act 2001 as they apply to residents of the Netherlands;
- (ii) such holder does not have an interest in an enterprise or deemed enterprise (as defined in the Netherlands Income Tax Act 2001 and the Netherlands Corporate Income Tax Act 1969) which, in whole or in part, is either effectively managed in the Netherlands or carried on through a permanent establishment, a deemed permanent establishment or a permanent representative in the Netherlands and to which enterprise or part of an enterprise the Notes are attributable; and
- (iii) in the event the holder is an individual, such holder does not carry out any activities in the Netherlands with respect to the Notes that go beyond ordinary asset management activities and does not derive benefits from the Notes that are (otherwise) taxable as benefits from other activities in the Netherlands.

Gift and inheritance taxes

Residents of the Netherlands

Gift or inheritance taxes will arise in the Netherlands with respect to a transfer of the Notes by way of a gift by, or on the death of, a holder of such Notes who is resident or deemed resident of the Netherlands at the time of the gift or his/her death.

Non-residents of the Netherlands

No Netherlands gift or inheritance taxes will arise on the transfer of Notes by way of gift by, or on the death of, a holder of Notes who is neither resident nor deemed to be resident in the Netherlands, unless the transfer is construed as a gift or inheritance made by, or on behalf of, a person who, at the time of the gift or death, is or is deemed to be resident in the Netherlands.

Value added tax (VAT)

No Netherlands VAT will be payable by the holders of the Notes on any payment in consideration for the issue of the Notes or with respect to the payment of interest or principal by the Issuer under the Notes.

Other taxes and duties

No Netherlands registration tax, customs duty, stamp duty or any other similar documentary tax or duty, other than court fees, will be payable by the holders of the Notes in respect of or in connection with the issue of the Notes or with respect to the payment of interest or principal by the Issuer under the Notes.

EU Savings Directive

Under EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income, each Member State is required to provide to the tax authorities of another Member State details of payments of interest or other similar income paid by a person within its jurisdiction to, or collected by such a person for, an individual resident in that other Member State; however, for a transitional period, Austria and Luxembourg may instead apply a withholding system in relation to such payments, deducting tax at rates rising over time to 35% which may decrease the net proceeds on the Notes received by an investor. The transitional period is to terminate at the end of the first full fiscal year following agreement by certain non-EU countries to the exchange of information relating to such payments.

A number of non-EU countries, and certain dependent or associated territories of certain Member States, have agreed to adopt similar measures (either provision of information of transitional withholding) in relation to payments made by a person within its jurisdiction to, or collected by such a person for, an individual resident in a Member State. In addition, the Member States have entered into reciprocal provision of information arrangements or transitional withholding arrangements with certain of those dependent or associated territories in relation to payments made by a person in a Member State to, or collected by such a person for, an individual resident in one of those territories.

United States Federal Income Taxation

This disclosure is limited to the U.S. federal tax issues addressed herein. Additional issues may exist that are not addressed in this disclosure and that could affect the U.S. federal tax treatment of the Notes. This tax disclosure was written in connection with the promotion or marketing of the Notes by the Issuer, and it cannot be used by any holder for the purpose of avoiding penalties that may be asserted against the holder under the Internal Revenue Code. Holders should seek their own advice based on their particular circumstances from an independent tax adviser.

The following is a discussion of certain U.S. federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of Notes in registered form. This disclosure does not address Notes issued in bearer form, which generally may not be offered or sold in the United States or to U.S. Holders. Unless an exemption applies, a U.S. Holder of a Bearer Note or Coupon will not be entitled to deduct any loss on the Bearer note or Coupon and must treat as ordinary income any gain realized on the sale or other disposition (including the receipt of principal) of the Bearer Note or Coupon. This discussion only applies to Notes that are purchased by a U.S. Holder described below who purchase Notes at the "issue price," which will equal the first price to the public (not including bond houses, brokers or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters, placement agents or wholesalers) at which a substantial amount of the Notes is sold for money, and are held as capital assets.

This discussion does not describe all of the tax consequences that may be relevant to a U.S. Holder in light of its particular circumstances or to U.S. Holders subject to special rules, such as:

- certain financial institutions;
- regulated investment companies;
- insurance companies;
- real estate investment trusts;
- dealers in securities or foreign currencies;
- traders in securities that elect to use a mark-to-market method of tax accounting;

- persons holding Notes as part of a hedging transaction, straddle, conversion or other integrated transaction;
- persons whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar;
- partnerships or other entities classified as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes;
- persons subject to the alternative minimum tax;
- persons that own, or are deemed to own, ten percent or more of any class of the Issuer's stock; or
- persons carrying on a trade or business in the Netherlands through a permanent establishment.

If a partnership holds the Notes, the tax treatment of a partner in the partnership will generally depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. Thus, persons who are partners in a partnership holding the Notes should consult their own tax advisors.

This discussion is based on the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended to the date hereof, administrative pronouncements, judicial decisions and final, temporary and proposed Treasury regulations, changes (possibly with retroactive effect) to any of which subsequent to the date of this Offering Memorandum may affect the tax consequences described herein. Persons considering the purchase of Notes are urged to consult their own tax advisers with regard to the application of the U.S. federal income tax laws to their particular situations as well as any tax consequences arising under the laws of any state, local or non-U.S. taxing jurisdiction.

This discussion applies only to Notes that are classified as indebtedness for U.S. federal income tax purposes. This discussion does not apply to every type of Note that may be issued under the Programme, including certain Dual Currency Notes, Fund Linked Notes, Index Linked Notes, Inflation Linked Notes, Swap Related Notes, Variable Coupon Amount Notes and any other Notes that are subject to different U.S. federal income tax consequences than those described below. Additional material U.S. federal income tax consequences of such Notes will be addressed in the applicable Final Terms.

As used herein, the term "U.S. Holder" means a beneficial owner of a Note that is, for U.S. federal income tax purposes:

- a citizen or resident of the United States;
- a corporation, or other entity taxable as a corporation, created or organized in or under the laws of the United States or of any political subdivision thereof; or
- an estate or trust the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source.

Payments of Interest. Interest paid on a Note will be taxable to a U.S. Holder as ordinary interest income at the time it accrues or is received in accordance with the U.S. Holder's method of accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes, provided that the interest is qualified stated interest (as defined below). Any amounts withheld with respect to interest paid on the Notes and any additional amounts paid with respect to interest pursuant to the Notes would be treated as ordinary interest income. Interest income earned by a U.S. Holder with respect to a Note will constitute foreign source income for U.S. federal income tax purposes, which may be relevant to a U.S. Holder in calculating the U.S. Holder's foreign tax credit limitation. The rules governing foreign tax credits are complex and U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisers regarding the creditability of foreign taxes, if any, in their particular circumstances. Special rules

governing the treatment of interest paid with respect to Original Issue Discount Notes, including certain Variable Rate Notes and Foreign Currency Notes are described under "—Original Issue Discount" and "—Foreign Currency Notes" below.

Original Issue Discount. A Note that is issued at an issue price less than its "stated redemption price at maturity" will be considered to have been issued at an original issue discount for U.S. federal income tax purposes (and will be referred to in this section as an "Original Issue Discount Note") unless the Note satisfies a de minimis threshold (as described below) or is a Short-Term Note (as defined below). The "stated redemption price at maturity" of a Note will equal the sum of all payments required under the Note other than payments of "qualified stated interest". "Qualified stated interest" is stated interest unconditionally payable as a series of payments in cash or property (other than in debt instruments of the Issuer) at least annually during the entire term of the Note and equal to the outstanding principal balance of the Note multiplied by a single fixed rate of interest or, subject to certain conditions, based on one or more floating rates or indices.

In general, Notes providing for one or more qualified floating rates of interest, a single fixed rate and one or more qualified floating rates, a single objective rate (generally, a rate that is determined using a single fixed formula and that is based on objective financial or economic information), or a single fixed rate and a single objective rate that is a qualified inverse floating rate, as such terms are defined in applicable Treasury regulations ("Variable Rate Notes"), will have qualified stated interest if interest is unconditionally payable at least annually during the term of the Note at a rate that is considered to be a single qualified floating rate or a single objective rate, provided that the issue price of the Note does not exceed the total noncontingent principal payments due under the Note by more than an amount equal to the lesser of (x) 0.015 multiplied by the product of the total noncontingent principal payments and the number of complete years to maturity from the issue date or (y) 15% of the total noncontingent principal payments. A "qualified floating rate" is any variable rate where variations in the value of such rate can reasonably be expected to measure contemporaneous variations in the cost of newly borrowed funds in the currency in which the Variable Rate Notes is denominated.

If a Variable Rate Note provides for two or more qualified floating rates that can reasonably be expected to have approximately the same values throughout the term of the Note, the qualified floating rates together constitute a single qualified floating rate. If interest on a debt instrument is stated at a fixed rate for an initial period of one year or less followed by a variable rate that is either a qualified floating rate or an objective rate for a subsequent period, and the value of the variable rate on the issue date is intended to approximate the fixed rate, the fixed rate and the variable rate together constitute a single qualified floating rate or objective rate. Two or more qualified floating rates will be conclusively presumed to meet the requirements of the preceding sentences if the values of the applicable rates on the issue date are within 1/4 of one percent of each other. If a Variable Rate Note provides for stated interest at either a single qualified floating rate or a single objective rate throughout the term thereof that is unconditionally payable in cash or property (other than debt instruments of the issuer) at least annually, then all stated interest on such Variable Rate Note will constitute qualified stated interest and will therefore not be treated as having been issued with original issue discount unless the Note is issued at a "true" discount (i.e., at a price below the Note's stated principal amount in excess of a specified de minimis amount). If Variable Rate Notes are issued with original issue discount, the U.S. federal income tax treatment of such Notes will be more fully described in an applicable Final Terms.

If the difference between a Note's stated redemption price at maturity and its issue price is less than a de minimis amount, i.e., 1/4 of one percent of the stated redemption price at maturity multiplied by the number of complete years to maturity, then the Note will not be considered to have original issue discount.

A U.S. Holder of Original Issue Discount Notes will be required to include any qualified stated interest payments in income in accordance with the U.S. Holder's method of accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes. U.S. Holders of Original Issue Discount Notes will be required to include original issue discount in income for U.S. federal income tax purposes as it accrues, in accordance with a constant-yield method based on a compounding of interest. Under this method, U.S. Holders of Original Issue Discount Notes generally will be required to include in income increasingly greater amounts of original issue discount in successive accrual periods.

A U.S. Holder may make an election to include in gross income all interest that accrues on any Note (including stated interest, original issue discount or de minimis original issue discount, and unstated

interest as adjusted by any amortizable bond premium) in accordance with a constant-yield method based on the compounding of interest (a "constant-yield election").

A Note that matures one year or less from its date of issuance (a "Short-Term Note") will be treated as being issued at a discount and none of the interest paid on the Note will be treated as qualified stated interest. In general, a cash-method U.S. Holder of a Short-Term Note is not required to accrue the discount for U.S. federal income tax purposes unless it elects to do so. U.S. Holders who so elect and certain other U.S. Holders, including those who report income on the accrual method of accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes, are required to include the discount in income as it accrues on a straight-line basis, unless another election is made to accrue the discount according to a constant-yield method based on daily compounding. In the case of a U.S. Holder who is not required and who does not elect to include the discount in income currently, any gain realized on the sale, exchange or retirement of the Short-Term Note will be ordinary income to the extent of the discount accrued on a straight-line basis (or, if elected, according to a constant-yield method based on daily compounding) through the date of sale, exchange or retirement. In addition, such U.S. Holders will be required to defer deductions for any interest paid on indebtedness incurred to purchase or carry Short-Term Notes in an amount not exceeding the accrued discount until the accrued discount is included in income.

Under applicable Treasury regulations, if the Issuer or the U.S. Holder has an unconditional option to redeem a Note prior to its Stated Maturity, this option will be presumed to be exercised if, by utilizing any date on which the Note may be redeemed as the maturity date and the amount payable on that date in accordance with the terms of the Note as the stated redemption price at maturity, in the case of the Issuer's option, the yield on the Note would be lower than its yield to Stated Maturity or, in the case of the U.S. Holder's option, the yield on the Note would be higher than its yield to Stated Maturity. If this option is not in fact exercised, the Note would be treated solely for purposes of calculating original issue discount as if it were redeemed, and a new note were issued, on the presumed exercise date for an amount equal to the Note's adjusted issue price on that date.

Contingent Debt Obligations. Special rules govern the tax treatment of debt obligations that are treated under applicable Treasury regulations as providing for contingent payments ("Contingent Debt Obligations"). These rules generally require accrual of interest income on a constant-yield basis at an assumed yield determined at the time of issuance of the obligation. Adjustments will be required to these accruals when any contingent payments are made that differ from the payments calculated based on the assumed yield. Generally, any gain on the sale, exchange, retirement or other disposition of a Contingent Debt Obligation will be ordinary income. The U.S. federal income tax treatment of any Notes that are treated as Contingent Debt Obligations will be more fully described in an applicable Final Terms.

Amortizable Bond Premium. If a U.S. Holder purchases a Note for an amount that is greater than the sum of all amounts payable on the Note other than qualified stated interest, the U.S. Holder will be considered to have purchased the Note with amortizable bond premium. In general, amortizable bond premium with respect to any Note will be equal to the excess of the purchase price over the sum of all amounts payable on the Note other than qualified stated interest and the U.S. Holder may elect to amortize this premium, using a constant-yield method, over the remaining term of the Note. Special rules may apply in the case of Notes that are subject to optional redemption. A U.S. Holder may generally use the amortizable bond premium allocable to an accrual period to offset qualified stated interest required to be included in the U.S. Holder's income with respect to the Note in that accrual period. A U.S. Holder who elects to amortize bond premium must reduce the U.S. Holder's tax basis in the Note by the amount of the premium amortized in any year. An election to amortize bond premium applies to all taxable debt obligations then owned and thereafter acquired by the U.S. Holder and may be revoked only with the consent of the Internal Revenue Service.

If a U.S. Holder makes a constant-yield election (as described under "—Original Issue Discount" above) for a Note with amortizable bond premium, such election will result in a deemed election to amortize bond premium for all of the U.S. Holder's debt instruments with amortizable bond premium and may be revoked only with the permission of the Internal Revenue Service with respect to debt instruments acquired after revocation.

Sale, Exchange or Retirement of the Notes. Upon the sale, exchange or retirement of a Note, a U.S. Holder will recognize taxable gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount realized on the sale, exchange or retirement and the U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basis in the Note. Gain or loss, if any, will generally be U.S.-source for purposes of computing a U.S. Holder's foreign tax credit limitation. For

these purposes, the amount realized does not include any amount attributable to accrued qualified status interest. Amounts attributable to accrued qualified stated interest are treated as interest as described under "—Payments of Interest" above. A U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basis in a Note generally will equal such U.S. Holder's initial investment in the Note increased by any original issue discount included in income and decreased by any bond premium previously amortized and principal payments or payments other than qualified stated interest previously received.

Except as described below, gain or loss realized on the sale, exchange or retirement of a Note will generally be capital gain or loss and will be long-term capital gain or loss if at the time of sale, exchange or retirement the Note has been held for more than one year. Exceptions to this general rule apply in the case of a Short-Term Note, to the extent of any accrued discount not previously included in the U.S. Holder's taxable income. See "Original Issue Discount" above. In addition, other exceptions to this general rule apply in the case of certain Foreign Currency Notes and Contingent Debt Obligations. See "—Foreign Currency Notes" below and "—Contingent Debt Obligations" above.

Foreign Currency Notes. The rules applicable to Notes issued in a currency other than U.S. dollars ("Foreign Currency Notes") could require some or all of the gain or loss on the sale, exchange or other disposition of a Foreign Currency Note to be recharacterized as ordinary income or loss. The rules applicable to Foreign Currency Notes are complex and their application may depend on the U.S. Holder's particular U.S. federal income tax situation. For example, various elections are available under these rules, and whether a U.S. Holder should make any of these elections may depend on the U.S. Holder's particular U.S. federal income tax situation. U.S. Holders are urged to consult their own tax advisers regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of Foreign Currency Notes.

A U.S. Holder who uses the cash method of accounting and who receives a payment of qualified stated interest (or who receives proceeds from a sale, exchange or other disposition attributable to accrued qualified stated interest) in a foreign currency with respect to a Foreign Currency Note will be required to include in income the U.S. dollar value of the foreign currency payment (determined based on a spot rate on the date the payment is received) regardless of whether the payment is in fact converted into U.S. dollars at that time, and this U.S. dollar value will be the U.S. Holder's tax basis in the foreign currency.

An accrual-method U.S. Holder will be required to include in income the U.S. dollar value of the amount of interest income (including original issue discount, but reduced by amortizable bond premium to the extent applicable) that has accrued and is otherwise required to be taken into account with respect to a Foreign Currency Note during an accrual period. The U.S. dollar value of the accrued income will be determined by translating the income at the average rate of exchange for the accrual period or, with respect to an accrual period that spans two taxable years, at the average rate for the partial period within the taxable year. The U.S. Holder may recognize ordinary income or loss (which will not be treated as interest income or expense) with respect to accrued interest income on the date the interest payment or proceeds from the sale, exchange or other disposition attributable to accrued interest is actually received. The amount of ordinary income or loss recognized will equal the difference between the U.S. dollar value of the foreign currency payment received (determined based on a spot rate on the date the payment is received) in respect of the accrual period and the U.S. dollar value of interest income that has accrued during the accrual period (as determined above). Rules similar to these rules apply in the case of cashmethod U.S. Holders who are required to currently accrue original issue discount. An accrual-method U.S. Holder may elect to translate interest income (including original issue discount) into U.S. dollars at the spot rate on the last day of the interest accrual period (or, in the case of a partial accrual period, the spot rate on the last day of the taxable year) or, if the date of receipt is within five business days of the last day of the interest accrual period, the spot rate on the date of receipt. A U.S. Holder that makes this election must apply it consistently to all debt instruments from year to year and cannot change the election without the consent of the Internal Revenue Service.

Original issue discount and amortizable bond premium on a Foreign Currency Note are to be determined in the relevant foreign currency.

If an election to amortize bond premium is made, amortizable bond premium taken into account on a current basis will reduce interest income in units of the relevant foreign currency. Exchange gain or loss is realized on amortized bond premium with respect to any period by treating the bond premium amortized in the period in the same manner as it would have been treated on the sale, exchange or retirement of the Foreign Currency Note. Any exchange gain or loss will be ordinary income or loss as

described below. If the election is not made, any bond premium will be taken into account in determining the overall gain or loss on the Notes and any loss realized on the sale, exchange or retirement of a Foreign Currency Note with amortizable bond premium by a U.S. Holder who has not elected to amortize the premium will be a capital loss to the extent of the bond premium.

A U.S. Holder's tax basis in a Foreign Currency Note, and the amount of any subsequent adjustment to the U.S. Holder's tax basis (including adjustments for original issue discount included as income and any bond premium previously amortized or principal payments received), will be the U.S. dollar value of the foreign currency amount paid for such Foreign Currency Note, or of the foreign currency amount of the adjustment, determined on the date of the purchase or adjustment. A U.S. Holder who purchases a Foreign Currency Note with previously owned foreign currency will recognize ordinary income or loss in an amount equal to the difference, if any, between the U.S. Holder's tax basis in the foreign currency and the U.S. dollar fair market value of the Foreign Currency Note on the date of purchase.

Gain or loss realized upon the sale, exchange or retirement of a Foreign Currency Note that is attributable to fluctuations in currency exchange rates will be ordinary income or loss which will not be treated as interest income or expense. Gain or loss attributable to fluctuations in exchange rates will equal the difference between (i) the U.S. dollar value of the foreign currency principal amount of the Note, determined on the date the payment is received or the Note is disposed of (or if the Note is traded on an established securities market, on the settlement date if the holder is a cash basis U.S. Holder or an electing accrual basis U.S. Holder); and (ii) the U.S. dollar value of the foreign currency principal amount of the Note, determined on the date the U.S. Holder acquired the Note. Payments received attributable to accrued qualified stated interest will be treated in accordance with the rules applicable to payments of interest on Foreign Currency Notes described above. The foreign currency gain or loss will be recognized only to the extent of the total gain or loss realized by a U.S. Holder on the sale, exchange or retirement of the Foreign Currency Note. The foreign currency gain or loss for U.S. Holders will be U.S.-source. Any gain or loss realized by a U.S. Holder in excess of the foreign currency gain or loss will be capital gain or loss (except in the case of a Short-Term Note, to the extent of any discount not previously included in the U.S. Holder's income).

A U.S. Holder will have a tax basis in any foreign currency received on the sale, exchange or retirement of a Foreign Currency Note equal to the U.S. dollar value of the foreign currency, determined at the time of sale, exchange or retirement. Provided the Foreign Currency Notes are traded on an established securities market, a cash-method U.S. Holder who buys or sells a Foreign Currency Note is required to translate units of foreign currency paid or received into U.S. dollars at the spot rate on the settlement date of the purchase or sale. Accordingly, no exchange gain or loss will result from currency fluctuations between the trade date and the settlement of the purchase or sale. An accrual-method U.S. Holder may elect the same treatment for all purchases and sales of Foreign Currency Notes, provided the Foreign Currency Notes are traded on an established securities market. This election cannot be changed without the consent of the Internal Revenue Service. Any gain or loss realized by a U.S. Holder on a sale or other disposition of foreign currency (including its exchange for U.S. dollars or its use to purchase foreign currency notes) will be ordinary income or loss.

A U.S. Holder may be required to file a reportable transaction disclosure statement with the U.S. Holder's U.S. federal income tax return, if such U.S. Holder realizes a loss on the sale or other disposition of a Foreign Currency Note and such loss is greater than applicable threshold amounts, which differ depending on the status of the U.S. Holder. A U.S. Holder that claims a deduction with respect to a Foreign Currency Note should consult its own tax adviser regarding the need to file a reportable transaction disclosure statement.

Backup Withholding and Information Reporting. Information returns may be filed with the Internal Revenue Service in connection with payments on the Notes and the proceeds from a sale or other disposition of the Notes. A U.S. Holder may be subject to U.S. backup withholding on these payments if the U.S. Holder fails to provide its taxpayer identification number to the paying agent and comply with certain certification procedures or otherwise establish an exemption from backup withholding. The amount of any backup withholding from a payment to a U.S. Holder will be allowed as a credit against the U.S. Holder's U.S. federal income tax liability and may entitle the U.S. Holder to a refund, provided that the required information is timely furnished to the Internal Revenue Service.

CERTAIN ERISA AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

Benefit Plan Investor Considerations

The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA"), and Section 4975 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, (the "Code"), impose certain requirements on (a) employee benefit plans subject to Title I of ERISA, (b) individual retirement accounts, Keogh plans or other arrangements subject to Section 4975 of the Code, (c) entities whose underlying assets include "plan assets" by reason of any such plan's or arrangement's investment therein (we refer to the foregoing collectively as "Plans") and (d) persons who are fiduciaries with respect to Plans. In addition, certain governmental, church and non-U.S. plans ("Non-ERISA Arrangements") are not subject to Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, but may be subject to other laws that are substantially similar to those provisions (each, a "Similar Law").

In addition to ERISA's general fiduciary standards, Section 406 of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code prohibit certain transactions involving the assets of a Plan and persons who have specified relationships to the Plan, *i.e.*, "parties in interest" as defined in ERISA or "disqualified persons" as defined in Section 4975 of the Code (we refer to the foregoing collectively as "parties in interest") unless exemptive relief is available under an exemption issued by the U.S. Department of Labor. Parties in interest that engage in a non-exempt prohibited transaction may be subject to excise taxes and other penalties and liabilities under ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code. BNG, and its current and future affiliates, including the calculation agent, may be parties in interest with respect to many Plans. Thus, a Plan fiduciary considering an investment in the Notes should also consider whether such an investment might constitute or give rise to a prohibited transaction under ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code. For example, the Notes may be deemed to represent a direct or indirect sale of property, extension of credit or furnishing of services between BNG and an investing Plan which would be prohibited if BNG is a party in interest with respect to the Plan unless exemptive relief were available.

In this regard, each prospective purchaser that is, or is acting on behalf of, a Plan, and proposes to purchase the Notes, should consider the relief available under the following prohibited transaction class exemptions, or PTCEs: (A) the in-house asset manager exemption (PTCE 96-23), (B) the insurance company general account exemption (PTCE 95-60), (C) the bank collective investment fund exemption (PTCE 91-38), (D) the insurance company pooled separate account exemption (PTCE 90-1) and (E) the qualified professional asset manager exemption (PTCE 84-14). In addition, ERISA Section 408(b)(17) and Section 4975(d)(20) of the Code provide a limited exemption for the purchase and sale of securities and related lending transactions, provided that neither the issuer of the securities nor any of its affiliates have or exercise any discretionary authority or control or render any investment advice with respect to the assets of any Plan involved in the transaction and provided further that the Plan neither pays more nor receives less than adequate consideration in connection with the transaction (the so-called "service provider exemption"). There can be no assurance that any of these statutory or class exemptions will be available with respect to transactions involving the Notes.

Each purchaser or holder of a Note, and each fiduciary who causes any entity to purchase or hold a Note, shall be deemed to have represented and warranted, on each day such purchaser or holder holds such Note, that either (i) it is neither a Plan nor a Non-ERISA Arrangement and it is not purchasing or holding the Note on behalf of or with the assets of any Plan or Non-ERISA Arrangement; or (ii) its purchase, holding and subsequent disposition of such Note shall not constitute or result in a non-exempt prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA, Section 4975 of the Code or any provision of Similar Law.

Fiduciaries of any Plans and Non-ERISA Arrangements should consult their own legal counsel before purchasing the Notes. Each purchaser of the Notes will have exclusive responsibility for ensuring that its purchase, holding and subsequent deposition of the Notes does not violate the fiduciary or prohibited transaction rules of ERISA, the Code or any Similar Law. Nothing herein shall be construed as a representation that an investment in the Notes would meet any or all of the relevant legal requirements with respect to investments by, or is appropriate for, Plans or Non-ERISA Arrangements generally or any particular Plan or Non-ERISA Arrangement.

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

Under the Programme, Notes may be issued from time to time by the Issuer to any one or more of the Dealers. The Dealers have, in an amended and restated dealer agreement dated 12 August 2010 (the "Dealer Agreement"), agreed with the Issuer a basis upon which they or any of them may from time to time agree to subscribe Notes. Any such agreement will, inter alia, make provision for the form and terms and conditions of the relevant Notes, the price at which such Notes will be subscribed by the Dealers and the commissions or other agreed deductibles (if any) payable or allowable by the Issuer in respect of such subscription. In the Dealer Agreement, the Issuer has agreed to reimburse the Dealers for certain of their expenses in connection with the maintenance of the Programme and to indemnify the Dealers against certain liabilities incurred by them in connection therewith.

GENERAL

Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent, warrant and agree, that it has complied and will comply with all applicable laws and regulations in each country or jurisdiction in or from which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers Notes or possesses, distributes or publishes this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms or any related offering material, in all cases at its own expense. Other persons into whose hands this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms comes are required by the Issuer and the Dealers to comply with all applicable laws and regulations in each country or jurisdiction in or from which they purchase, offer, sell or deliver Notes or possess, distribute or publish this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms or any related offering material, in all cases at their own expense.

The Dealer Agreement provides that the Dealers shall not be bound by any of the restrictions relating to any specific jurisdiction (set out below) to the extent that such restrictions shall, as a result of change(s) or change(s) in official interpretation, after the date hereof, of applicable laws and regulations, no longer be applicable but without prejudice to the obligations of the Dealers described in the preceding paragraph.

Selling restrictions may be supplemented or modified with the agreement of the Issuer. Any such supplement or modification may be set out in the relevant Final Terms (in the case of a supplement or modification relevant only to a particular Tranche of Notes) or in a supplement to this Base Prospectus.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or any U.S. state securities laws and the Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States, or to or for the account or benefit of U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act), except pursuant to an exemption from, or a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act and applicable United States state securities laws, or pursuant to an effective registration statement.

The Bearer Notes are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. tax regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the United States Internal Revenue Code and regulations thereunder.

Each Dealer has agreed that, except as permitted by the Dealer Agreement, it will not offer, sell or deliver Notes, (i) as part of their distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the completion of the distribution of the Notes comprising the relevant Tranche, as certified to the Issuing and Paying Agent or the Issuer by such Dealer (or, in the case of a sale of a Tranche of Notes to or through more than one Dealer, by each of such Dealers as to the Notes of such Tranche purchased by or through it, in which case the Issuing and Paying Agent or the Issuer shall notify each such Dealer when all such Dealers have so certified) within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons, other than pursuant to Rule 144A or in offshore transactions pursuant to Regulation S, and such Dealer will have sent to each dealer to which it sells Notes during the distribution compliance period relating thereto, a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons.

In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering of Notes comprising any Tranche, any offer or sale of Notes within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering)

may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in accordance with Rule 144A or another exemption from registration under the Securities Act.

The Dealer Agreement provides that any other Dealer may directly or through its respective agents or affiliates arrange for the resale of Restricted Registered Notes in the United States only to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A.

The Notes in bearer form will be issued in accordance with the provisions of United States Treasury Regulation § 1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) (the "**D Rules**"), unless the relevant Final Terms specify that the Notes will be issued in accordance with the provisions of United States Treasury Regulation § 1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) (the "**C Rules**").

In respect of Notes in bearer form issued or to be issued in accordance with the D Rules, each Dealer has represented and agreed (and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree) that:

- (a) except to the extent permitted under the D Rules, (i) it has not offered or sold, and during the restricted period will not offer or sell, Notes in bearer form to a person who is within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, and (ii) such Dealer has not delivered and will not deliver within the United States or its possessions definitive Notes in bearer form that are sold during the restricted period;
- (b) it has and throughout the restricted period will have in effect procedures reasonably designed to ensure that its employees or agents who are directly engaged in selling Notes in bearer form are aware that such Notes may not be offered or sold during the restricted period to a person who is within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except as permitted by the D Rules:
- (c) if such Dealer is a United States person, it represents that it is acquiring the Notes in bearer form for purposes of resale in connection with their original issuance and, if such Dealer retains Notes in bearer form for its own account, it will only do so in accordance with the requirements of U.S. Treas. Reg. §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D)(6); and
- (d) with respect to each affiliate (if any) that acquires from such Dealer Notes in bearer form for the purposes of offering or selling such Notes during the restricted period, such Dealer either (i) hereby represents and agrees on behalf of such affiliate (if any) to the effect set forth in subparagraphs (a), (b) and (c) of this paragraph or (ii) agrees that it will obtain from such affiliate (if any) for the benefit of the Issuer the representations and agreements contained in sub-paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) of this paragraph.

Terms used in the above paragraph have the meanings given to them by the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and regulations thereunder, including the D Rules.

Notes issued pursuant to the D Rules and any receipts or coupons appertaining thereto will bear the following legend:

"ANY UNITED STATES PERSON WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS UNDER THE UNITED STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE."

Where the C Rules are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable in relation to any issue of Notes in bearer form, such Notes must be issued and delivered outside the United States and its possessions in connection with their original issuance. Accordingly, each Dealer has represented and agreed (and each additional Dealer appointed under the programme will be required to represent and agree) in respect of such Notes that it has not offered, sold or delivered, and will not offer, sell or deliver, directly or indirectly, any such Notes within the United States or its possessions in connection with the original issuance. Further, each Dealer has represented and agreed (and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree) in connection with the original issuance of such Notes in bearer form, that it has not communicated, and will not communicate, directly or indirectly, with a prospective purchaser if such Dealer or such purchaser is within the United States or its possessions and will not otherwise involve the U.S. office of such Dealer in the offer and sale of Notes.

Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code and regulations thereunder, including the C Rules.

Each issuance of index-linked, commodity-linked or currency-linked Notes shall be subject to additional U.S. selling restrictions as the relevant Dealer or Dealers shall agree as a term of the issuance and purchase of such Notes. Each Dealer has agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agree, that it shall offer, sell and deliver such Notes only in compliance with such additional U.S. selling restrictions.

Each Dealer has agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agree, that it has not entered and will not enter into any contractual arrangements with respect to the distribution or delivery of Notes except with its affiliates (if any) or with the prior written consent of the Issuer.

PUBLIC OFFER SELLING RESTRICTION UNDER THE PROSPECTUS DIRECTIVE

In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a "Relevant Member State"), each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that with effect from and including the date on which the Prospectus Directive is implemented in that Relevant Member State (the Relevant Implementation Date) it has not made and will not make an offer of Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Base Prospectus as completed by the Final Terms in relation thereto to the public in that Relevant Member State except that it may, with effect from and including the Relevant Implementation Date, make an offer of Notes to the public in that Relevant Member State:

- (a) if the final terms in relation to the Notes specify that an offer of those Notes may be made other than pursuant to Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive in that Relevant Member State (a Non-exempt Offer), following the date of publication of a prospectus in relation to such Notes which has been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant Member State or, where appropriate, approved in another Relevant Member State and notified to the competent authority in that Relevant Member State, provided that any such prospectus has subsequently been completed by the final terms contemplating such Non-exempt Offer, in accordance with the Prospectus Directive, in the period beginning and ending on the dates specified in such prospectus or final terms, as applicable;
- (b) at any time to legal entities which are authorised or regulated to operate in the financial markets or, if not so authorised or regulated, whose corporate purpose is solely to invest in securities;
- (c) at any time to any legal entity which has two or more of (1) an average of at least 250 employees during the last financial year; (2) a total balance sheet of more than €43,000,000 and (3) an annual net turnover of more than €50,000,000, as shown in its last annual or consolidated accounts;
- (d) at any time to fewer than 100 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus Directive) subject to obtaining the prior consent of the relevant Dealer or Dealers nominated by the Issuer for any such offer; or
- (e) at any time in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive,

provided that no such offer of Notes referred to in (b) to (e) above shall require the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression "an offer of Notes to the public" in relation to any Notes in any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe the Notes, as the same may be varied in that Member State by any measure implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Member State and the expression "Prospectus Directive" means Directive 2003/71/EC and includes any relevant implementing measure in each Relevant Member State.

SELLING RESTRICTIONS ADDRESSING ADDITIONAL SECURITIES LAWS

UNITED KINGDOM

Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent, warrant and agree that:

- (a) Financial promotion: it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances in which section 21(1) of the FSMA does not, or in the case of the Issuer would not, if it was not an authorised person, apply to the Issuer; and
- (b) General compliance: it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to such Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

JAPAN

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan (Law No. 25 of 1948, as amended) and, accordingly, each Dealer has undertaken, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to undertake, that it will not offer or sell any Notes, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any Japanese Person or to others for reoffering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to any Japanese Person except under circumstances which will result in compliance with all applicable laws, regulations and guidelines promulgated by the relevant Japanese governmental and regulatory authorities and in effect at the relevant time. For the purposes of this paragraph, "Japanese Person" shall mean any person resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organised under the laws of Japan.

THE NETHERLANDS

Zero Coupon Notes (as defined below) in definitive form may only be transferred and accepted, directly or indirectly, within, from or into the Netherlands through the mediation of either the Issuer or a member of Euronext Amsterdam N.V., admitted in a function on one or more markets or systems held or operated by Euronext Amsterdam N.V. in full compliance with the Dutch Savings Certificates Act ('Wet inzake Spaarbewijzen') of 21 May 1985 (as amended). No such mediation is required in respect of (a) in respect of the transfer and acceptance of rights representing an interest in a Global Note or a Global Note Certificate, (b) the transfer and acceptance of Zero Coupon Notes in definitive form between individuals not acting in the conduct of a business or profession, (c) in respect of the initial issue of Zero Coupon Notes in definitive form to the first holders thereof, or (d) the transfer and acceptance of Zero Coupon Notes within, from or into the Netherlands if all Zero Coupon Notes (either in definitive form or as rights representing an interest in the Zero Coupon Note in global form) of any particular Series or Tranche are issued outside the Netherlands and are not distributed into the Netherlands in the course of their initial distribution or immediately thereafter. In the event that the Savings Certificates Act applies, certain identification requirements in relation to the issue and transfer of, and payments on, Zero Coupon Notes have to be complied with and, in addition thereto, if such Zero Coupon Notes in definitive form do not qualify as commercial paper traded between professional borrowers and lenders within the meaning of the agreement of 2 February 1987, attached to the Royal Decree of 11 March 1987, ('Staatscourant 129') (as amended), each transfer and acceptance should be recorded in a transaction note, including the name and address of each party to the transaction, the nature of the transaction and the details and serial numbers of such Notes. For purposes of this paragraph "Zero Coupon Notes" means Notes that are in bearer form and that constitute a claim for a fixed sum against the Issuer and on which interest does not become due during their tenor or on which no interest is due whatsoever.

REPUBLIC OF ITALY

The offering of the Notes has not been registered pursuant to Italian securities legislation. Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent, warrant and agree, that it has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell, any Notes in the Republic of Italy in an offer to the public, and that sales of the Notes in the Republic of Italy shall be effected in accordance with all Italian securities, tax and exchange control and other applicable laws and regulations.

Each of the Dealers has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent, warrant and agree, that it will not offer, sell or deliver any Notes or distribute copies of this Base Prospectus or any other document relating to the Notes in the Republic of Italy except:

- to "Qualified Investors", pursuant to Article 100 of Legislative Decree No. 58 of 24 February 1998, as amended ("**Decree No. 58**") and as defined in Article 34-ter of CONSOB Regulation No. 11971 of 14 May 1999, as amended ("**Regulation No. 11971**"); or
- that it may offer, sell or deliver Notes or distribute copies of any prospectus relating to such Notes in an offer to the public in the period commencing on the date of publication of such prospectus, provided that such prospectus has been approved in another Relevant Member State and notified to CONSOB, all in accordance with the Prospectus Directive, as implemented in Italy under Decree 58 and Regulation No. 11971, and ending on the date which is 12 months after the date of publication of such prospectus; or
- in any other circumstances where an express exemption from compliance with the public offering restrictions applies, as provided under Decree No. 58 or CONSOB Regulation No. 11971 of 14 May 1999, as amended.

Any such offer, sale or delivery of the Notes or distribution of copies of this Base Prospectus or any other document relating to the Notes in the Republic of Italy must be:

- (i) made by investment firms, banks or financial intermediaries permitted to conduct such activities in the Republic of Italy in accordance with Legislative Decree No. 385 of 1 September 1993 as amended ("**Decree No. 385**"), Decree No. 58, CONSOB Regulation No. 16190 of 29 October 2007, as amended and any other applicable laws and regulations; and
- (ii) in compliance with any other applicable notification requirement or limitation which may be imposed by CONSOB or the Bank of Italy.

Provisions relating to the secondary market in Italy

Investors should also note that, in any subsequent distribution of the Notes in the Republic of Italy, Article 100-bis of Decree No. 58 may require compliance with the law relating to public offers of securities. Furthermore, where the Notes are placed solely with qualified investors and are then systematically resold on the secondary market at any time in the 12 months following such placing, purchasers of Notes who are acting outside of the course of their business or profession may in certain circumstances be entitled to declare such purchase void and, in addition, to claim damages from any authorised person at whose premises the Notes were purchased, unless an exemption provided for under Decree No. 58 applies.

REPUBLIC OF FRANCE

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell, directly or indirectly, Notes to the public in France and that offers and sales of Notes in France will be made only to providers of investment services relating to portfolio management for the account of third parties and/or to qualified investors ('investisseurs qualifiés'), as defined in Articles L.411-2 and D.411-1 to D.411-3 of the French Code monétaire et financier, but excluding individuals referred to in Article D.411-1 II 2°.

In addition, each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not distributed or caused to be distributed and will not distribute or cause to be distributed in France this Base Prospectus or any other offering material relating to the Notes other than to investors to whom offers and sales of Notes in France may be made as described above.

SPAIN

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has only made and will only make an offer of the Notes to the public ('oferta p'ublica') in Spain in the period beginning on the date of notification of the approval of this Base

Prospectus in relation to the Notes by the AFM in the Netherlands to the 'Comisión Nacional del Mercado de Valores' (CNMV) in Spain, in accordance with the Spanish Securities Market Act ('Ley 24/1988 de 28 de julio, del Mercado de Valores'), as amended (the "LMV"), Royal Decree 1310/2005, of 4 November, developing partially the Spanish Securities Market Law as regards admission to listing on official secondary markets, public offers and the prospectus required thereto and the regulations made thereunder, and ending at the latest on the date which is 12 months after the date of the approval of this Base Prospectus.

The Notes may not be offered or sold in Spain other than by institutions authorised under the LMV and Royal Decree 217/2008, of 15 February, on the legal regime applicable to investment services companies, to provide investment services in Spain, and in compliance with the provisions of the LMV and any other applicable legislation.

TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS

Regulation S Notes

Each purchaser of Bearer Notes or Unrestricted Registered Notes outside the United States pursuant to Regulation S and each subsequent purchaser of such Notes in resales prior to the expiration of the distribution compliance period, by accepting delivery of this Base Prospectus and the Notes, will be deemed to have represented, agreed and acknowledged that:

- (i) it is, or at the time Notes are purchased will be, the beneficial owner of such Notes and:
 - (a) it is not a U.S. person and it is located outside the United States (within the meaning of Regulation S); and
 - (b) it is not an affiliate of the Issuer or a person acting on behalf of such an affiliate;
- (ii) it understands that such Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and that, prior to the expiration of the distribution compliance period (as defined in Regulation S), it will not offer, sell, pledge or otherwise transfer such Notes except:
 - (a) in an offshore transaction in accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 of Regulation S; or
 - (b) to the Issuer; or
 - in the case of Unrestricted Registered Notes only, in accordance with Rule 144A to a person that it and any person acting on its behalf reasonably believe is a QIB purchasing for its own account or the account of a QIB;

in each case in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any State of the United States; and

(iii) it understands that the Issuer, the Registrars, the Dealers and their affiliates, and others will rely upon the truth and accuracy of the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements and agrees that if any of such acknowledgements, representations or agreements made by it are no longer accurate, it shall promptly notify the Issuer.

On or prior to the fortieth day after the relevant issue date, Notes represented by an interest in an Unrestricted Global Note Certificate may be transferred to a person who wishes to hold such Notes in the form of an interest in a Restricted Global Note Certificate only upon receipt by the relevant Registrar of a written certification from the transferor to the effect that such transfer is being made to a person whom the transferor reasonably believes is a QIB, in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A and in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any state of the United States. After such fortieth day, such certification requirements will no longer apply to such transfers, but such transfers will continue to be subject to the transfer restrictions contained in the legend appearing on the face of such Global Note Certificate, as described above under "Forms of the Notes".

Notes represented by an interest in a Restricted Global Note Certificate may also be transferred to a person who wishes to hold such Notes in the form of an interest in an Unrestricted Global Note Certificate, but only upon receipt by the relevant Registrar of a written certification from the transferor to the effect that such transfer is being made in accordance with Regulation S or Rule 144 (if available) under the Securities Act.

Any interest in a Note represented by an Unrestricted Global Note Certificate that is transferred to a person who takes delivery in the form of an interest in a Note represented by a Restricted Global Note Certificate will, upon transfer, cease to be an interest in a Note represented by an Unrestricted Global Note Certificate and become an interest in a Note represented by a Restricted Global Note Certificate and, accordingly, will thereafter be subject to all transfer restrictions and other procedures applicable to Notes represented by a Restricted Global Note Certificate.

Rule 144A Notes

Each purchaser of Restricted Registered Notes in reliance on Rule 144A, by accepting delivery of this Base Prospectus, will be deemed to have represented, agreed and acknowledged as follows (terms used in the following paragraphs that are defined in Rule 144A have the respective meanings given to them in Rule 144A):

- (i) the purchaser is (a) a QIB, (b) acquiring the Notes for its own account or for the account of one or more QIBs, (c) not formed for the purpose of investing in the Notes or the Issuer and (d) is aware, and each beneficial owner of such Notes has been advised that the sale of the Notes to it is being made in reliance on Rule 144A;
- the purchaser understands that (1) the Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred except (a) in accordance with Rule 144A to a person that it, and any person acting on its behalf, reasonably believes is a QIB purchasing for its own account or for the account of one or more QIBs, (b) in an offshore transaction in accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 of Regulation S under the Securities Act, (c) pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Securities Act provided by Rule 144 thereunder (if available), (d) pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act or (e) to the Issuer or any of its affiliates, in each case in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any State of the United States and (2) it will, and each subsequent holder of the Restricted Registered Notes is required to, notify any purchaser of the Restricted Registered Notes;
- either (A) it is not, it is not acting on behalf of, and for so long as it holds a Note (or any interest therein), it will not be (i) an "employee benefit plan" that is subject to Title I of ERISA, (ii) an individual retirement account or other arrangement subject to the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), (iii) an entity whose underlying assets include plan assets by reason of any such plan's or arrangement's investment therein or (iv) a governmental, church or non-U.S. plan which is subject to any U.S. federal, state, local or non-U.S. law that is substantially similar to the provisions of Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code ("Similar Law"), or (B) its purchase and holding of a Note will not constitute or result in a non-exempt prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA, Section 4975 of the Code or any Similar Law;
- (iv) the purchaser understands that the Restricted Global Note Certificate and any restricted Individual Note Certificate (a "Restricted Individual Note Certificate") will bear a legend to the following effect, unless the Issuer determines otherwise in accordance with applicable law:

"THE NOTES REPRESENTED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT"), OR ANY OTHER APPLICABLE U.S. STATE SECURITIES LAWS AND, ACCORDINGLY, MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OR TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, U.S. PERSONS EXCEPT AS SET FORTH IN THE FOLLOWING SENTENCE. BY ITS ACQUISITION OF THE NOTES REPRESENTED HEREBY, THE HOLDER (A) REPRESENTS THAT IT IS A "QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER" (AS DEFINED IN RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT) PURCHASING THE NOTES REPRESENTED HEREBY FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OF ONE OR MORE OUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYERS: (B) AGREES THAT IT WILL NOT RESELL OR OTHERWISE TRANSFER THE NOTES REPRESENTED HEREBY EXCEPT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ISSUING AND PAYING AGENCY AGREEMENT AND, PRIOR TO THE DATE WHICH IS ONE YEAR AFTER THE ISSUE DATE (OR THE DATE ON WHICH FULL CONSIDERATION HAS BEEN PAID FOR PARTLY PAID NOTES) AND THE LAST DATE ON WHICH THE ISSUER OR AN AFFILIATE OF THE ISSUER WAS THE OWNER OF SUCH NOTES OTHER THAN (1) TO THE ISSUER OR ANY AFFILIATE THEREOF, (2) INSIDE THE UNITED STATES TO A PERSON WHOM THE SELLER REASONABLY BELIEVES IS A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT PURCHASING FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OF A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER IN A TRANSACTION MEETING THE REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 144A, (3) OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES IN

COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 903 OR RULE 904 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, (4) PURSUANT TO THE EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION PROVIDED BY RULE 144 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT (IF AVAILABLE) OR (5) PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, IN EACH CASE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS OF THE STATES OF THE UNITED STATES AND ANY OTHER JURISDICTION; AND (C) IT AGREES THAT IT WILL DELIVER TO EACH PERSON TO WHOM THE NOTES REPRESENTED HEREBY ARE TRANSFERRED A NOTICE SUBSTANTIALLY TO THE EFFECT OF THIS LEGEND.

THIS NOTE CERTIFICATE AND RELATED DOCUMENTATION (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE ISSUING AND PAYING AGENCY AGREEMENT REFERRED TO HEREIN) MAY BE AMENDED OR SUPPLEMENTED FROM TIME TO TIME, WITHOUT THE CONSENT OF BUT UPON NOTICE TO, THE HOLDERS OF THE NOTES REPRESENTED HERBY SENT TO THEIR REGISTERED ADDRESSES, TO MODIFY THE RESTRICTIONS ON AND PROCEDURES FOR RESALES AND OTHER TRANSFERS OF THE NOTES REPRESENTED HEREBY TO REFLECT ANY CHANGE IN APPLICABLE LAW OR REGULATION (OR THE INTERPRETATION THEREOF) OR IN PRACTICES RELATING TO RESALES OR OTHER TRANSFERS OF RESTRICTED SECURITIES GENERALLY. THE HOLDER OF THE NOTES REPRESENTED HEREBY SHALL BE DEEMED, BY ITS ACCEPTANCE OR PURCHASE HEREOF, TO HAVE AGREED TO ANY SUCH AMENDMENT OR SUPPLEMENT (EACH OF WHICH SHALL BE CONCLUSIVE AND BINDING ON THE HOLDER HEREOF AND ALL FUTURE HOLDERS OF THE NOTES REPRESENTED HEREBY AND ANY NOTES ISSUED IN EXCHANGE OR SUBSTITUTION THEREFORE, WHETHER OR NOT ANY NOTATION THEREOF IS MADE HEREON).

BY ITS PURCHASE AND HOLDING OF THE NOTES REPRESENTED HEREBY (OR ANY INTEREST THEREIN), THE PURCHASER OR HOLDER WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE REPRESENTED AND AGREED EITHER THAT (A) IT IS NOT, IT IS NOT ACTING ON BEHALF OF, AND FOR SO LONG AS IT HOLDS THE NOTES REPRESENTED HEREBY (OR ANY INTEREST THEREIN) WILL NOT BE (I) AN "EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN" THAT IS SUBJECT TO TITLE I OF THE U.S. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT INCOME SECURITY ACT OF 1974, AS AMENDED ("ERISA"), (II) AN INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNT OR OTHER ARRANGEMENT SUBJECT TO THE U.S. INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1986, AS AMENDED (THE "CODE"), (III) AN ENTITY WHOSE UNDERLYING ASSETS INCLUDE PLAN ASSETS BY REASON OF ANY SUCH PLAN'S OR ARRANGEMENT'S INVESTMENT THEREIN, OR (IV) A GOVERNMENTAL OR CHURCH OR NON-U.S. PLAN WHICH IS SUBJECT TO ANY U.S. FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL, OR NON-U.S. LAW THAT IS SUBSTANTIALLY SIMILAR TO THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 406 OF ERISA OR SECTION 4975 OF THE CODE ("SIMILAR LAW"), OR (B) ITS PURCHASE AND HOLDING OF THIS SECURITY WILL NOT CONSTITUTE OR RESULT IN A NON-EXEMPT PROHIBITED TRANSACTION UNDER SECTION 406 OF ERISA, SECTION 4975 OF THE CODE OR ANY SIMILAR LAW."

- (v) if it is acquiring any Notes for the account of one or more QIBs the purchaser represents that it has sole investment discretion with respect to each such account and that it has full power to make the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements on behalf of each such account; and
- (vi) it understands that the Issuer, the Registrars, the Dealers and their affiliates, and others will rely upon the truth and accuracy of the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements and agrees that if any of such acknowledgements, representations or agreements made by it are no longer accurate, it shall promptly notify the Issuer.

Upon the transfer, exchange or replacement of a Restricted Global Note Certificate or a Restricted Individual Note Certificate, or upon specific request for removal of the legend, the Issuer will deliver only a Restricted Global Note Certificate or one or more Restricted Individual Note Certificates that bear such legend or will refuse to remove such legend, unless there is delivered to the Issuer and the relevant Registrar such satisfactory evidence (which may include a legal opinion) as may reasonably be required by the Issuer that neither the legend nor the restrictions on transfer set forth therein are required to ensure compliance with the provisions of the Securities Act.

Any interest in a Restricted Global Note Certificate that is transferred to a person who takes delivery in the form of an interest in an Unrestricted Global Note Certificate will, upon transfer, cease to be an interest in a Restricted Global Note Certificate and become an interest in an Unrestricted Global Note Certificate and, accordingly, will thereafter be subject to all transfer restrictions and other procedures applicable to an interest in an Unrestricted Global Note Certificate.

Prospective purchasers that are QIBs are hereby notified that sellers of the Restricted Registered Notes may be relying on the exemption from the provisions of Section 5 of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A.

GENERAL INFORMATION

- The establishment of the Programme was authorised by the Executive Board of the Issuer on 29 1. November 1993, pursuant to the authorisation of the Supervisory Board of the Issuer of 12 November 1993; the increase of the Programme amount to NLG 10,000,000,000 was authorised by the Executive Board on 19 July 1995; pursuant to the authorisation of the Supervisory Board of 28 June 1995; a subsequent increase of the Programme amount to NLG 20,000,000,000 was authorised by the Executive Board on 25 March 1996; pursuant to the authorisation of the Supervisory Board of 18 March 1996; a subsequent increase of the Programme amount to NLG 30,000,000,000 was authorised by the Executive Board on 7 July 1997, pursuant to the authorisation of the Supervisory Board of 4 July 1997; a subsequent increase of the Programme amount to NLG 40.000.000.000 was authorised by the Executive Board on 10 February 1998. pursuant to the authorisation of the Supervisory Board of 19 December 1997; a subsequent increase of the Programme amount to NLG 50,000,000,000 was authorised by the Executive Board on 7 September 1998, pursuant to the authorisation of the Supervisory Board of 4 September 1998; on 21 December 1998, the Executive Board, pursuant to the authorisation of the Supervisory Board of 18 December 1998, resolved to denominate the Programme in Euro and to increase the Programme amount at any time to €50,000,000,000, on 2 December 2002, the Executive Board, pursuant to the authorisation of the Supervisory Board of 29 November 2002, resolved to increase the Programme amount to €60,000,000,000, on 1 December 2003, the Executive Board, pursuant to the authorisation of the Supervisory Board of 28 November 2003, resolved to increase the Programme amount to €70,000,000,000, on 11 March 2008, the Executive Board, pursuant to the authorisation of the Supervisory Board of 2 December 2005, resolved to increase the Programme amount to €80,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies), on 28 June 2010, the Executive Board, pursuant to the authorisation of the Supervisory Board of 25 June 2010, resolved to update its Programme and to issue notes, which may be offered in accordance with Rule 144A and Regulation S under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended, in order to enable BNG to offer securities to qualified institutional buyers (as defined under Rule 144A) inside the United States and to investors outside the United States under the Programme without registration under the United States Securities Act of 1933. Each issue of Notes under the Programme requires a separate resolution of the Executive Board to be passed prior to the date of issue of such Notes.
- 2. There are not and have not been any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the Issuer is aware) during the 12 months before the date of this Base Prospectus which may have, or have had in the recent past, significant effects on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer and its subsidiaries taken as a whole.
- 3. There has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer since 31 December 2009, nor has there been any significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer or its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, which has occurred since 31 December 2009.
- 4. Application may be made to list Notes issued under the Programme on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. A notice relating to the issue ('Notice Légale') as well as the Articles of Association ('statuten') of the Issuer will be lodged with the Registre de Commerce et des Sociétés à Luxembourg where such documents may be examined and copies obtained. The Luxembourg Stock Exchange has allocated to the Programme no. 2286 for listing purposes.
- 5. Application may be made to list Notes issued under the Programme on Euronext Amsterdam by NYSE Euronext, the regulated market of Euronext Amsterdam N.V.
- 6. The financial statements of the Issuer have been audited for the three financial years preceding the date of this Base Prospectus by Ernst & Young Accountants LLP, chartered accountants ('registeraccountants'), and unqualified opinions have been reported thereon. Ernst & Young Accountants LLP is located in Amsterdam at the Antonio Vivaldistraat 150 (1083 HP), the Netherlands. The auditors ('registeraccountants') of Ernst & Young Accountants LLP are members of the Netherlands Institute of Registeraccountants (NIVRA).

The auditor's report in respect of the financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2009, 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007 (incorporated by reference) are included in the form

- and context in which they appear with the consent of Ernst & Young Accountants LLP, who have authorized the inclusion of these auditor's reports.
- 7. For the life of the Base Prospectus and for so long as any Notes are outstanding, copies and, where appropriate, English translations of the following documents may be inspected to the extent available at the investor relation section of the website of BNG (http://www.bng.nl/smartsite.shtml?id=51607) or alternatively during normal business hours at the specified office of the Paying Agent in Breda, London and Luxembourg, and be obtained free of charge, namely:
 - (a) the Deed of Incorporation and the Articles of Association ('statuten') of the Issuer;
 - (b) the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement (as amended);
 - (c) the audited financial statements for the three financial years preceding the date of the Base Prospectus and the latest audited financial statements and unaudited semi-annual financial statements of the Issuer;
 - (d) a copy of this Base Prospectus and any further prospectus or prospectus supplement prepared by the Issuer for the purpose of updating or amending any information contained herein or therein;
 - (e) each Final Terms in relation to listed issues of Notes; and
 - (f) any press releases that are published in relation to the Issuer or to issues of Notes.
- 8. The Issuer has no patents, licenses or agreements which are of significance to its business activities or its profit.

ISSUER

N.V. Bank Nederlandse Gemeenten

Koninginnegracht 2 2514 AA The Hague The Netherlands

ARRANGER UBS Limited

1 Finsbury Avenue London EC2M 2PP England

PRINCIPAL DEALERS

N.V. Bank Nederlandse Gemeenten

Koninginnegracht 2 2514 AA The Hague The Netherlands

5 The North Colonnade Canary Wharf London E14 4BB England

Barclays Bank PLC

BNP PARIBAS

10 Harewood Avenue London NW1 6AA England

Citigroup Global Markets Limited

Citigroup Centre Canada Square Canary Wharf London E14 5LB England

Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft

Kaiserstraße 16 (Kaiserplatz) 60311 Frankfurt am Main Federal Republic of Germany

Coöperatieve Centrale Raiffeisen-Boerenleenbank B.A. (Rabobank International)

Croeselaan 18 3521 CB Utrecht The Netherlands

Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited

One Cabot Square London E14 4QJ England

Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch

Winchester House 1 Great Winchester Street London EC2N 2DB England

Goldman Sachs International

Peterborough Court 133 Fleet Street London EC4A 2BB England

ING Bank N.V.

Foppingadreef 7 1102 BD Amsterdam The Netherlands

J.P. Morgan Securities Ltd.

125 London Wall London EC2Y 5AJ England

Merrill Lynch International

2 King Edward Street London EC1A 1HQ England

Mizuho International plc

Bracken House One Friday Street London EC4M 9JA England

Nomura International plc

Nomura House 1 St Martin's-le-Grand London EC 1 A 4NP England

Royal Bank of Canada Europe Limited

71 Queen Victoria Street London EC4V 4DE England

The Toronto-Dominion Bank

60 Threadneedle Street London EC2R 8AP England

The Royal Bank of Scotland plc

135 Bishopsgate London EC2M 3UR England

UBS Limited

1 Finsbury Avenue London EC2M 2PP England

REGISTRATION AGENT UBS AG

Bahnhofstrasse 45 8098 Zurich Switzerland

SWISS DEALERS

BNP Paribas Suisse SA

2 Place de Hollande 1204 Geneva Switzerland

Credit Suisse AG

Paradeplatz 8 8001 Zurich Switzerland

Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft

Frankfurt am Main, Zurich Branch Uraniastrasse 9 CH-8021 Zurich Switzerland

Goldman Sachs Bank AG

Münsterhof 4 8001 Zurich Switzerland

UBS AG

Bahnhofstrasse 45 8098 Zurich Switzerland

ISSUING AND PAYING AGENT

Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch

Winchester House 1 Great Winchester Street London EC2N 2DB England

U.S. REGISTRAR, PAYING AGENT AND TRANSFER AGENT

Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas

60 Wall Street New York 10005 United States of America

NON-U.S. PAYING AND TRANSFER AGENT

The Royal Bank of Scotland N.V.

Gustav Mahlerlaan 10 1082 PP Amsterdam The Netherlands

NON-U.S. REGISTRAR, PAYING AGENT AND TRANSFER AGENT

Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A.

2, Boulevard Konrad Adenauer L-1115 Luxembourg

LUXEMBOURG LISTING AGENT

Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A.

2, Boulevard Konrad Adenauer L-1115 Luxembourg

LEGAL ADVISERS

To the Issuer
As to U.S. law
Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP

99 Gresham Street London EC2V 7NG England

To the Dealers
As to U.S. law
Clifford Chance LLP
10 Upper Bank Street
London E14 5JJ

England

To the Issuer
As to Dutch law
NautaDutilh N.V.
Strawinskylaan 1999
1077 XV Amsterdam
The Netherlands

To the Dealers
As to Dutch law
Clifford Chance LLP
Droogbak 1A
1013 GE Amsterdam
The Netherlands

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young Accountants LLP

Antonio Vivaldistraat 150 1083 HP Amsterdam The Netherlands